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Financial Highlights
B RE

Revenue of the Group increased by 11.1% or RMB281.2 million to
RMB2,821.3 million for the Reporting Period (2023: RMB2,540.1
million), among which revenue from sales of human albumin solution
increased by approximately RMB276.5 million, mainly benefited from
the increase in sales volume.

Gross profit of the Group decreased by RMB23.4 million to RMB299.9
million for the Reporting Period (2023: RMB323.3 million), while gross
profit margin decreased from 12.7% in 2023 to 10.6% for the Reporting
Period. The decrease in gross profit was mainly due to the increase in
cost of sales of human albumin was greater than the increase in its sales
revenue, which was caused by the increased purchase cost as a result of
the further depreciation of the RMB against the US$.

Net profit of the Group was amounted to RMB42.0 million for the
Reporting Period, which was slightly decreased by RMBO0.4 million as
compared to the net profit of 2023 amounted to RMB42.4 million.

During the Reporting Period, net profit attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to RMB42.0 million (2023: net profit of
RMB42.4 million), representing a slightly decrease of 0.9%.

Basic and diluted earnings per share amounted to RMB0.02 for the
Reporting Period (2023: basic and diluted earnings per share of
RMBO0.02).

The Board resolved to declare a final dividend in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2024 of HK0.20 cents (2023: final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 of HK0.39 cents) per
ordinary share, in an aggregate amount of HK$4,000,000 (2023:
HK$8,000,000). The dividend has been proposed by the Directors of
the Company and is subject to approval by the shareholders at the
forthcoming general meeting. The final dividend has been calculated
by reference to the 2,032,890,585 issued shares outstanding as at
the date of this report.
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Financial Highlights B1#$HH =

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204 20214 20224 20234 2024

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’'000
ARETT ARETET ARETT ARETT AR¥TR

Operating results REELE
Revenue Uz 2,049,803 2,024,055 2,271,505 2,540,063 2,821,321
Gross profit EF 273,826 364,950 305,868 323,280 299,941
Profit/(loss) before tax BE AR (E58) 135,955 167,387 99,292 99,881 98,920
Profit/(loss) for the year NEEHF, (EE) 118,137 135,083 69,462 42,352 42,045
Profit/(loss) attributable to RNRABIHEE ARENL 118,137 135,083 69,462 42,352 42,045
owners of the Company wH(E518)
Profitability 27
Gross margin FEF=E 13.4% 18.0% 13.5% 12.7% 10.6%
Net profit/(loss) margin aoF (58 = 5.8% 6.7% 3.1% 1.7% 1.5%
Revenue Profit/(loss) Attributable to
Wz Owners of the Company
AATFEE AEEER,(BE)
S 2,821,321 E000
ARETT 2,540,063 AEETT
2,400,000 -2’04918032 » 0552,271,505 140,000 135,083
2,100,000 Sk 12Q000-11&137
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20204 20214 20224 20234 202445

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT AREBETT AR%¥TR

Financial position BRI

Total assets BREE 1,252,053 1,232,766 1,424,333 1,890,678 2,000,423

Total equity R 164,429 374,886 603,812 628,052 662,879

Total liabilities wmafs 1,087,624 857,880 820,521 1,262,626 1,337,544

Equity attributable to owners ~ ZARRAFHEAB A 165,337 374,886 603,812 628,052 662,879
of the Company e R

Cash and cash equivalents* ReRBSEEY* 143,765 381,067 436,996 657,948 411,377

2024 £ MRIEBEERAERAT 5



Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to all
Shareholders for their concern and support to the Company, and hereby
present the report of the Group for the Reporting Period.

2024 has been a year of challenges and opportunities. While the global
economy was back on track to steady recovery in the post-pandemic
era, uncertainties remained pervasive and factors including geopolitical
tensions, reshuffle of supply chains and fluctuations in raw material
prices have caused far-reaching impacts on the development of various
industries. In the face of the complex external environment and fierce
competition in the domestic pharmaceutical industry, the Group has, as
always, insisted on high-quality development around its core businesses
driven by innovation, and continuously refined its business strategies, with
a view to achieve sustainable growth.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has made unceasing efforts in
the development of its three core businesses including biologics, medical
aesthetic products and biopharmaceutical cold chain and supply chain
services, attaining remarkable results.

Biologics Business

The biologics segment is a core business pillar of the Group. Significant
increase in nationwide demand was seen in 2024 for biologics such as
human albumin and immunoglobulins, with the annual batch release
volume of human albumin reaching 83.2 million bottles, representing a
year-on-year increase of 6.5%. The market share of imported albumin
increased to 68.3% in 2024, which has effectively enlarged the Group’s
industry influence and market share in this segment.

The Group will further optimise its market layout, strengthen its marketing
network across the country and increase its coverage in second- and third-
tier cities and the primary medical care market. Meanwhile, it will further
broaden its sales channels and cooperate with more retail pharmacies
and hospital customers, thereby further enhancing the accessibility of its
products and benefit more patients.
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Chairman’s Statement FER%E

Medical Aesthetic Products Business

Research and development of medical aesthetic products is an important
strategic direction for the Group’s future development. The Group's
research and development is carried out by its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Chengdu Hengmeisheng Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (“Hengmeisheng”).
Breakthroughs were made in 2024 in the core research and development
projects including Girl Needle and Secret Needle. In July 2024, the Girl
Needle project has successfully completed enrollment for clinical trials
and entered the follow-up phase, and is expected to complete the trials
in the fourth quarter of 2025. The Group also continued to expand the
Girl Needle project by conducting exploratory trials for new application
of Girl Needle, where small sample size trials have been proven to be
effective when expanding into new application. The Secret Needle project
will move forward to the follow-up work based on the assessment of
safety indicators in animal tests. The self-developed new materials and
corresponding Class Ill medical devices will be applied to reduce wrinkles
for medical aesthetic purposes different from the Girl Needle. At present,
the laboratory process developments for both the material and the device
have been completed, and the safety assessment tests of the device
products are in progress.

The Group will continue to deepen its investment in research and
development, and accelerate the research and development of other new
medical aesthetic products while advancing the commercialisation of its
existing projects.

Biopharmaceutical Cold Chain and Supply Chain
Services

Cold chain and supply chain services are essential basis for ensuring the
efficient distribution of biologics. The Group’s cold chain storage facilities
in Shuangliu District, Chengdu City, Sichuan Province were officially
put into operation in 2024, significantly enhancing the storage and
distribution capacity of biologics in the region. The Group will upgrade
its supply chain management system through intelligent technology to
further reduce operating costs and improve logistics efficiency.

Finally, on behalf of the Company’s board of Directors, | would like to
express my deep gratitude to all shareholders, customers and partners.
Your trust and support are the crucial drivers for the Group to continue to
forge ahead. | would also like to pay my highest respect to all our staff for
their dedication and outstanding contributions. We will keep pace with
the market trends, continuously strengthen our competitive advantages,
and commit ourselves to creating more value for Shareholders, customers
and all stakeholders.

Huang Xiangbin
Chairman

Sichuan, the PRC, 22 April 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE W& D

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group recorded revenue of RMB2,821.3 million for the Reporting
Period, representing an increase of RMB281.2 million, or 11.1% as
compared to RMB2,540.1 million in 2023, which could be further
analysed as follows:

g e
g

AEBMPREPRES K ARKE2,82138ET ' &
2023 FMARE2,540. 1 BETEMARK 281258

7T 0 BIB11.1% - AE—FZDMAT :

2024 2023

20244 20234
RMB’000 % of revenue RMB'000 % of revenue
ARBT R ez {h b ARET T Wzttt
Human albumin solution AMBEBFFR 1) 2,783,513 98.7 2,507,058 98.7
Antibiotics nER 9,106 0.3 7,079 03
Medical beauty service BER% 2) 28,702 1.0 25,926 1.0
Total Bt 2,821,321 100.0 2,540,063 100.0

1) During the Reporting Period, revenue of human albumin solution stood at
RMB2,782.7 million, representing an increase of approximately 11.0% or
RMB257.6 million as compared with 2023. Such increase in revenue mainly
benefited from the increase in the supply volume and the sales volume of
human albumin.

2)  During the Reporting Period, revenue generated from medical beauty services
amounted to RMB28.7 million, representing an increase of approximately
10.8% or RMB2.8 million as compared with 2023.

1) WEHA - ANBERIFRKEAARE2,782.78
BT 0 2023 F EA#11.0% K ARKE2576E8
TL e WEEMEBRRAMAEAHREEMHEEER

FHRTEL -

2) MEHAN - BERBELENRZAARK287TEE
JC - #2023 FFHAI10.8% AR 8AE T -

2024 % EHRBREBARAT



Management Discussion and Analysis B2 E&7:m & 24

Cost of sales

The Group recorded cost of sales of RMB2,521.4 million for the Reporting
Period, representing an increase of RMB304.6 million, or 13.7% as
compared with RMB2,216.8 million in 2023, which was mainly caused
by the increase in purchase cost of the human albumin as a result of the
further depreciation of the RMB against the US$.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded gross profit of
RMB299.9 million, representing a decrease of RMB23.4 million as
compared with RMB323.3 million in 2023. Accordingly, the gross profit
margin decreased from 12.7% in 2023 to 10.6% for the Reporting
Period. The decrease in gross profit was primarily caused by the increase in
cost of sales of human albumin was greater than the increase in its sales
revenue, which was caused by the increased purchase cost as a result of
the further depreciation of the RMB against the US$.

Other income and gains

During the Reporting Period, other income and gains of the Group
amounted to RMB21.4 million, representing an increase of RMB6.8 million
as compared with the 2023, which was mainly caused by the increase in
service income from logistics services of RMB3.7 million and government
grants of RMB1.5 million.

Selling and distribution expenses

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s selling and distribution expenses
amounted to approximately RMB63.9 million, representing a decrease of
RMB29.8 million as compared with the corresponding period of 2023.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in marketing and promotion
expenses.

Administrative expenses

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded administrative expenses
of RMB126.0 million, representing an increase of RMB17.1 million as
compared with the corresponding period of 2023. With the business
development in the research and manufacturing of aesthetic medicine
segment and the medical beauty segment, the increase of administrative
expenses was mainly due to the increase in research and development
expenses of RMB11.0 million, the staff cost of RMB5.2 million and office
expenses of RMB2.1 million.

Other expenses

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded other expenses of
RMB14.8 million, representing an increase of RMB1.0 million as compared
with the 2023, which was mainly due to the increase in foreign exchange
loss.
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Management Discussion and Analysis B2 E&7:m & 24

Finance costs

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded finance costs of
RMB16.6 million, representing an increase of RMB2.2 million as compared
with the 2023, which was mainly due to the increase of the interest on
bank and other borrowings.

Income tax expense

During the Reporting Period, the income tax expense was amounted
to the RMB56.9 million, which only slightly declined RMB0.6 million as
compared to the RMB57.5 million in 2023.

Profit for the Reporting Period

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recorded a net profit of RMB42.0
million, which was almost the same as 2023 (2023 net profit: RMB42.4
million).

Inventories

The inventory balance amounted to RMB352.3 million as of 31 December
2024 (31 December 2023: RMB108.0 million), representing an increase
of RMB244.3 million as compared with the year-end balance of 2023.
Such increase was mainly due to the increase in the inventory balance
of human albumin solution, since there were several batches of human
albumin solutions procured at the end of the Reporting Period.

In line with the increase of the inventories, the Group’s average inventory
turnover days increased by 17 days from 16 days in 2023 to 33 days for
the Reporting Period.

Trade and bills receivables

The balance of trade receivables amounted to RMB509.7 million as of 31
December 2024, represented a slightly decrease of RMB26.3 million or
4.9% as compared to the RMB536.0 million in 2023.

The balance of bills receivables as of 31 December 2024 was RMB98.5
million (31 December 2023: RMB4.5 million), representing an increase
of RMB94.0 million as compared to the year-end balance of 2023. Such
increase was mainly because at the end of the year, most of the customers
were required to use bank acceptance for payment and the Company
chose to accept bank acceptance in order to reduce accounts receivable.
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Management Discussion and Analysis B2 E&7:m & 24

Prepayments, deposits, other receivables and other assets
As of 31 December 2024, the prepayments, deposits, other receivables
and other asset amounted to RMB140.2 million (31 December 2023:
RMB126.8 million), representing an increase of RMB13.4 million as
compared with the year-end balance of 2023. Such an increase was
mainly due to the increase of the prepayment of the value-added tax
recoverable amount of RMB20.6 million. The increase was partially offset
by the decrease of the prepayment of deposits for issuance of the letter of
credit of RMB6.7 million.

Trade and bills payables

As of 31 December 2024, trade and bills payables amounted to
RMB888.0 million (31 December 2023: RMB866.6 million), representing
an increase of RMB21.4 million as compared with the year-end balance of
2023, which was mainly due to the increase in payables for the purchase
of human albumin solution.

Other payables and accruals

As of 31 December 2024, other payables and accruals amounted to
RMB49.4 million (31 December 2023: RMB53.9 million), representing
a decrease of RMB4.5 million as compared with the year-end balance
of 2023. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease of payables in
relation to (i) the other payables of RMB18.2 million; (ii) the deposits
received from distributors of RMB10.9 million; (iii) the other tax payables
of RMB5.1 million. The decrease was partially offset by the increase of (i)
the consideration payable to the vendors of RMB27.0 million; and (ii) the
payroll and welfare payable of RMB2.1 million.
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Borrowings (EES
As of 31 December 2024, the Group has borrowings of RMB340.9 million £ Z 2024512 318 @+ AEBERE RS ARK
in total, with details set out below: 3409F & 7T ' FBAIRIT ¢
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT
Current; mE
Bank loans RITER 340,857 240,857
Non-current:; JERE :
Bank loans IRITER 50 886
Total &5t 340,907 241,743
Gearing ratio BEL=

= _|_
At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group’s gearing ratio was  RIREHIR - AEEN BB ERHENT ¢
calculated as follows:

2024 2023

2024F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T ARBTFT

Bank borrowings RITER 340,907 241,743
Trade and bills payables E SN RIE R IENEIE 887,968 866,585
Other payables and accruals EL P AT RIE I B R FRIE 49,368 53,862
Lease liabilities HEEE 9,630 9,658
Tax payables FERTHRIR 20,589 26,444
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss R AT EET ABHHNESREE - 22,078
Less: Bank balances and cash W RITESBRKRIERS (308,320) (437,922)
Less: Pledged deposits B BRI (103,057) (220,026)
Net debt® BEFRE 897,085 562,422
Equity s 662,879 628,052
Equity and net debt® R B EFREY 1,559,964 1,190,474
Gearing ratio®@ & B e 57.5% 47.2%

2024 8 ERSBBERAR AT 13
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Liquidity and capital resources

The following table sets out a condensed summary of the Group's

consolidated statement of cash flows during the Reporting Period: &= .

RBEERERRR

TRRAEERBERANGERSRERGAR

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
{iEsd AR¥T T AREETTT
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from wEEE(FA), RS
operating activities MR 1) (232,879) 353,700
Net cash flows used in investing activities KREEZHFARS A= 558 2) (52,870) (63,626)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities @& EEIFTS, (FrA)ES
B R 3) 154,587 (189,729)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash RERREEEWORD),
equivalents iy [jpectec (131,162) 100,345
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net INEFE RE BT L - FEE 1,560 8,433
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUR e RIREEEY
of the year 4) 437,922 329,144
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRIBERBEEED 4) 308,320 437,922
Notes: Hiat -

1)

Net cash flows used in operating activities

During the Reporting Period, the Group's net cash flows used in operating
activities amounted to approximately RMB232.9 million (for the year 2023:
net cash inflow of RMB353.7 million), which was mainly due to the increase
in inventories of RMB244.3 million and the increase in trade and bills
receivables of RMB72.0 million, which were partially offset by the increase in
trade and bills payables of RMB55.4 million.

2) Net cash used in investing activities 2)
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s net cash used in investing activities
amounted to approximately RMB52.9 million (for the year 2023: net cash
outflow of RMB63.6 million), which mainly included the investments in
purchase of items of property, plant and equipment of RMB35.2 million, and
additions to others intangible assets of RMB17.9 million.

3) Net cash from financing activities 3)

14

During the Reporting Period, the Group's net cash flows from financing
activities amounted to approximately RMB154.6 million (for the year 2023:
net cash outflow of RMB189.7 million), which was mainly due to the decrease
in pledged deposits of RMB117.0 million and net proceeds from bank
borrowings of RMB59.2 million, which were partially offset by the interest
paid of RMB16.3 million and dividend paid of RMB7.2 million.
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4)

The following table sets out the Group's cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the Reporting Period:

Denominated in RMB HIAR¥EHE
Denominated in US$ PAZETTEHE
Denominated in HK$ LA TTETHE
Denominated in S$* VAR AN TR E

4)  TREIAEENRERRNOES MREFEY

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREF T
353,668 541,812
54,609 110,102

897 2,355

2,203 3,679
411,377 657,948

* S$ stands for the Singapore dollar.

Treasury policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies. Substantial amounts of the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents are held in major financial institutions located in Mainland
China. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and the senior management of the Company reviews and
assesses the creditworthiness of the Group's existing customers on an
ongoing basis. To manage liquidity risk, the Group monitors its exposure
to a shortage of funds by considering the maturity of both its financial
liabilities and financial assets and projected cash flows from operations.
Cash and cash equivalents of the Group is mainly denominated in RMB.

Foreign currency risk
Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB, except
for certain items below:

o Certain bank balances are denominated in US$, HK$, S$; and

o Purchase of products from overseas suppliers and relevant trade and
bills payables are denominated in US$.

The Group manages the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies by
foreign currency forward and option contracts, and does not enter into
any hedging transactions.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets
As at the date of this report, the Group does not have any future plans for
material capital assets.

ERS R
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Capital expenditure
The following table sets out the Group’s capital expenditure for the
periods indicated:

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

BEYE  BELRE

BRI
TREINAKERFARHBNEARFAX -

2024
2024

2023
20234
RMB’000
AREETIT
29,550

RMB’000
ARBT R

35,159

Contingent liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024.

Pledge of assets
As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of the Group's pledged
assets were set out as follows:

For obtaining bank and other borrowings
— Buildings —g=F
For issuance of letters of credit, billings and other

— Bank balances —iRTTEERR

ZAREE
R2024F 128318 » AEEBETMAERNAGRE -

BEIKH
R2024%F 124310 » AEEZEFEEMNREES
FET -

31 December
2023

20234
12H31H
RMB'000
AREETTT

31 December
2024
20245

12A31H
RMB’000
ARBT R

FRERIRTT R EAMEK

72,852 68,489

ARFMEAE  REEZREM

103,057 220,026

Dividend

The Board resolved to declare a final dividend in respect of the year ended
31 December 2024 of HK0.20 cents (2023: final dividend in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2023 of HK0.39 cents) per ordinary share, in an
aggregate amount of HK$4,000,000 (2023: HK$8,000,000). The dividend
has been proposed by the Directors of the Company and is subject to
approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming general meeting. The
final dividend has been calculated by reference to the 2,032,890,585
issued shares outstanding as at the date of this report.
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Business Review

The Group focuses on three business segments including biologics,
medical aesthetic products and biopharmaceutical cold chain and supply
chain services. Biologics business provides comprehensive marketing,
promotion and channel management (“MPCM") services that mainly
cover imported blood products and other imported anti-infective drugs;
medical aesthetic products business is committed to establishing the
independent research and development, production and sales of the
leading aesthetical medicine with proprietary intellectual properties in
China; biopharmaceutical cold chain and supply chain services focus
on the cold chain facilities construction and industry chain services of
biopharmaceutical products, as well as establishing the supply chain
service platform of relevant products.

1. Core Products — Human Albumin Solution

Since the origination in the 1940s and, after decades of
development, the range of blood products has expanded from
the initial single human albumin to include over 20 varieties such
as immunoglobulins and coagulation factors. Market demand for
human albumin solution, as the core product in the Chinese market
and the only blood product allowed to be imported to the country,
has been growing steadily every year. In 2024, the annual batch
release volume of human albumin solution reached 83.2 million
bottles (2023: 78.1 million bottles), representing a year-on-year
increase of 6.5% as compared with that of 2023.

The human albumin solution produced by Octapharma is used to
treat conditions such as shock due to hypovolemia, edema, toxins
and neonatal hyperbilirubinemia. According to the 2024 annual
batch release volume, Octapharma’s human albumin solution held
approximately 13.3% of the market share in 2024.

2. Marketing Network Development

The Group is committed to continuously optimising its marketing
network to promote market penetration at multiple levels across
the country. In 2024, the Group strengthened its cooperation with
medical institutions at the provincial, municipal and county levels
across the country, significantly expanding its market coverage.
Meanwhile, through strengthening of its internal sales team building
and cooperation with third-party promotional service providers,
the Group ensured that its products could precisely reach its target
customers. In addition, the Group improved its performance
management system to allocate sales resources on a scientific basis
and promote the extension of sales channels to primary medical
institutions, which ultimately increased penetration into the end
market.
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Cold Chain Storage Facility

Cold chain services are the core support for the distribution of the
Group's biologics. Occupying an area of 15,000 square meters, the
first phase of the Group's cold chain storage facilities in Chengdu,
Sichuan Province has commenced full operation, providing high
quality storage services for both internal products and external
customers. The Phase Il expansion project is expected to be
completed in 2025 with an additional 18,000 square meters of
storage space to meet future demand growth.

Through the introduction of a digital supply chain system, the Group
has visualised the entire process from inventory management to
distribution, which has not only improved operational efficiency, but
also reduced logistics costs.

Research and Development

The Group accelerated the pace of research and development for
new product and built technical core capabilities. In July 2024,
the Girl Needle project has successfully completed enrollment for
clinical trials and entered the follow-up phase, and is expected to
complete the trials in the fourth quarter of 2025. The Group also
continued to expand the Girl Needle project by increasing efforts in
the evaluation of expanding the clinical trials for new application of
Girl Needle, aiming to fill the current gap of Girl Needle in this field
within the domestic market. After an in-depth evaluation of the
Secret Needle project, we have continued to advance its research
and development. The safety assessment of Class Ill medical devices
developed independently for wrinkle removal was stepped up. The
subsequent product pipeline of the Group will be centred on the
research and development of three major directions, namely, Girl
Needle and its expanded application, fine wrinkles removal and
collagen-based products, in a bid to actively provide customers with
more, better and compliant new options.
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Future and Outlook
In the coming years, the Group will focus on optimisation of core business
and expansion into new markets.

In the field of biologics, the Group will further optimise its marketing
layout and supply chain management to satisfy the needs of patients
nationwide in a more efficient manner, while deepening its cooperation
with major medical institutions to enhance the market coverage of its
core product, human albumin. In addition, the Group plans to introduce
more innovative biologics to expand the indication scenarios and provide
patients with more comprehensive treatment solutions.

In the field of medical aesthetics products, the Group will expedite the
commercialisation of its core products such as Girl Needle, in particular, to
build up brand advantages in the high-end medical aesthetics market in
major domestic cities. Meanwhile, the Group plans to further expand into
international markets such as Southeast Asia, so as to capture the fast-
growing global demand for medical aesthetics through the establishment
of regional sales networks and strategic partnerships. In addition, the
research and development team will continue to advance the development
of new-generation medical aesthetic fillers and anti-aging technologies to
provide strong technical support for future market expansion.

The Group will also continue to promote the construction of cold chain
facilities to meet the increasing demand for storage and logistics of
biologics and medical aesthetic products. The second phase of the
cold chain expansion project is scheduled to commence in 2025. Upon
completion, it is expected to add storage capacity of 18,000 square
meters, which will provide better cold chain solutions for the Group
and third-party customers. In addition, the Group will explore the digital
upgrading of its cold chain services to achieve whole-process traceability
management through the combination of Internet of Things and artificial
intelligence technologies, thereby further enhancing logistics efficiency
and customer experience.

In its future business development, the Group will continue to
explore emerging areas and strengthen the competitiveness of its
existing businesses under its core values of “innovation, integrity and
professionalism”. Meanwhile, we will enhance our internal governance
and risk management system to ensure the steady development of the
company in the long run. The Group will also actively fulfill its corporate
social responsibilities by supporting public welfare and contributing to the
healthcare industry of society.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 291 employees. For
the Reporting Period, the total staff costs of the Group were RMB61.4
million (2023: RMB54.8 million).

The Group’s employee remuneration policy is determined by taking into
account factors such as remuneration in respect of the local market, the
overall remuneration standard in the industry, the inflation level, corporate
operating efficiency and employee performance. The Group conducts
performance appraisals once every year for its employees, the results of
which are applied in annual salary reviews and promotional assessments.
The Group’s employees are considered for annual bonuses according
to certain performance criteria and appraisals results. Social insurance
contributions are made by the Group for its PRC employees in accordance
with the relevant PRC regulations.

The Group also provides continuous learning and training programs to its
employees to enhance their skills and knowledge, so as to maintain their
competitiveness and improve customer service quality. The Group did
not experience any major difficulties in recruitment, nor did it experience
any material loss in manpower or suffer from any material labor dispute
during the Reporting Period.

In addition, the Company adopted a share option scheme to recognize
the contribution by certain employees of the Group, and to provide them
with incentives in order to retain them for their continuing support in the
operation and development of the Group.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The principal risks and uncertainties identified by the Company which
may have material and adverse impact on the Group’s performance or
operation are summarized below. There may be other principal risks and
uncertainties in addition to those set out below which are not known to
the Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.

o Failure to maintain relationships with existing suppliers — The Group
currently sources all the products in portfolio from limited suppliers,
either directly or indirectly through their sales agents.

o Exchange rate fluctuation — The Group’s purchase of products from
the overseas suppliers is denominated in US$, and certain items of
bank balances, other receivables, bank borrowings and bonds are
denominated in US$ and HK$.

20
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o Decrease in profit margin due to increase in cost, decrease in selling
price and intensified competition.

o Prolonged delays or significant disruptions in the supply of products.

The Company believes that risk management is essential to the Group'’s
efficient and effective operation. The Company’s management assists
the Board in evaluating material risk exposure to the Group’s business,
participates in formulating appropriate risk management and internal
control measures, and ensures such measures are properly implemented
in daily operational management.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Human resources are one of the most important assets of the Group. The
Group strives to motivate its employees by providing them with a clear
career path as well as comprehensive and professional training courses. In
addition, the Group also offers competitive remuneration packages to its
employees, including basic salary, certain benefits and other performance
based incentives.

The Group purchases imported pharmaceutical products from overseas
suppliers, either directly or indirectly through their sales agents, and
then generates revenue by on-selling them to hospitals and pharmacies
through distributors or deliverers. Our suppliers or their sales agents have
granted us the exclusive operating rights to market, promote and manage
sales channels for their products in China. We maintain a stable and
long-term relationship with our suppliers by providing them access to the
growing Chinese market with steady sales growth.

The Group sells pharmaceutical products to distributors or deliverers,
who on-sell the products to hospitals and pharmacies directly. The
Group maintains stable and long-term relationship with its distributors or
deliverers by providing them guidance, training and support to carry out
more marketing and promotion activities in targeted fields.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is primarily engaged in MPCM for imported pharmaceutical
products, a line of business that does not have material impact on the
environment. The key environmental impact from the Group’s operation
is related to electricity, water and paper consumption. The Group is fully
aware of the importance of sustainable environmental development, and
has implemented the following measures to encourage environmental
protection and energy conservation:

e Promoting paperless office
o Encouraging low-carbon commuting
e Ensuring reasonable energy consumption

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not incur any material cost for
compliance with relevant environmental laws and regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's business and operations are subject to related laws and
regulations of the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong
and the PRC. During the Reporting Period, the Group have complied with
all related laws and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin
Islands, Hong Kong and the PRC, which would have significant impact on
the Group.

SIGNIFICANT FINANCING EVENT AND USE OF
PROCEEDS

2022 Placing of new Shares under general mandate

In order to capture the market opportunities of medical aesthetic
products and to develop its own center to develop, produce and sell
medical aesthetic products gradually, the Company entered into a
placing agreement (the “2022 Placing”) with Silverbricks Securities
Company Limited (the “Placing Agent”) on 7 December 2021, pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to issue an aggregate
of 160,000,000 Shares (the “Placing Shares”), and the Placing Agent
agreed to procure not less than six independent individuals, institutional
or other professional investors (the “Placees”) to subscribe for, on a best
effort basis, an aggregate of 160,000,000 Placing Shares at the placing
price of HK$1.29 per Placing Share, with an aggregate nominal value of
HK$16,000. The Placing Price of HK$1.29 per Placing Share represents a
discount of approximately 19.38% to the closing price of HK$1.60 per
Share as quoted on the HKSE on 7 December 2021, being the date of the
Placing Agreement.
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Management Discussion and Analysis B2 E&7:m & 24

The net proceeds from the 2022 Placing, after deduction of the
commission for the placing and other related expenses, amounted to
approximately HK$194.9 million, at a net price (which is calculated by
dividing the net proceeds by the number of Placing Shares) of HK$1.22.
The Company intends that as to:

(@) approximately 40% of the net proceeds of the 2022 Placing
(approximately HK$78.0 million) will be used for relevant costs
and expenses incurred for the development of polycaprolactone
microsphere facial filler and its materials for injection, including but
not limited to development of experimental workshop, research and
development equipments and factories construction investment; and

approximately 60% of the net proceeds of the 2022 Placing
(approximately HK$116.9 million) will be used for the strategic
acquisition/development of new projects/products in the field of
medical aesthetic, including but not limited to acquisition of medical
aesthetic organisations or investing in medical aesthetic projects and
development of new medical aesthetic products.

All the conditions precedent set out in the Placing Agreement (together
with its supplemental agreement entered into between the Company
and the Placing Agent on 30 December 2021) have been fulfilled and
the completion of the Placing Agreement took place on 3 January 2022.
For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 7
December 2021, 30 December 2021 and 3 January 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis B2 E&7:m & 24

During the Reporting Period, approximately HK$10.0 million of net  RIREHIA » 2022 AR & BIBATEKIEFZEF 4910.0
proceeds from the 2022 Placing had been used and the unutilised net HEB TS - HZE2024F12 A31 B HATHY
proceeds as of 31 December 2024 was amounted to HK$20.8 million. The  Fr{SFIEF4E A420.8B BB 7T - ARFHBEWT ¢
details are as follows:

Expected

Net proceeds timeline for

Unutilised net utilised ~ Unutilised net ~ full utilisation

Approximate  Net proceeds proceeds as of during the  proceeds as of of the
% of total fromthe 31 December Reporting 31 December remaining
net proceeds 2022 Placing 2023 Period 2024 net proceeds

BENBE BE0UE E i

HRERE blIPyE:3 12831 REEHR 12831 AN

wFEn BEZE  MABAY  BANAE  HABAN  REFEN

BREAL FBRERE  FERETE FEFE FERERE  ROREX
(%) HKS'(million) ~ HKS$'(million)

(RB)BT (A&

Development of polycaprolactone microsphere BT 4T E 2 Aulhisg

facial filler and its materials for injection, EERERANR -

including but not limited to development BEETRARE

of experimental workshop, research and EREH  FERER

development equipments and factories IRERRE

construction investment 40 780 = = - -

Strategic acquisition/development of new KB/ RREE

projects/products in the field of medical EREEMIERER

aesthetic, including but not limited PEEFRAKERE

to acquisition of medical aesthetic FPMEIREREXD

organisations or investing in medical BERFETER

aesthetic projects and development of e 6 months

new medical aesthetic products 60 116.9 308 10.0 208 6fd A
Total &t 100 194.9 308 10.0 208
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Directors and Senior Management

ESENSREER

Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Xiangbin (Z##) (“Mr. Huang”), aged 59, founder of
the Group, has been the Chairman and executive Director of the Group
since April 2011. He served as the Co-chief Executive Officer of the
Company from November 2020 to March 2023, with Mr. Jin Min jointly
in charge of overall strategic planning and operation management. Mr.
Huang has served as the director of Risun, the controlling shareholder
of the Company, and is the director of XKR Prosperous Holding PTE.
Ltd., Starwell Group Holding Limited, Bright Ritzy Limited, Hong Kong
Prosperous Group Holding Limited, Glorious Empire Limited and Sheenos
Limited.

Mr. Huang obtained a master’s degree in EMBA from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University (_E/83238KE8) in December 2008 and obtained a certificate
of completion from the MBA programme of Renmin University of China
(B AR KE) in August 2002. He also obtained a bachelor’s degree in
botanical resources (Ef4HE¥)E &) from Jilin Agriculture University (54
B EKE)in July 1988.

Mr. Huang is the father of Mr. Huang Zhijian, appointed as an executive
Director on 26 March 2024.
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Directors and Senior Management EE N 5K EEE

Mr. Lei Shifeng (F it $£) (“Mr. Lei”), aged 58, was appointed as
an executive Director in March 2023. Mr. Lei joined the Group in
April 2022 as the vice president of the Group, mainly responsible for
administration, human resources management, public affairs and
information management, and is also the director of Demei Company
and Sinco (Hainan) Investment Development Co., Ltd. (S&IZ(&F)
K EZEREAR/AT]). Mr. Lei served as the president of Sichuan Guojing
Xinlian Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (79)!|%& B4 S5t pEsE e
IBEPR/AF]) and the director of Sichuan SRF Supply Chain Management
Co., Ltd. (0)I|4& & In E HE#EEIZH R A 7)) from December 2020
to March 2022. From July 2016 to November 2020, he was the general
manager of Chengdu Sinco Pharmaceutical Technology Co. Ltd. and
Sichuan Sinco Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.. Mr. Lei was also the director of
Chengdu Sinco Pharmaceuticals Technology Co., Ltd., Chengdu Sinco
Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., Chengdu Hengsheng Ziguang Pharmaceuticals
Technology Co., Ltd. and Sichuan Sinco Biological Technology Co., Ltd.
for the same period. From June 2007 to June 2016, Mr. Lei worked as
the deputy general manager for Sichuan Derentang Traditional Chinese
Medicine Technology Co., Ltd. (FO)I|E{- E R BRI RN BRAF),
mainly responsible for procurement, manufacturing and quality. From
May 2001 to May 2007, he worked as the deputy general manager of
Chengdu Zhongxin Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (BX#BHF T ZEEFRRAF),
mainly responsible for the overall business operation and management.
From July 1988 to April 2001, he was a manager at Chengdu Traditional
Chinese Medicine Company (5 &FFR Z&44 /A &]), mainly responsible for the
procurement and business operation and management of its branches.

Mr. Lei obtained his bachelor’s degree from Jilin Agricultural University
(FMBZEKRE) in July 1988 and the Certified Pharmacist qualification in
January 2000.

Mr. Huang Zhijian (Z2& ) (“Mr. Huang Zhijian"”), aged 32, was
appointed as the vice chairman of the Board and executive Director on
24 December 2024 and 26 March 2024, respectively. Mr. Huang Zhijian
joined the Group in January 2018 as the assistant product manager of
Sichuan Sinco Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Sinco”). Mr. Huang
Zhijian was appointed as the general manager of Sichuan Sinco and
Qingdao Yusheng Hengying Trading Co., Ltd. (“Qingdao Yusheng”) in
November 2022 and December 2022, respectively, mainly responsible for
overall business operation and management. Mr. Huang Zhijian is also
the director of Sichuan Sinco, Qingdao Yusheng, Sinco Shanghai Trading
Co., Ltd., Haikou Sinco Biological Medical Technology Co., Ltd., and Sinco
(Hainan) Investment Development Co., Ltd.. From June 2018 to November
2022, he was the sales manager of Sichuan Sinco. Mr. Huang Zhijian is
the son of Mr. Huang, the executive Director, chairman of the Board and
the substantial shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Huang Zhijian obtained a master’s degree in Business Administration
from ESC PAU Business School in 2021 and graduated from Haikou
University of Economics in 2020 with a bachelor’s degree in financial
management.
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Directors and Senior Management EE N 5K EEE

Non-executive Director

Ms. Jing Huan (&) (“Ms. Jing”), aged 36, was appointed as a
non-executive Director in 24 December 2024. Ms. Jing joined the
Group in November 2011, mainly responsible for human resources
and administrative affairs. Ms. Jing is currently the deputy general
manger and the supervisor of the subsidiary of the Group, the Chengdu
Hengmeisheng Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (K&MEERE AR BR AR,
mainly responsible for comprehensive management department, and
assisting in management of finance department, legal department, and
quality department. Ms. Jing is also the supervisor of Chengdu Hengsheng
Ziguang Pharmaceuticals Technology Co., Ltd. (BxEPIB A 5 BB Bt filT 5
R & {FA &), Xizang Linzhi Ziguang pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (FEfi#E 4
St e PR & LA ")), Haikou Sinco Biological Medical Technology Co.,
Ltd. (B0 ESERIFHAYEERHE AR AF) and Sichuan Sinco Biological
Technology Co., Ltd. (FH)I| BRI AR AR 2 7).

Ms. Jing obtained her postgraduate diploma in Organisational and Human
Resource Management from the University of Hong Kong in August 2022,
and she obtained the Certificate of Inclusion in China’s Strategic Talent
Pool issued by China Enterprise Confederation Training Center in January
2017.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lau Ying Kit (2|%4££) (“Mr. Lau”), aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 8 November 2018.
Mr. Lau is currently the finance and investor relations director, company
secretary of Dalipal Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1921). He is also an
independent non-executive director of Kingdom Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 528), United Strength Power Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2337)
and Kangli International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 6890). Mr. Lau
was an independent non-executive director of China Wood Optimisation
(Holding) Limited (Stock Code: 1885) from December 2013 to February
2022, and from May 2012 to October 2020, he served as an independent
non-executive director of Xiezhong International Holdings Limited, which
was delisted on the main board of the Stock Exchange on 5 July 2021.
Mr. Lau is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and holds a master’'s degree in finance from the City
University of Hong Kong. He has extensive experience in finance and
accounting in China and Hong Kong.
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Directors and Senior Management EE N 5K EEE

Mr. Wang Qing (GE5) (“Mr. Wang"”), aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 1 February 2016,
mainly responsible for supervising and providing independent opinion to
the Board. Mr. Wang has been worked at Dalian University of Technology
(KEIE T KE) from April 2003 up until now. Mr. Wang served as an
associate professor when he first joined Dalian University of Technology
and was later promoted to professor in November 2010, responsible for
research and development and teaching. From March 2019 to July 2023,
Mr. Wang was the director of the Department of Pharmacy in the School
of Pharmaceutical Sciences at Dalian University of Technology. From July
1986 to September 1997, Mr. Wang worked as a pharmacist supervisor
at Liaoning Provincial Medical Company Limited (EZ& BEMBRE LD
7)), where he was responsible for drugs inspection and evaluation and
participated in research and technical renovation.

Mr. Wang obtained his Ph.D. in therapy system from Kyushu Institute of
Technology (JUM& T2 KE2) in Japan in March 2003 and a master’s
degree in therapy system from Kyushu Institute of Technology in March
2000. Mr. Wang obtained his bachelor’s degree in medicinal plants from
Jilin Agricultural University (Z5#52 % K £2) in July 1986.

Mr. Liu Wenfang (£|325) (“Mr. Liu”), aged 87, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 1 February 2016,
mainly responsible for supervising and providing independent opinion to
the Board. Prior to joining our Group, from July 2017 to present, he serves
as a senior technical consultant in Shanxi Kangbao Biological Product
Co., Ltd. (LA B EYMRBIXH B2 7). From July 2017 to September
2020, Mr. Liu Wenfang served as a senior technical consultant at China
Biologic Products Inc. (EHEYWRBAERAF]), a company listed on
NASDAQ (stock code: CBPO). From February 2011 to July 2017, he served
as an independent director of China Biologic Products Inc.. From 2007 to
2011, Mr. Liu worked as a chief consultant at Sichuan Yuanda Shuyang
Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (U)I3E A& 5 AR (HBRAF]) where he
was responsible for research and promoting new theories and applications
in the medical field. From 2000 to 2007, he served as the chief engineer
and director of Hualan Biological Engineering Inc. (ZER8 4% T2 (D
fR A A]) where he was responsible for supervising manufacturing process
and quality management. From May 1998 to May 1999, Mr. Liu served
as the chief engineer of Guiyang Qianfeng Biological Products Co., Ltd.
(BB IE A YELRBRR E(EATR]) where he was responsible for research
and developing new products. From 1978 to 1988, Mr. Liu worked in
the Institute of Blood Transfusion, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences
(BRI B8 B2 R E2 B da M A 55 FF) and was engaged in the segregation and
purification of blood and protein and research, development and quality
analysis of blood products.
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Directors and Senior Management EE N 5K EEE

Mr. Liu obtained a bachelor’s degree in biochemistry from the Shenyang
Institute of Applied Ecology, Chinese Academy of Sciences (7 B %} £2p57 2
[5 & FA A= e At 7R FT) (formerly known as the Institute of Forestry and Soil
Sciences) in August 1963.

Mr. Bai Zhizhong (B&H) (“Mr. Bai”), aged 67, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 1 September 2020,
mainly responsible for supervising and providing independent opinion to
the Board. Mr. Bai has over 30 years of experience in the finance industry.
Mr. Bai served as the chairman of Bank of China Investment Management
Company Limited from January 2015 to June 2017. He worked with the
Bank of China from July 1995 to January 2015, where he had previously
served as the president of the Guangdong province branch, the Sichuan
province branch, the Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region branch and the
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region branch of Bank of China, and as
the head of comprehensive planning division of Bank of China, Shanxi
Province branch.

Mr. Bai obtained a master degree in business administration from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University, the PRC in 2007, and he was qualified
as a senior economist of Bank of China Assessment Committee of
Qualifications in Economic Professional Positions (H B £ 17 4% 775 25 3 = 1T
RSB TTEZ BE) in December 1994.

Senior Management

Mr. Jin Min (£8) (“Mr. Jin"), aged 47, jointed our Group in February
2014 as the vice president of the marketing department of Sichuan Sinco
Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. and was appointed as a chief executive officer
of the Company in March 2023, in charge of the Group’s overall business
development, operation and management. Mr. Jin is also the director of
Sinco (Hainan) Investment Development Co., Ltd.. Mr. Jin has over 19
years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry. Before joining the
Group, Mr. Jin worked for Guangzhou Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (M
BTN AR A ) from August 2001 to January 2014, and last served
as the director of the marketing department, responsible for product
promotion and management. Mr. Jin obtained a bachelor’s degree in
management in June 2001 and obtained a bachelor’s degree in science in
June 2000, both from Sun Yat-sen University, the PRC.
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Directors and Senior Management EE N 5K EEE

Mr. Li Yifan (Z=2—11) (“Mr. Li"”), aged 45, joined the Group in February
2015 and was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company in
June 2015, mainly responsible for the overall financial strategic planning,
internal control system management, and financing management of the
Group. Mr. Li has over 10 years of experience in accounting and financial
management. Before joining the Group, from March 2011 to January
2015, Mr. Li last served as the deputy chief financial officer responsible
for financial accounting and management for China Polymetallic Mining
Limited, which was delisted from the Main Board on 25 April 2023. From
February 2005 to February 2011, Mr. Li successively served as an auditor
of the Shenzhen branch and a senior auditor of the Chengdu branch
of Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP. Mr. Li obtained a Master of Science’s
degree in Finance from the University of Stirling in January 2005 and
graduated from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics (Fa
B &K E2) in July 2002 with a bachelor’s degree in management. Mr. Li
has been a Chinese certified public accountant since January 2012.

Mr. Zhang Tao (“Mr. Zhang"”), aged 41, joined the Group in
November 2013 and was appointed as the President of Sichuan Sinco in
November 2022, mainly responsible for its overall business operation and
management. Mr. Zhang was successively the director of president office
and deputy general manager and general manager of Sichuan Sinco.
Mr. Zhang is also the director of Sichuan Sinco Biological Technology
Co., Ltd., Chengdu Hengsheng Ziguang Pharmaceutical Technology Co.,
Ltd., Haikou Sinco Biological Medical Technology Co., Ltd., Chengdu
Hengmeisheng Biotechnology Co., Ltd., Demei Company and Macao Sinco
Limited. Mr. Zhang has over 10 years of experience in the pharmaceutical
industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang worked for Chengdu
Huide Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (k&I Z1EEE &R FR A R]) from July
2010 to July 2012 as the project manager of the R&D department and
pharmaceutical product registration manager successively. Mr. Zhang
obtained a Master’s degree of Science in Clinical Pharmacology from
University of Glasgow in December 2013 and graduated from Chengdu
University of Traditional Chinese Medicine (5 &/ & &2 K £2) in July 2007
with a bachelor’s degree in pharmaceutical preparation. Mr. Zhang has
been a licensed pharmacist since December 2010.
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Directors and Senior Management EE N 5K EEE

Mr. Wu Qingjiang (RET) (“Mr. Wu”), aged 61, joined the Group
in September 2021 and was appointed as the vice president of the
Company, mainly responsible for the Group’s medical aesthetic business
sector and R&D centre. He is also the general manager of Chengdu
Hengmeisheng Biotechnology Co., Ltd.. Mr. Wu, a senior engineer, has
over 40 years of experience in managing production and quality control of
pharmaceutical products and is familiar with the regulations about drug
administration and new drug research and development, and has won the
first prize of science and technology of the Chinese Association of Chinese
Medicine. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wu served as the executive vice
president of Chengdu First Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. from March 2019 to
August 2021. He served as the Co-chief Executive Officer of the Company
from May 2017 to February 2019, mainly responsible for the Group’s
overall business development, operational and management. Mr. Wu
served as an executive director in Chengdu Haizhong Investment Co., Ltd.
(KENG R ERBRE A A]) from 2014 to February 2017, held the position
of chairman and general manager in Sichuan Weiao Pharmaceuticals Co.,
Ltd. (PU)1| 4 R &L R /2 7)) and Sichuan Weiao Sanjiang Pharmaceuticals
Co., Ltd. (F)I|#R = TREHRAF) from 1997 to 2015, worked as
an executive deputy general manager in Sichuan Jinhui Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (19| & @& B R AR]) from 1995 to 1996, and successively
served as a technician, section manager, and deputy factory manager in
Sichuan lisheng Pharmaceutical Factory (P9)114& 4 444 E) from 1983 to
1995. Mr. Wu graduated from the Department of Pharmacy of Chengdu
University of Traditional Chinese Medicine in July 1983 and obtained a
bachelor’s degree in Chinese medicine.
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Report of the Directors
A

The Board hereby presents its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
Group is principally engaged in the provision of comprehensive marketing,
promotion and channel management service for imported pharmaceutical
products and medical devices in China. The analysis of the revenue of the
principal activities of the Group during the Reporting Period is set out in
note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business Review and Results

A review of the business of the Group during the Reporting Period is
provided in “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 26. An
analysis of the Group’s performance during the Reporting Period using
financial key performance indicators is provided in the Financial Highlights
on pages 4 to 5 of this annual report.

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on page 78 of this annual report.

Final Dividends

The Board resolved to declare a final dividend in respect of the year ended
31 December 2024 of HK0.20 cents (2023: final dividend in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2023 of HK0.39 cents) per ordinary share, in an
aggregate amount of HK$4,000,000 (2023: HK$8,000,000). The dividend
has been proposed by the Directors of the Company and is subject to
approval by the Shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting. The
final dividend has been calculated by reference to the 2,032,890,585
issued shares outstanding as at the date of this annual report.

Annual General Meeting

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM") will be held on
Thursday, 15 May 2025. A notice convening the AGM will be published in
the manner required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) in due course.
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Closure of the Register of Members for AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
12 May 2025 to Thursday, 15 May 2025, both days inclusive, in order to
determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled to attend the
forthcoming AGM to be held on Thursday, 15 May 2025. To be eligible for
attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company’s relevant Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell
Centre,183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m.
on Friday, 9 May 2025. The record date for determining the identity of
the Shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM is Thursday, 15 May 2025.

Closure of the Register of Members for the
Distribution of Final Dividend

The register of members will be closed from Wednesday, 21 May 2025
to Friday, 23 May 2025, both days inclusive, in order to qualify for
entitlement to the final dividend, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m.
on Tuesday, 20 May 2025. Subject to the approval of Shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming AGM, the final dividend will be paid on or
around Tuesday, 3 June 2025. The record date for determining to qualify
for entitlement to the final dividend is Friday, 23 May 2025.

Financial Highlights

A highlights of the Group’s results, assets, liabilities for the last five
financial years are set out on pages 4 to 5 of this annual report. This
highlights does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s products purchased from the
largest supplier accounted for 99.78% (2023: 99.62%) of total products
purchased, and products purchased from five largest suppliers accounted
for 100% (2023: 100%) of our total products purchased.
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For the Reporting Period, the Group’s sales to the largest customer
accounted for 20.55% (2023: 16.5%) of our total revenue, and sales to
the five largest customers accounted for 51.93% (2023: 39.06%) of our
total revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group's five
largest customers and suppliers.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Subsidiaries
Details of the major subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2024
are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 81.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Cayman
Islands Companies Law and the Articles of Association, amounted to
approximately RMB208.5 million (as at 31 December 2023: RMB223.4
million).

Bank and Other Borrowings
Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2024 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a resolution passed by the Shareholders, the Company had
adopted the Share Option Scheme which became effective on 10 March
2016 (the “Listing Date").

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide an incentive
or reward to Eligible Participants (as defined below) for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Company and/or any of
its subsidiaries.

Eligible participants

The Board may, subject to and in accordance with the provisions
of the Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, grant options
at its discretion to any full-time or part-time employees, including
executives, senior management or officers (including executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive Directors) of the
Company, its subsidiaries or any entity in which the Group holds any
equity interest, and to any company wholly owned by any one or
more persons belonging to any of the above classes of participants
who, at the absolute discretion of the Board, has contributed or will
contribute to the Group (collectively, the “Eligible Participants”).

Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years from 1 February 2016, after which no further option will
be granted. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme as at 31
December 2024 is approximately 1 year and 2 months.

Total number of Shares available for offering

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme shall
not, in aggregate, exceed 160,000,000 Shares, representing 7.87%
of the issued shares of the Company as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by Shareholders, the total number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of options granted to any participant
(including exercised and outstanding options) under the Share
Option Scheme in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the total Shares in issue.
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Offer period and amount payable for options

An option may be accepted by an Eligible Participant within 15
days from the date of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal
consideration of HK$1.00 shall be payable upon acceptance of the
grant of option.

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

The period during which an option must be held before it can be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
shall be one year after the date on which the option is granted. The
Board may at its absolute discretion impose further restrictions on
the exercise of the option.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up
Subject to the discretion of the Board who may impose restrictions
on the exercise of the option, any option may be exercised one year
after the date on which the option is granted and shall expire on the
earlier of the last day of (i) a six year period from the date of such
grant and (i) the expiration of the Share Option Scheme.

Basis of determining the subscription price

The price per Share at which a Grantee may subscribe for Shares
upon exercise of an option (the “Exercise Price”) shall be a price
determined by the Board but in any event shall be at least the
highest of:

(i)  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the HKSE's daily
quotations sheets on the date of grant of the option;

(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the HKSE's
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately

preceding the date of grant of the option; and

(iii)  the nominal value of the Shares.
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The summary of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme that

were still outstanding as at 31 December 2024 is as follows:

TR IR AR ST B 1 T 20202448 12 31 B DM K17
PR RERER T -

Number of options
BREHA
On On
1 January 31 December
2024 2024 Exercise
Grantee's name 20245 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 20245 price®® Date of grant Exercise period?
ERARE 1818 R i A xR 12A31H T RiLAH T
Employees in aggregate 0 0 0 0 0 0 HK$0.568 21 September 2016 21 September 2017-
EER% 0568757 201669F21A 20 September 2022
0175982118
2022597208
Notes: Mzt -
(1) The exercise price shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing price of (1) fTEEMIRUT=FHMHESFH : (7201659 A

HK$0.540 per Share as stated in the HKSE's daily quotations sheets on 21
September 2016, being the date of such grant; (i) the average closing price
of HK$0.568 per Share as stated in the HKSE's daily quotations sheets for
five business days immediately preceding the date of such grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Share at HK$0.0001 per Share.

40% of the options granted may be vested and exercised upon one
year commencing the date of such grant (i.e. 21 September 2017) and a
continuous employment of one year. Another 30% of the options granted
shall be vested and exercised upon two years commencing the date of such
grant (i.e. 21 September 2018) and a continuous employment of two years.
The remaining 30% of the options granted may be vested and exercised upon
three years commencing the date of such grant (i.e. 21 September 2019) and
a continuous employment of three years.
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Equity-linked Agreements

Other than the Share Option Scheme of the Company as disclosed above,
no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
Shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing Shares were entered into by
the Company during the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of the
Reporting Period.

Directors
The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Huang (Chairman)

Mr. Huang Zhijian (vice chairman) (appointed with effect from 26 March 2024)
Mr. Lei Shifeng

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Jing Huan (appointed with effect from 24 December 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Lau Ying Kit

Mr. Wang Qing

Mr. Liu Wenfang

Mr. Bai Zhizhong

In accordance with article 16.2 of the Articles of Association, Ms. Jing
Huan shall hold office only until the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible,
has offered herself for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

In accordance with article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Huang,
Mr. Lei Shifeng and Mr. Liu Wenfang will retire and, being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election as Directors at the forthcoming AGM.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the forthcoming AGM are set
out in the circular.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies
Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 25 to 31 of this annual report.

Confirmation of Independence of Independent
Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received a confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors and the Company considers such Directors to be independent in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Service Contracts and Letter of Appointments
Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a term of three years commencing from the date of
the service agreement, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party to the other.

The non-executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of one year commencing from the date of the service
agreement, which may be terminated by not less than one month'’s notice
in writing served by either party to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the date of the letter of appointment, which may be
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party to the other.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements
or Contracts of Significance

Other than those transactions disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or
an entity connected with a Director had, directly or indirectly, a material
interest subsisted during or at the end of the Reporting Period.
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Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or
had any interest in any business which competes or may compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during the Reporting
Period.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

Employees and Emolument Policy

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had an aggregate of 291 employees.
The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy and
structure for all remunerations of the Directors and senior management
of the Group, having regard to the Group's operating results, individual
performance of the Directors and senior management and comparable
market practices.

Remuneration of Directors and Five Individuals with
Highest Emoluments

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Changes to Information in Respect of Directors

Mr. Huang Zhijian has been appointed as the vice chairman of the
Board and executive Director on 24 December 2024 and 26 March
2024, respectively. For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 24 December 2024 and 26 March 2024.
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With effect from 24 December 2024, Ms. Jing Huan has been appointed
as a non-executive Director of the Company. On 24 December 2024,
Ms. Jing Huan obtained the legal advice from a firm of solicitors under
Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules and confirmed that she understood her
obligations as a director.

Ms. Jing has entered into a service contract with the Company for a fixed
term of one year, commencing from 24 December 2024, and shall be
renewed for a further term of one year by mutual agreement between
her and the Company, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Second Amended and Restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company. As a non-executive Director, Ms.
Jing is entitled to an annual remuneration of RMB300,000. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 24 December
2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, there has
been no change to the information of the Directors which is required to
be disclosed pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of
the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures
Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, no rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company
were granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children under
18 years of age, nor were any such rights exercised by them. Neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years
of age, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate during the
Reporting Period.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the HKSE pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including any interests and short positions which were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (i) which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into the
register maintained by the Company, or (iii) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the HKSE pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

(i) Interests in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company

Name of Director and

chief executive Nature of interest

ESRFRTHABESR

R E

EERIBRITRAESRRKRG - HEAROR
EEPHNERRXA

M2024F12A31H - EERARABEETHRAER
RAalEEMBEEE(EXRESRBAEGHE
XVEB) &I ~ BN RESTF - B ()REES
FHAE GBI SEXVEET 8D 2 AME NN T KBS
RETHIE RS KA R (B IERIEE S R EED A B
X BEWEERERAEENEMERRAR)
(IR IEE 5 M E S I H 3525 BRE R AR Al TF
BRELMANES AR - SR iR R 8%
TATE _ E B IT AE R EITTES R 5 IZAESTAA
SARRNANEBHRITRERABIAT

(i) MARERMDNAEER D S

Number of
Shares or
underlying
Shares(®
MRAB
HERGEAO

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
interest®
A
BAE e

Mr. Huang®@ Interest in controlled corporation 1,050,000,000(L) 51.65%
BEED REEEE R

Mr. Jin Beneficial owner 13,680,000(L) 0.67%
SHhE ExBmBA

Mr. Huang Zhijian® Beneficiary of a trust (other than 1,050,000,000(L) 51.65%

a discretionary trust)
EEXmA(REETRIN

Notes:
(1) The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2)  Mr. Huang is the settlor of a trust in which Wickhams Cay Trust
Company Limited is the trustee and holds the entire interest in
Fullwealth Holdings Limited, which in turn holds the entire beneficial
interest. Mr. Huang is deemed to be interested in the 1,050,000,000
Shares beneficially held by Risun.

(3) Mr. Huang Zhijian is one of the beneficiaries of a trust in which
Wickhams Cay Trust Company Limited is the trustee and holds the
entire interest in Fullwealth Holdings Limited, which in turn holds the
entire beneficial interest. Mr. Huang Zhijian is deemed to be interested
in the 1,050,000,000 Shares beneficially held by Risun.

The percentage is based on the total number of 2,032,890,585 Shares
in issue as at 31 December 2024.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) that were required to be recorded in the register of
the Company required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the HKSE pursuant
to the Model Code.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following person/entities (other than the Director or chief executive of
the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

(i) Interestsin the Company

Nature of interest

ERtE
Beneficial owner

BEalEA

Risun@

Fullwealth Holdings Limited®
REEEENER
Trustee
XA

Wickhams Cay Trust Company Limited®

Interest in controlled corporation

B EXCRTHERE SN - 2024412 A318 » AARIE
EREFBTHRAESMERANA RS ERREHE®E(E
ERAFEHFRHAEEXVED) MDD - BERGSESFF
A SRR A RIEE S M E 5555352 (87850
BRANBATHFEENELMANERAESIUAS
FARIRIZE ST R A BT AE AR 5 R BB R FTHE
RIS TR R ©

ggﬂﬁimﬂﬁfﬁ&ﬁmﬁﬁqﬂ HI RS &K
MR2024F12 8318 » REBFMERA - RIBAQRIE
BEHFRPEKFIEBKAETEENS DAL
8 UTFAL / BEE(ESXAQAAETBITHRAER
SN IR SR RARR (D R A IR IR B 5 R B R I& B
XVEBEE2 K 37 BB AR XA M AN A B BB A 2 s

B

(i) RARTHER

Approximate
percentage of

shareholding
Number of Shares® interest®
BRHEEO BRESAES L
1,050,000,000(L) 51.65%
1,050,000,000(L) 51.65%
1,050,000,000(L) 51.65%

Notes:
(1) The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2)  Mr. Huang is the settlor of a trust in which Wickhams Cay Trust
Company Limited is the trustee and holds the entire interest in
Fullwealth Holdings Limited, which in turn holds the entire beneficial
interest in Risun. Fullwealth Holdings Limited, Wickhams Cay Trust
Company Limited and Mr. Huang are deemed to be interested in the
1,050,000,000 Shares beneficially held by Risun.

(3)  The percentage is based on the total number of 2,032,890,585 Shares
in issue as at 31 December 2024.

(1) FERILEZBALRBOMFENGEE

(2) BERERBREENVERTA - EfWickhams
Cay Trust Company Limited & #% 1= 3t 9 = & A
3 % A Fullwealth Holdings Limited 2 #8125 » M
Fullwealth Holdings Limited#3 4 Risun % &0 & &5 12
# © Fullwealth Holdings Limited + Wickhams Cay
Trust Company Limited & & 5e £ 9 18 BB
RisunE # FT#57 1,050,000,00088 X 17 B4 25

B ZEALHBEN2024F12 831 BB H
2,032,890,585M B &HITA D METESH
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the Reporting
Period.

Related Transaction

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group are set
out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. Pursuant to Rule
14A.90 of the Listing Rules, the guarantee provided by Mr. Huang as
disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements is a related
transaction exempted from the announcement, reporting, annual review
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.90
of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the above related transaction.

Continuing Connected Transactions
Details of the continuing connected transactions are set out in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statement of this report.

On 30 September 2024, the Company entered into the guarantee
agreement with Mr. Huang, pursuant to which Mr. Huang agreed to
provide guarantees to the Company or any of its designated subsidiaries
for their obligations in respect of loan facilities obtained from financial
institutions. The guarantee agreement remains in effect from the
date of the guarantee agreement to 30 September 2027, with the
maximum annual guarantee fee payable to Mr. Huang not exceeding
RMB15,000,000.

Mr. Huang is an executive Director and the Chairman of the Company.
Mr. Huang is also a substantial shareholder of the Company, beneficially
holding approximately 51.65% of the total issued share capital of the
Company. Therefore, Mr. Huang is a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the provision of
guarantee services provided by Mr. Huang to the Group pursuant to the
guarantee agreement constitutes financial assistance received by the
Group from a connected person. Details are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 30 September 2024 and 15 October 2024. The
annual cap of service fee for 2024 was agreed to be RMB3,750,000,
and the total actual amount incurred was RMB3,420,000, which did not
exceed the annual cap.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected
transactions conducted during the year and confirmed that such
transactions (a) were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group; (b) were on normal commercial terms or better
terms; and that (c) the agreements governing the transactions were
entered into in a fair and reasonable manner and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole, and such transactions have
been carried out in accordance with the agreements governing the
transactions.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board has engaged
the auditors of the Company to conduct a proper work on the above
continuing connected transactions. The auditors have issued a letter
containing their conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions of the Group disclosed above and their findings that there
is no non-compliance with the Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The
Board hereby adds that the auditors of the Company confirm that the
continuing connected transactions (i) were approved by the Board; (ii)
in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Group for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group; (iii) were conducted pursuant to the relevant agreements for such
transactions; and (iv) did not exceed the caps.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the
transactions set out above.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, where the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Tax Relief and Exemption
The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.
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Non-competition Undertaking

On 1 February 2016, Mr. Huang and Risun, the controlling Shareholders
of the Company, entered into a deed of non-competition in favour of the
Company (for itself and on behalf of all members of the Group), pursuant
to which they undertook, subject to the restrictions and certain exceptions
as mentioned in the Prospectus, that they would not, and would procure
that none of their associates (other than any member of our Group) will,
directly or indirectly, engage in any business which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with our Group’s business as described in
the Prospectus in the PRC or any other places where our Group carries on
business.

The Company has received confirmations from the controlling
Shareholders confirming their compliance with the deed of non-
competition during the Reporting Period.

Permitted Indemnity Provision
As at the date of this report, all Directors of the Company were covered
under the liability insurance purchased by the Company for its Directors.

Charitable Donations
During the Reporting Period, the Group made charitable donations of nil
(2023: nil).

Disclosure under Rule 13.20 of the Listing Rules

The Directors are not aware of any circumstances resulting in the
disclosure obligations under Rule 13.20 of the Listing Rules regarding the
provision of advance by the Company to an entity.

Continuing Disclosure Requirements under
Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules

The Directors are not aware of any circumstances resulting in the
disclosure obligations under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

Code of Conduct Regarding Directors’ Securities
Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry
of the Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with such
code of conduct throughout the Reporting Period.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 49 to 70 of this annual report.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital, the prescribed minimum percentage of public float approved
by the HKSE and permitted under the Listing Rules, are held by the public
at all times as of the date of this report.

Audit Committee

The principal duties of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) include the review and supervision of the Group’s financial
reporting system, the preparation of financial statements and internal
control procedures. It also acts as an important link between the Board
and the external auditor on matters within the scope of the group audit.

The annual results for the Reporting Period of the Company have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Auditor

Ernst & Young (“EY") resigned as auditor of the Company with effect
from 8 December 2022. CL Partners CPA Limited (“CL Partners”) has
been appointed by the Board as the new auditor of the Company with
effect from 13 December 2022 to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of EY. Details of the change of auditor have been disclosed
in the announcements of the Company dated 8 December 2022 and 13
December 2022.

Save for the above, there has been no other change of the auditor in the
past three years. A resolution for re-appointment of CL Partners as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

Significant Event after the Reporting Period

Other than the above, the Board is not aware of any material event
requiring disclosure that has occurred subsequent to 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this report.

Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 14.36B of the
Listing Rules

Reference is made to the section headed “Acquisition of Demei
Company” in this annual report and the announcement of the Company
dated 22 March 2022 (the “2022 Announcement”) in respect of, among
others, the entering into of the equity transfer agreements (the “Equity
Transfer Agreements”) between the Purchaser and the Vendor in respect
of the sale and purchase of the entire equity interest in Demei Company.
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As disclosed in the 2022 Announcement, pursuant to the Equity Transfer
Agreements, the third installment of RMB18,900,000 shall be paid by
Sichuan Sinco Biological Technology Co., Ltd. in a lump sum within 30
days upon the official issuance of each audit data of Demei Company
after the end of all the performance commitment years of 2022 (from
the Completion Date to 31 December 2022), 2023 (for the period from
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023) and 2024 (for the period from
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024). If the target net profit of any
year has not been achieved, the third installment shall be reduced in
accordance with the Equity Transfer Agreements.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 22 March
2022, pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreements, the specific target
results which shall be achieved for each year are as follows (the net profit
for each year below is hereinafter referred to as the “annual target net
profit”):

(1) the audited net profit after the deduction of non-recurring profit and
loss shall not be less than RMB5.0 million (RMB5,000,000) for 2022.

(2)  the audited net profit after the deduction of non-recurring profit and
loss shall not be less than RMB8.5 million (RMB8,500,000) for 2023.

(3) the audited net profit after the deduction of non-recurring profit
and loss shall not be less than RMB10.6 million (RMB10,600,000) for
2024.

According to the audit data, if the actual annual net profit of Demei
Company for 2022, 2023 and 2024 > 80% of the annual target net profit
and the sum of the actual net profit for the three years > the sum of the
target net profit for the three years, Sichuan Sinco Biological Technology
Co., Ltd. shall pay the third installment in full.

Based on the information available, the actual net profit after the
deduction of non-recurring profit and loss of Demei Company for 2023
is RMB8.7 million. The actual annual net profit of Demei Company for
2023 > 80% of the annual target net profit for 2023. Therefore, the third
installment will not be adjusted for the time being.

On behalf of the Board
Huang Xiangbin
Chairman

Sichuan, the PRC, 22 April 2025
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has always complied with
all applicable code provisions under the CG Code. The key corporate
governance principles and practices of the Company are outlined later
in this report. The Company will continue to review and monitor its
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

Purpose, Values and Strategy

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is integral to attain its vision
and strategy. It is the Board's role to foster a corporate culture with the
following core principles and to ensure that the Company’s goal, values
and business strategies are aligned to it. The Group strives to maintain
high standards of business ethics and corporate governance across all
our activities and operations. The Directors, management and staff are all
required to act lawfully, ethically and responsibly. Trainings are conducted
from time to time to reinforce the required standards in respect of ethics
and integrity.

The Board

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees
the Group's strategic decisions and monitors the Group’s business and
performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for
daily management and operation of the Group to the senior management
of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs,
the Board has established four Board committees including the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the internal control and corporate governance committee (the
"ICCG Committee”) (together, the “Board Committees”). The Board
has delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect of
legal action against the Directors. The insurance coverage will be reviewed
on an annual basis.
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Board Composition and Mechanisms Ensuring
Independent Views and Input Available to the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and four independent non-executive
Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Huang

Mr. Huang Zhijian (appointed with effect from 26 March 2024)
Mr. Lei Shifeng

Non-executive Director
Ms. Jing Huan (appointed with effect from 24 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lau Ying Kit

Mr. Wang Qing

Mr. Liu Wenfang

Mr. Bai Zhizhong

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
"“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has been in compliance with
the requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has also complied with the requirements under Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will
be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) to ensure that the Company will,
when determining the composition of the Board, consider Board diversity
in terms of, among other things, age, gender, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. The Board
Diversity Policy sets out the approach towards achieving diversity on the
Board. Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, all Board appointments will
be based on merits, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. The
establishment of Board Diversity Policy ensures that independent views
and input are made available to the Board. To ensure that independent
non-executive Directors can provide independent views and input to
the Board, the independence of independent non-executive Directors is
assessed by the Nomination Committee at the time of their appointment
and on an annual basis.
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As each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company
considers all of them to be independent parties.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the mechanisms ensuring independent views and
input available to the Board and is of the view that the mechanisms
worked well to ensure that the Board had access to independent views
and input.

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ biographies set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report,
none of the Directors has any personal relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationship) with any other
Director and chief executive.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professional skills to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the ICCG Committee.

As the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the number and
nature of offices held in public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments as well as the identity and the time involved to
the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments and
any subsequent change to the Company in a timely manner.

Mr. Huang Zhijian and Ms. Jing Huan have been appointed as the
executive Director and non-executive Director respectively, with effect
from 26 March 2024 and 24 December 2024 respectively. They have
obtained the legal advice referred to the Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on
8 March 2024 and 24 December 2024 respectively. They have confirmed
that they understood their obligations as a director of the Company.

Gender Diversity

As of 31 December 2024, approximately 40% and 60% of the Group’s
employees were male and female, respectively. The Group recognises
the value of gender diversity to promote a diverse and inclusive working
environment and welcomes male and female representation at all levels.
However, the Group currently does not consider it appropriate to set
any specific gender target for its workforce. As an equal opportunity
employer, the Group also takes into account other relevant factors in its
hiring decisions and considers that the gender ratio of the workforce of
the Group is appropriate for its current business model and operational
needs.
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Dividend Policy
The Group adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 21
December 2018. A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.

The Dividend Policy is to consider the payment of dividends, to allow
Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves for the Group'’s future growth.

The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

- the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

—  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the subsidiaries of the Group;

—  the Group’s liquidity position;

—  general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on
the business or financial performance and position of the Company;
and

- other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The payment of dividend is also subject to certain restrictions under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association.
The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy from time to time
and there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction training
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities
under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
arranges regular seminars to provide Directors with updates on latest
development and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and
regulatory requirements from time to time. The Directors are also provided
with regular updates on the Company’s performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge
his/her duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated and
provided written training materials relating to the roles, functions and
duties of a Director.

52 Sinco Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

BREBER
AREBER2018412 21 B ERM MK E B R ([ A% B
R o ZBRHBEHEZNT -

REBRENERERRERS  AERREDZAR
REINEZE  TAREERKRNZRRE
e

EFEgNERAFFRNREMBEZERTIIEE

— ARANERRBMPBERR

— ARARFEEEHBARNRERNEAHS
IfEE

- AEENRBESMR
—RIEEEN - AEREERBHEB AR EAR]

BERER R R EB I BRE FARRH A ER eI
BREE &

P

- EFERANMEBEMEMEE -

BB HR TR B 2 B S A RDAR MAABERAAN
ETRS - EFGBRHBE TR R BBER » RS
RERBEAEEMRIRNEMFESREORSE -

ABRIFEERER

BMRTESHRREHMBOABIZIIRER - AR
RN FTDBEAR B EE R EBA R FRIENR
BUED] R - RAIRERAENEE - NQFIN
REZZHTEHHBE  NAAHLEMRUREMT R
HENZEREERENENBERREENRIE
B BENEENRHERARARRE  MAKR
RHER  NEREFSREBLSEFTETHER

o

mt =

\

ARREBEE2EFEFERR - WEEREHA
BN IR e AR RRIME TR EH MR ERE
ENAL  BEEMBENSEEIIME -



Corporate Governance Report T¥E 8

According to the information provided by the Directors, a summary BIEEEFIRMEHNER - EERNEZE 2024912 A31
of training received by the Directors throughout the year ended 31 B IFEEEEFAESHEIBHENT
December 2024 is as follows:

Nature of Continuous
Professional

Development Programmes

Name of Director BFESXERRTENNTE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Huang =mhA A, C&D A-CKED
Mr. Huang Zhijian (appointed with effect AR AE (202453 A26H
from 26 March 2024) EZRE) cC&D CKkD
Mr. Lei Shifeng ERun= 3t A, C&D A-CED
Non-executive Director FHITEE
Ms. Jing Huan (appointed with effect WE £ (72202412 A24H
from 24 December 2024) BEZT) cC&D CKkD
Independent Non-executive Directors HUHMTEE
Mr. Lau Ying Kit BIRGEEE A, B,C&D AB-CKD
Mr. Wang Qing pai-pte A,B,C&D A-B-CKD
Mr. Liu Wenfang B35 e A/ B,C&D AB-CED
Mr. Bai Zhizhong ab e A, C&D ACED
Notes: Biat -
A.  Attending seminars and/or meetings and/or forums and/or briefings A HEEBER/KEFERURER KRS
B.  Giving talks in the seminars and/or meetings and/or forums B. RBER SEHK NmE LIRS

C.  Attending training relevant to the Company’s business conducted by lawyers C. /BB EMMEN RN RSB

D.  Reading materials relevant to corporate governance, Director’s duties and D. FlIEAMGXER ZEBHELESE - EWRAIRE

responsibilities, the Listing Rules and other relevant ordinances i #8 B A4 AL
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FRERITHAER

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of Chairman and BB EE S SFRIMSTFRNEX S C.2. 116 » E/FERITH
chief executive officer should be separate and performed by different AN AGEERESD @ LEHETEALET-
individuals.

During the Reporting Period, the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive ~ RIREEIR » EFELRTREZNARE TAED I H
Officer were separated and held by different individuals to ensure a R A TIET @ ARERIE N E#ERFE - ARFIES
balance of power and authority. The Chairman of the Board of Directors & xE[EAELLE - MARRTTHRAE A LE -

of the Company is Mr. Huang and the Chief Executive Officer of the

Company is Mr. Jin.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from their respective date
of appointment subject to termination as provided in the service contract.

The non-executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of one year commencing from the date of the service
agreement, which may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice
in writing served by either party to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from their respective date of appointment.

The appointments of executive Directors, non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association and
the applicable Listing Rules.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-election
of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation and shall be eligible for re-election and re-appointment
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
at every AGM, and any new Director appointed to fill a causal vacancy or
as an addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself for re-election by
Shareholders at the next general meeting after appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-election
of Directors and succession planning for Directors.
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Board Meetings

The Company intends to hold Board meetings regularly, at least four times
a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of not less than
fourteen days will be given for all regular Board meetings to provide all
Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda
for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
despatched to the Directors or Board Committee members at least
three days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time
to review the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings.
When Directors or Board Committee members are unable to attend a
meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given
an opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior to the
meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the joint company secretary
with copies circulated to all Directors for information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board Committee meeting are/will be sent to the Directors for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is
held. Minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by Directors.

During the Reporting Period, 4 Board meetings and 1 general meeting
were held and the attendance records of each Director are set out below:
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=
ER L FREEEIAT

Attended/

Eligible to attend

the general meeting(s)

Attended/
Eligible to attend

the Board meeting(s)

EHE AIHE BHE AHE
Directors BEEEEERY REREIRE
Mr. Huang H5hA 4/4 11
Mr. Huang Zhijian (appointed with effect EEBEE(R2024F3A26H 4/4 11
from 26 March 2024) ERE)
Mr. Lei Shifeng BRI AE 4/4 11
Ms. Jing Huan (appointed with effect ARz (7220244F 12 A24R 11 0/0
from 24 December 2024) BZE)
Mr. Lau Ying Kit BH I E 4/4 1/1
Mr. Wang Qing TR A 4/4 11
Mr. Liu Wenfang B35 kA 4/4 11
Mr. Bai Zhizhong AERLE 4/4 1/1
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
dealings in the Company'’s securities.

Specific enquiry has been made of all Directors and the Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code during the
Reporting Period.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision rights over all major matters of the
Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters,
overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict
of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant financial and operational matters. Directors could have recourse
to seek independent professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to consult with the
Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the management.
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Corporate Governance Function and ICCG Committee

The ICCG Committee currently comprises five members, including
one executive Director, namely Mr. Lei Shifeng and four independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Ying Kit (chairman), Mr. Liu
Wenfang, Mr. Wang Qing and Mr. Bai Zhizhong.

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of all Directors and delegates the corporate governance
duties to the ICCG Committee, which includes, without limitation:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the
Company;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors of the
Company;

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report of the Company (the “Corporate
Governance Report”); and

(f)  to oversee the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems on an on-going basis and ensure that a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Company and its subsidiaries has been conducted at least
annually and report to Shareholders that it has done so in its
Corporate Governance Report. The review shall cover all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls.

The written terms of reference of the ICCG Committee are available on
the websites of the HKSE and the Company.
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During the Reporting Period, 2 ICCG Committee meetings were held and
the attendance records are set out below:

Directors

Mr. Lei Shifeng BEgEE
Mr. Lau Ying Kit B AGER &
Mr. Wang Qing pasiPirtas
Mr. Liu Wenfang B EAE
Mr. Bai Zhizhong HEFREE

REBERA - HBT2RABEG REXERE
3 HECHEEHINMT

m
8

\
V.

Attendance/

Number of meeting(s)

HERS, ERRE

2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises four members, namely Mr. Lau Ying Kit
(chairman), Mr. Liu Wenfang, Mr. Wang Qing and Mr. Bai Zhizhong, all of
them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include but not limited to the
following:

(@) to review the relationship with the auditor by reference to the
work performed by the auditor, its fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the auditor;

(b) to review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the auditor before submission to the Board;
and

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management
system and associated procedures, including the adequacy of the
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the HKSE and the Company.

In addition, the Audit Committee had reviewed, discussed and approved

the annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the interim
results for the period ended 30 June 2024 during the Reporting Period.
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During the Reporting Period, 3 Audit Committee meetings were held
and the attendance records of the Audit Committee meeting are set out
below:

Directors

Mr. Lau Ying Kit B GER &
Mr. Wang Qing pasiPirtas
Mr. Liu Wenfang B EAE
Mr. Bai Zhizhong HEFREE

RB|EMA - KBITIRERZEEEH -
SEENLFLCEEIINT

Attendance/

Number of meeting(s)

FERY, EERE

3/3
3/3
3/3
3/3

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises four members,
including one executive Director, namely Mr. Lei Shifeng, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Qing (chairman),
Mr. Liu Wenfang and Mr. Bai Zhizhong.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include but not
limited to the following:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration;

2. toreview and approve performance-based remuneration with
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board;

3. to determine the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management. These include benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
cancellation of appointment;

4.  to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;
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to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
cancellation of appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for their misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as defined in

ZEABLBARXNNHS - RARRFHEA
ENEME - ARAEEEM T BB

E REEMITES RS R E I B BRIk
RIFBBSREUER ERNNEEE - ARRERER
BRGR—B BRERSQOERLET B &
BIRARFMARBZ

o

et RAEEFERETRAKRE MEBEREXE RS
RO ERS - NERBERS QR —30 &
REEANERET 2 RENTERERE ;

HRYBEZFEEMBREA(ERR LHRA)

the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; SHEETFTHERFHNEFH 0 &

and

B R RE EHRAE17EBTEBERN
FHEIMEER -

9. to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under 9.
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are  HMEZE S e E@MBESE D HN BB A RAA
available on the websites of the HKSE and the Company. EEED

During the Reporting Period, 3 Remuneration Committee meetings were ~ RIREER - KBTI NFWEEReE  HE D
held and the attendance records are set out below: FHmT

Attendance/

Number of meeting(s)

Directors HERE ERERE
Mr. Lei Shifeng Eg A 3/3
Mr. Wang Qing AR A 3/3
Mr. Bai Zhizhong BERTE 3/3
Mr. Liu Wenfang RIS AE 3/3
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members,
including one executive Director, namely Mr. Huang (chairman), and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Liu Wenfang and Mr.
Lau Ying Kit.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations to the Board on any proposed changes to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

2. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

3. toassess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the chief executive officer;
and

5.  toreview the Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
a number of criteria such as integrity, experience, skills and ability to
commit time and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to the
Board for decision. The written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are available on the websites of the HKSE and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, 3 Nomination Committee meetings were

held and the attendance records are set out below:

Directors

Mr. Huang mEA

Mr. Lau Ying Kit B fER &
Mr. Liu Wenfang B35

REZEE

RAZERANASARE  EE—RRTESHAE
(EE) - ARREBILIFNITERRIOS e R BIR
BESEAE -

REZEENTIZBEBHENUTEE

1. BFELRN-REFENER - ABKEK
(BFEREE - MRRER)  XMESARATNDE

ERBATRMENENEERESSREHERER
B

2. YEABSBEERMALHEESENE - Wt
ERAHBAEEEHABETRERNEFSREM
HEER

3. AMEEIMIFITESAEMLIE

4. HREEREFZEEERESF(LEEIERT
B METHERNESSRHEHERER &

5. BRAEESEITBUR
EREEREASETE  BIE
uﬂ% ,ZE%A ?SZQE&EE TEE TS I B B TR I R A B
MEEH BEREBEEBEAREEZSRE - 125
ZESHEERESECHNEEHIMIRAA RSB
Uf o

RIMEMA  ERIT3NIRBEZELSEE  HFELHK
%z’ilﬂl
Attendance/
Number of meeting(s)
HERE EERE
3/3
3/3
3/3
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Nomination Policy

1

3

62

Objective

1.1 The Nomination Committee shall review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board at least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy.

1.2 The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates
to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations to
Shareholders for election as Director at general meetings or
appoint him/her as Director to fill causal vacancies.

1.3 The nomination policy of the Company (the “Nomination
Policy”) helps the Nomination Committee and the Board to
ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Group’s business.

Selection Criteria

2.1 The factors listed below would be used as reference by
the Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate:

(1)  Reputation for integrity;

(2) Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest; and

(3) Diversity of the Board in all its aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age (above 18 years old), cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

These factors are for reference only, and are not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the
discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

Nomination Procedures
3.1 Appointment of Directors
(1) The Nomination Committee identifies individual(s)
suitably qualified to become Board members, having due
regard to the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy, and assesses the independence of the proposed
independent non-executive Director(s) as appropriate.

(2) The Nomination Committee makes recommendation(s) to
the Board.

Sinco Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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(3) The Board considers the individual(s) recommended by
the Nomination Committee after having due regard to
the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy.

(4) The Board confirms the appointment of the individual(s)
as Director(s) or recommends the individual(s) to stand
for election at a general meeting. Individual(s) appointed
by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board will also be subject to re-election
by Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM, in accordance
with the Article of Association.

(5) The Shareholders approve the election of individual(s),
who stand(s) for election at general meetings, as
Director(s).

3.2 Re-appointment of Directors
(1)  The Nomination Committee considers each retiring
Director, having due regard to the Nomination Policy and
the Board Diversity Policy, and assesses the independence
of each retiring independent non-executive Director.

(2)  The Nomination Committee makes recommendation(s) to
the Board.

(3) The Board considers each retiring Director recommended
by the Nomination Committee after having due regard to
the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy.

(4) The Board recommends the retiring Directors to stand for
re-election at the AGM in accordance with the Articles of
Association.

(5) The Shareholders approve the re-election of Directors at
the AGM.

3.3 The Board shall have the ultimate responsibility for all matters
relating to the selection and appointment of Directors.

4 Review of the Nomination Policy
4.1 The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination
Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to
the Board for consideration and approval.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management
Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report. The remunerations
of senior management, whose biographies are set out on pages 25 to 31
of this annual report, for the Reporting Period are set out below:

Remuneration band (RMB)

1,000,000 - 2,000,000
Below 1,000,000

FMEE (ARW)

EERSREEEH M
EEHMFBENAFREAMBHERMES - 2R
EEE(RENEERNAFRESE3NE)RIREN
MEVEE ST -

Number of individual

AE

1,000,000%2,000,000 f
1,000,000LA

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting
in Respect of Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 which give a true and
fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s
business and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with
monthly updates on Company’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group'’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 75 to 77 of this annual report.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board for
maintaining an adequate risk management and internal control systems
to safeguard Shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets and
reviewing the effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis. During
the Year, there was no significant change to the Group’s operations and
business, as well as the environment in which the Group operated. The
Group's risk management and internal control systems remain adequate
and effective.
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The Group’s internal audit department plays a major role in monitoring
the internal governance of the Company. The major tasks of the internal
audit department are reviewing the financial conditions and internal
control of the Company and conducting comprehensive audits of all
branches and subsidiaries of the Company on a regular basis.

During the Year, the internal audit department has conducted an annual
review of the risk management and internal control systems. The results
of the review were reported by the internal audit department to ICCG
Committee and the Board, based on which the Directors concluded that,
the risk management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate during the Year and the Group has complied with the provisions
in the CG Code regarding risk management and internal control.

Main Characteristics of the Risk Management and
Internal Control Systems

The Group's risk management framework is structured in the following
“Three Lines of Defense” model as a guide:

AEENAREXBIEERARTABE G EHE
FEZAE - ANEXHPINEIERAERRIAAR
HBA TS AR B BB - 36 B E B R AR A A B AT
BOXHBERKBAR -

RAEE - AEREZERPIE B B I M A ERE I &
FUETTHFERA - NEPEZXABFIE RAAEHEH Kb E
ERREENETSERMINAR EFRUAAN
FENRREEMABZENRREREATRE - ~&H
BEETERERTIEBEREERAGES AR

E °

REREERABEFHRENEREEH

AEFENRRERIERATESIRO = BRRIER
(= E

Board of Directors

=g

iy

i)

ICCG Committee
AHES REREERERE

Audit Committee
BZELZE®

i) i)

{3

2nd Line of Defence:
Risk Management and Internal Control Team
BB ¢ R E TR R A Bb e I E

3rd Line of Defence:
Internal Audit Department
E= B - NEREZEDMT

{3

1st Line of Defence:
All Business Departments
FE—BIAR - SEBIHM

The Board acknowledges its responsibility of overseeing the Group's
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness at least annually through the ICCG Committee and the Audit
Committee. Such review covers all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls. Such risk management and internal
control systems can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed to manage,
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

EFEeRAHEARAERAKERREERABIES
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The Board has completed its annual review of the internal control and risk
management systems of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024, with all the above major control aspects covered.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and considered
the risk management and internal control systems to be effective and
adequate.

The ICCG Committee and the Audit Committee assist the Board to fulfill
its responsibilities of risk management and internal control, ensuring
adequate resources, staff qualifications and experience, staff training
courses and related budgets for the Group in executing its accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions. The committees also
considered the important investigation results concerning the matters of
risk management and internal control, reported to and raised suggestions
to the Board.

1st Line of Defense

By preparing a risk list with risk control responsibility allocated to
departments, the Group is able to deliver risk management across all
the business departments. These departments continuously review and
assess the risks that may have a potential impact on corporate operation,
and effectively execute the process control for business according to the
respective functions and departmental regulations, all in a bid to raise the
efficiency in risk management.

2nd Line of Defense

Composed of nominated department managers and senior management,
the Risk Management and Internal Control Team (the “Team”) organises
business departments to identify, assess and manage the risks that
may have a potential impact on corporate operation, and ensures the
implementation of proper measures and internal control regulations to
address major risks. In the meantime, the Team monitors risks and takes
measures to reduce the risks in daily operation, provides timely response
to and follow up of the investigation results of internal control from
the internal audit department (the “Internal Audit Department”), and
confirms to the Board as to the effectiveness of such risk management
and internal control systems.
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3rd Line of Defense
The Internal Audit Department executes the actual review procedure, to
collect the evidence on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, and report the review results
to the ICCG Committee.

In addition, the Internal Audit Department raises suggestions to the Board
and the management, to address major institutional inadequacies or any
control loopholes spotted.

Procedures Applied to Identifying, Assessing and
Managlng Major Risks
Determining the scope: preparing uniform risk terms and risk
assessment standards for the Group

- Risk identification: identifying the risks that may have a potential
impact on corporate operation

—  Risk assessment: considering risks in respect of the degree of
importance of their impact on business and the possibility of their
occurrence, and assessing the risks identified

—  Risk management: establishing risk management policies and
internal control procedures to avert or reduce risks

—  Risk monitoring and reporting: continuously monitoring relevant
risks, ensuring proper procedures of internal control, and regularly
reporting to the management and the Board on the results of risk
monitoring

Whistleblowing Policy

The Board adopted a whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing Policy”)
in April 2015 and further updated it in March 2021 and May 2023.
The purpose of the Whistleblowing Policy is to (i) foster a culture of
compliance, ethical behaviour and good corporate governance across
the Group; and (ii) promote the importance of ethical behaviour and
encourage the reporting of misconduct, unlawful and unethical behavior.

The nature, status and the results of the complaints received under
the Whistleblowing Policy are reported to the chairman of the Audit
Committee or the human resource director of the Group. No incident of
fraud or misconduct that have material effect on the Group’s financial
statements or overall operation for the year ended 31 December 2024 has
been discovered.

The Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed annually by the Audit Committee to
ensure its effectiveness.
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Anti-corruption Policy

The Board adopted an anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-corruption Policy”)
in April 2015 and further updated it in March 2021 and May 2023. The
Group is committed to achieving the highest standards of integrity and
ethical behaviour in conducting business. The Anti-corruption Policy
forms an integral part of the Group’s corporate governance framework.
The Anti-corruption Policy sets out the specific behavioural guidelines
that the Group’s personnel and business partners must follow to combat
corruption. It demonstrates the Group’s commitment to the practice of
ethical business conduct and the compliance of the anti-corruption laws
and regulations that apply to its local and foreign operations. In line with
this commitment and to ensure transparency in the Group's practices,
the Anti-corruption Policy has been prepared as a guide to all Group
employees and third parties dealing with the Group.

The Anti-corruption Policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align
with the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best
practice.

Function of Internal Audit

The Group's Internal Audit Department plays a major role in monitoring
the internal governance of the Company. The Internal Audit Department's
main responsibilities are to review the financial conditions and internal
control of the Company and all its subsidiaries, communicate with
department managers and senior management on the identified problems,
non-compliance issues and inadequacies, and jointly prepare rectification
and improvement solutions. The Internal Audit Department also follows
up such rectification results, and reports to the ICCG Committee and the
Audit Committee.

Information Disclosure System

The Group has formulated its information disclosure system, to ensure the
identification and confidentiality of potential inside information until it is
disclosed according to the Listing Rules in a consistent and timely manner.
The procedures for publishing and processing inside information include:

o Business department managers as the people in charge of
information reporting;

e  Senior management as the people in charge of the information
confidentiality of their respective business segments;

e  The Board as the party in charge of information disclosure; and

e The Investor Relations Department and the Company Secretary as
the parties responsible for managing information disclosure, the
reporting, audit and disclosure of information which needs public
announcement, and keeping scanned copies of such information
disclosure documents and announcements.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

The remunerations for the annual audit services and non-audit services
provided by the auditor to the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024 were approximately RMB2.3 million and RMB0.91 million
respectively.

Company Secretary

With effect from 26 March 2024, Mr. Li Kin Wai has resigned as the joint
company secretary of the Company and an authorised representative of
the Company under Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules. Following Mr. Li Kin
Wai’s resignation, Ms. Peng Yunlu, the other joint company secretary will
remain in office as the sole company secretary of the Company. Ms. Peng
has also been appointed as the authorised representative with effect from
26 March 2024 in replacement of Li Kin Wai. For details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 26 March 2024.

During the Reporting Period, Ms. Peng Yunlu (“Ms. Peng”), is the
company secretary of the Company, is responsible for advising the Board
on corporate governance matters and ensuring that the Board policies
and procedures, as well as the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Peng and Mr. Li have
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Communication with Shareholders and Investor Relations
The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies. The
Company also recognises the importance of timely and non-selective
disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to
make the informed investment decisions. During the Reporting Period, the
Board has considered and reviewed the communication mechanism with
investors (Shareholders included) and considers it to be effective.

The AGM provides opportunity for the Shareholders to communicate
directly with the Directors. The Chairman of the Company and the
chairmen of the Board Committees will attend the AGM to answer
Shareholders’ questions. The auditor will also attend the AGM to answer
guestions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of
the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company updated the
shareholders’ communication policy on 28 March 2025 which aims at
establishing a two-way relationship and communication between the
Company and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company
at www.sinco-pharm.com, where up-to-date information on the
Company’s business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access.
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Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution will
be proposed for each issue at general meetings, including the election of
individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the HKSE as and when appropriate after
each general meeting.

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general
meeting of the Company according to the Articles of Association. Any
one or more members holding together, as at date of deposit of the
requisition, shares representing not less than one-tenth of the voting
rights, on a one vote per share basis, of the Company which carry the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or company secretaries of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to
convene such meeting shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures
are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the headquarters
of the Company at E5-1805, Global Centre, No. 1700, North Section of
Tianfu Avenue, High-Tech Zone, Chengdu, Sichuan, PRC (Email address:
sinco-pharm@sinco-pharm.com).

Change in Constitutional Documents

During the Reporting Period, there were no significant changes in the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AR A SIS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{Z=2024F 12 A31BILFE

N
& CL Partners
N/

To the shareholders of Sinco Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sinco
Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 78 to 177,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA™). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code"”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

BRESSH

RRETSERE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENETNAREBREENSEH

Revenue recognition

BB W

The Group recognises revenue when the amount can be
reliably estimated, when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity and the control of the goods
is transferred to the buyer. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group recognised revenue of RMB2,821,321,000.
Some terms of sales arrangements with customers including the
timing of transfer of control of goods, delivery specifications,
generate complexity and judgement in determining sales
revenues and revenue cut-off. The risk is, therefore, that
revenue is not recognised in the correct period or that revenue
and the associated profit is misstated.

The Group's disclosures about revenue is included in notes 2.4,
3 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition
included:

° understanding the revenue recognition policy;

° reviewing sales contracts and supplementary agreements
to check the relevant key terms of revenue recognition;

° performing analytical procedures by comparing the unit
selling price, the sales volumes and gross margin to that
in prior years by products and by month;

e obtaining confirmation from key customers and reviewing
the reconciliation of any material difference by checking
to related documents;

e performing the cut-off test for revenue recognised
before and subsequent to the end of reporting period
so as to check whether revenue is accounted for in the

appropriate period; and

° assessing the disclosures regarding the revenue
recognition.
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Key audit matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

RARETSERE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ARETER

Impairment of goodwill

BB E

We identified the impairment of goodwill as a key audit
matter due to the significance to the consolidated financial

statements as a whole and significant judgement involved in
the management’s assessment process.

As disclosed in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements, the net carrying amounts of goodwill at 31
December 2024 was RMB66,536,000. In estimating the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill have been allocated, the management has made a
number of key assumptions in the value in use calculation. The
key assumptions include growth rates, discount rates applied
and the forecast performance based on management’s view of
future business prospects.

ESHRENREEEAWRENSE  REAEYERES
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EENETNAREBRENSE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment of goodwill
included:

3 Evaluating the independent external valuer's competence,
capabilities and objectivity;

e Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions based
on our knowledge of the business and industry;

e Evaluating the historical accuracy and the growth rate of
the financial budget used in the discounted cash flows by
comparing the historical budget to actual results;

e Testing a selection of data inputs underpinning the cash
flow forecasts against appropriate supporting evidence,
such as approved budgets and signed contracts, to assess
the accuracy and reliability;

e Obtaining an understanding of the management’s control
procedures of the impairment assessment and assessing
the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and the judgement
involved in determining assumptions to be applied;

e Assessing the sensitivity analysis prepared by management
on the significant assumptions to evaluate the extent of
impact on the discounted cash flows; and

Assessing whether the disclosures of impairment
assessment in the consolidated financial statements are
sufficient and appropriate.
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Other information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors and those charged
with governance for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the

consolidated financial statements (Continued)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the Group’s financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

CL Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lee Wai Chi

Practising Certificate Member: P07830
Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income

meBmRkAtEERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 EZE2024%12A31HIEFE

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREETTT
REVENUE & 4 2,821,321 2,540,063
Cost of sales HE MR (2,521,380) (2,216,783)
Gross profit EF 299,941 323,280
Other income and gains H AW R 5 21,363 14,625
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RASIHR X (63,924) (93,713)
Administrative expenses ITHAX (125,994) (108,862)
Reversal of (provision for) impairment losses 2 S e IEREERE
on trade receivables, net Bm () F8 3,922 (4,245)
Other expenses and losses HibFAZ kEE (14,822) (13,770)
Changes in fair value of contingent b NS NG = Ex =1
consideration at fair value through SARERTFEZE)
profit or loss 25 (4,922) (3,000)
Finance costs IR IDTN 6 (16,644) (14,434)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBE AR 7 98,920 99,881
Income tax expense FriSfif > 9 (56,875) (57,529)
PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FREMNRZERE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR Lk 42,045 42,352
Attributable to owners of the Company NARER ARG 42,045 42,352

Earnings per share attributable to owners QA F#HEA A

of the Company: EBESRER :

Basic BN

— For profit for the year (RMB) —FRRMARE) 10 0.02 0.02
Diluted e

— For profit for the year (RMB) —FREMNARE) 10 0.02 0.02
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI AR

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2024

RMB’000
ARBT R

2023
RMB’000

ARETTT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ R MR 11 297,703 279,083
Investment property K& 12 5,961 6,139
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13 73,655 75,125
Other intangible assets Hih\mpEE 14 41,947 27,109
Goodwill EES 24 66,536 66,536
Deferred tax assets R IR & B 15 2,422 3,403
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 488,224 457,395
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 16 352,337 108,026
Trade and bills receivables E 5 R UGRIE & e E i 17 608,248 540,505
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTEIE  Hofh eI K

other assets EmEE 18 140,237 126,804
Pledged deposits [mEz SRS 19 103,057 220,026
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIRS 19 308,320 437,922
Total current assets REBEEHE 1,512,199 1,433,283
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAE
Trade and bills payables B Z N FRIE R ER R 20 887,968 866,585
Contract liabilities aRaE 21 27,731 40,456
Other payables and accruals o JE < R8N e S 08 22 49,368 53,862
Bank borrowings RITER 23 340,857 240,857
Tax payables FESHIE 20,589 26,444
Lease liabilities HEAE 13 5,139 3,833
Total current liabilities mENEEEE 1,331,652 1,232,037
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEEFE 180,547 201,246
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERGABEE 668,771 658,641

2024 % EHRBRERARAF
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position %24 B SRR
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREETTT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME
Bank borrowings RITERK 23 50 886
Deferred tax liabilities BIEFIEEE 15 1,351 1,800
Contingent consideration at fair value BAFESFABRORARE
through profit or loss 25 - 22,078
Lease liabilities HEaE 13 4,491 5,825
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEREE 5,892 30,589
Net assets EEFE 662,879 628,052
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of AAREE AELER
the Company
Issued capital BEITIRA 26 164 164
Reserves Ee 27 662,715 627,888
Total equity RERAEE 662,879 628,052
Huang Xiangbin Lei Shifeng
EEEW & it
Director Director
BE EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
T o TR

Year ended 31 December 2024 EZE2024% 128318 IEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

EARERAEL

Share
Issued premium Contributed Statutory Retained Total
capital account surplus reserve profits equity

BRfT ki
S nER B4R EERE REER ERiE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL ARETTL ARETTL AREFTL ARETT
(note 27(a)) (note 27(b)) (note 27(c))

2 (ﬁ)‘

At 1 January 2023 H2023%1818 164 525,225* 4,250* 29,727* 44 446* 603,812
Profit and total comprehensive income FRENREENRER

for the year - - - - 42,352 42,352
Dividends recognised as distribution REDRARE - - - - (18,112) (18,112)
At 31 December 2023 #2023E12831A 164 525,225* 4,250* 29,727* 68,686* 628,052
At 1 January 2024 20241818 164 525,225 4,250 29,721 68,686 628,052
Profit and total comprehensive income EREHREZENREE

for the year - - - - 42,045 42,045
Dividends recognised as distribution BREMRAORE - - - - (7,218) (7,218)
Transfer to statutory reserve BETETRE - - - 9,348 (9,348) -
At 31 December 2024 #2024512A31A 164 525,225* 4,250* 39,075* 94,165* 662,879

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB662,715,000  * ZERBERBESAUBERARANGEEBEARE
(2023: RMB627,888,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 662,715,0007T (20234 : AR¥627,888,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GEHEETRER

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of investment property
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of other intangible assets
Unrealised foreign exchange losses, net
Interest income from wealth management
products classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Finance costs
Bank interest income
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment loss on
trade receivables, net
Changes in fair value on contingent
consideration at fair value through
profit or loss

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

(Increase) in trade and bills receivables

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets

(Increase) in inventories

Decrease in payments in advance

Increase in trade and bills payables

(Decrease)/increase in other payables
and accruals

(Decrease) in contract liabilities

Cash (used in) generated from operations
Interest received

Hong Kong tax paid

Singapore tax paid

PRC tax paid

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from
operating activities

Year ended 31 December 2024 EZE2024% 128318 IEFE

REFTDFERERE
BRA R A
AT IR -
nE  BELREBNE
REMFFE
EREEENE
HipE\ B E#H
ABHE S ERFE
NEREAFER AR
TREENEVERDN
FLSMA
HEDE - BELRE
B (W)
BURCIZEN
RITHEBWA
B 5RO RERR
(Bm), BEFER
BAFER AR
HARBHRFEE

Reng
B S RN IA R R R (3 m)
ANFR - B EUEIA R
HiEEEMm, B
FEEM)
AR RS
B 5 ENFRIA NN
HA PR OR K R FIR
OB,/ m
arnafEoR>)

EE(ARERE
EWAE
ENEEHREA
EFTIRBIR
BENHPEBEA

RETH (A FE
REREBFHE

2024 2023
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
Bt e ARBTR AREBFIT
98,920 99,881

7 15,401 7,703
7 178 180
7 5,838 5,433
7 3,078 3,003
7 12,600 8,389
5 (205) (6)
5 1,138 (36)
16,644 14,434
5 (5.910) (5,961)
(3.922) 4,245

25 4,922 3,000
148,682 140,265
(71,980) (195,890)

(20,153) 40,639
(244,311) (19,878)

- 231

55,390 444,179

(31,494) 10,540
(12,725) (34,973)

(176,591) 385,113

5,910 5,961
- (5,786)
(1,780) (3,770)
(60,418) (27,818)

(232,879) 353,700
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 2SR E&RER
Year ended 31 December 2024 &;Z=202412A31HILFE

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of items of property, plant and
equipment

Purchase of wealth management products
classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Payments for right-of-use asset

Additions to other intangible assets

Redemption of wealth management products
classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Interest income from wealth management
products classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Proceeds for disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Net cash flows used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal portion of lease payments

Interest portion of lease payments

Interest paid

Proceeds from bank borrowings

Repayment of bank borrowings

Decrease in other payables and accruals, net

Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits

Dividend paid

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets, net

Net cash flows generated from/(used in)
financing activities

REBRBFERERE
BEME lﬂ%&aﬂ% HH

BEOIEARATERA
Bam S REER
EE#EDD

EREEENNR

//J\\Eﬁﬁijﬂﬁ/ 5%

BRI BEARATFERA

BamMerEER

B Em

DA ATEFABEN
TRIBEENEVERN

FIEMA 5
HEME - BEREE

Fi55k8

RETEHARSRETFE
RMETEAEESRE
HENROARE T D
HERNFMEEH 13
BEAFLE
RITE PSR
BRRITER
ﬁﬁﬂ]‘?kf W\IE&JE u'l'/TA

ﬁyﬁﬁ

BEEERRL, (32 )

BIRE

%EHTAIE‘ Hfth FEU SRR B2
Hin&EEm D, /(&) F8

METBRE (FTAEE
uu.Eggﬁ

2024

RMB’000
ARBT R

2023
RMB’000

ARBTT

(35,159) (29,550)
(58,500) (10,000)
= (19,880)
(17,916) (15,111)
58,500 10,000
205 6

= 909
(52,870) (63,626)
(4,404) (3,970)
(356) (453)
(16,288) (13,981)
361,100 180,015
(301,936) (120,000)
= (74,605)
116,969 (112,174)
(7,218) (18,112)
6,720 (26,449)
154,587 (189,729)

2024 F3R  FRRBEEERARAR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows #EIRERER
Year ended 31 December 2024 &;Z=202412A31HILFE

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FisE AR¥TR ARBTT

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRBELEEY (BRD)/

CASH EQUIVALENTS B hNFEEE (131,162) 100,345
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 4INGEE P 2R A ) RO B B 1,560 8,433
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FYRE RREEEY

the year 437,922 329,144
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRESR

END OF THE YEAR ReZEY 308,320 437,922
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERBELEEY

CASH EQUIVALENTS EERDN
Bank balances and cash as stated in the e MBI RFAFRITREER R

consolidated statement of financial position e 19 308,320 437,922

Cash and cash equivalents as stated inthe HZEHEREBRFIRER
consolidated statement of cash flows BEZEEY 308,320 437,922
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R MR

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

Corporate and Group Information

Sinco Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 March
2015. The controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company are Mr. Huang and Risun Investments Limited
(“Risun”). The registered office address of the Company is P.O. Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong is located at
Room 2403, Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Hong
Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in marketing, promotion, channel
management activities for the sale of imported human plasma-
based pharmaceuticals, antibiotics and other pharmaceuticals
focused on therapeutic areas and complementary to human plasma
based products and other fast-growing categories, research and
development of aesthetic medicine and provision of medical beauty
services in Mainland China (the “PRC").

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's
principal activities during the year.

AR REEER

FIRIR B IR AR AR ([ AAF]) AR2015
FI3R16AEHEHEFMKNIMNBR AT °
AATERRR(ERR LEMRA) AELEER
Risun Investments Limited ([Risun]) o 2872 &]AY
FEfR I SRR b AP.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands ° 7%
NRABABEEEEMEMNEETHET 1115
KEHH2403F o

ARRIREMB AR (S NEE ) T ENHE
M ([hE DREHEEQABMT SR - 4
ENFEOABERINEA B MR R A PRE
BEBHEMOEMERNTSEH  HEKR
BEREE) - GTRBREY MIEHEXRE -

RAEE  AEBEEEBOMETREAS
£
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 Bl R FRHIEE
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued) 1. RRAIREEER(E)
Information about subsidiaries MEBARER

Particulars of the Company'’s subsidiaries are as follows: AAGINBARFBEWT :

Place and date of
incorporation/
registration and
place of business

MR SRR
EEE SR

Issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital
ERTZER/
AR A

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
NG
REED
Direct Indirect
HE Gt
% %

Principal activities

TREHR

Starwell Group Holding Limited 26 November 2013 US$50,000 100 - Investment holding
A EEERERAR BVI 50,0003 REER
2013F11H26H
ERGARES
Bright Ritzy Limited 5 August 2016 US$1 100 = Investment holding
REARAT BVI E REER
201658 A5H
EERARES
Chengdu Sinco Pharmaceuticals 17 February 2011 US$10,000,000 100 = Sale of pharmaceutical products
Co., Ltd® PRC/Mainland China 10,000,000 7T HEER
RHBERABEBR AR 201152A178
HE/ HE R
Hong Kong Prosperous Group 20 December 2013 HK$100 - 100 Sale of pharmaceutical products
Holding Limited Hong Kong 10078 7T HEER
BEEREEERERAA 2013F12A208
Glorious Empire Limited 26 August 2016 HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
BEEARAT Hong Kong 18T BEER
201658 H26H
BB
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 Bl R FRHIEE
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

NEREBER(E)
MEARERME)

1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date of
incorporation/
registration and
place of business

MR SRR
EEE SR

Issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital
ERTZER/
BTN

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
RS
BEEAL
Direct Indirect
HE EE

%

Principal activities

TERER

Sichuan Sinco Pharmaceuticals 1 April 2011 RMB100,000,000 = 100 Sale of pharmaceutical products
Co., Ltd.0 PRC/Mainland China AE100,000,0007T HEERD
M| SRR EEEREE AR 201154718
R,/ BN
Sichuan Sinco Biological Technology 25 November 2013 RMB1,000,000 - 100 Research and development on
Co., Ltd.® PRC/Mainland China AR®1,000,0007T pharmaceutical products
| ERE YN ER AR 20131174258 B
E /AR
Chengdu Sinco Pharmaceutical 26 February 2014 RMB22,000,000 = 100 Providing warehouse facilities for
Technology Co., Ltd.® PRC/Mainland China AR #22,000,0007T pharmaceutical products
RBENABERMERETAFY 2014528268 REEmEERE
HE/ B
Chengdu Hengsheng Ziguang 4 March 2015 RMB100,000 - 100 Consultation on medical and
Pharmaceutical Technology PRC/Mainland China AR%100,0007T biological technology
Co., Ltd. ("Chengdu Hengsheng")i" 201543 F4H BB R AR
KEBERLABERMEREELR  RE/HERM

(T #pERE])o

2024 % EHRBRERARAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 Bl R FRHIEE
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

1.

88

Xizang Linzhi Ziguang pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. ("Linzhi Ziguang")®

ERNE ENEEBREERA
(Mo

Sinco Shanghai Trading Co., Ltd.0
ERA( L8 BSERAFN

Qingdao Yusheng Hengying Trading
Co., Ltd.0
EERRERESERLA

Qingdao Ruichi Pharmaceuticals
Co., Ltd.0
EEmMEEEB AR

Deyang Demei Medical Beauty
Hospital Limited Company
("Demei Company")

EEEEREEARRAERAR
(MExRR o

XKR Prosperous Holding PTE. Ltd.(i
F iR EEEEERARATY

Macao Sinco Limited.™
RFEPR—-ABRARW
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Corporate and Group Information (Continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date of
incorporation/
registration and
place of business

MR E R
AASRERME

17 November 2014
PRC/Mainland China

2014F11 178
RE/ R R

25 August 2016
PRC/Mainland China

20168 A25H
hE/ R E R

15 November 2016
PRC/Mainland China

20161173158
/R E R

15 May 2007
PRC/Mainland China
200754150
HE /R

10 May 2022
PRC/Mainland China
2022%5R10H
HE /R

6 August 2020
Singapore
202048 A6H

IR

1 February 2021
Macau

202142718
bl

DRAREHER (E)

MELRER(E)

Issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital
BRTEER
AR A
Direct

B

%

RMB10,000,000
AE10,000,0007T

RMBS5,000,000 -
AR¥5,000,0007

RMB30,000,000 =
A#30,000,0007

RMB10,000,000 =
AR#10,000,0007

RMB3,000,000 100
A& 3,000,0007C

SGD10,000 =
10,000%7 i1%% 75

MOP25,000 =
BF9#25,0007T

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
NG
BREEDL
Indirect

3

Principal activities

TERE

100 Sale of Pharmaceutical products
HEEm

100 Sale of pharmaceutical products
HEER

100 Investment holding
REER

100 Sale of pharmaceutical products
HEER

= Medical beauty services

BRIR

100 Sale of pharmaceutical products
HEEM

100 International trade



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 Bl R FRHIEE
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Beijing Sinco Biological Medical
Technology Co., Ltd.®
ErERAEYERERRAR AR

Haikou Sinco Biological Medical
Technology Co., Ltd.®
BOERAEYBRERRERAR

Sheenos Limited

Sinco (Hainan) Investment
Development Co., Ltd.

ENR (M) RERRARDAD

Chengdu Hengmeisheng
Biotechnology Co., Ltd.®
REMBERENREAR AR

B ERAEEBR AR

Place and date of
incorporation/
registration and
place of business

MR E R
AASRERME

9 August 2021
PRC/Mainland China

202148 H9H
RE/FERL

29 August 2021
PRC/Mainland China

202198 A29H
RE/ R

30 November 2021
BVI

202111 A30H
REHRRES

19 July 2022
PRC/Mainland China
2022%7A19H
HE /RN

26 January 2022
PRC/Mainland China
202214268
HE /RN

15 June 2023
PRC/Mainland China

202364158
HE/HER

Issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital
BRTEER
AR A

RMB2,000,000
AE#2,000,0007T

RMB10,000,000
AE#10,000,0007T

US$50,000
50,000 7T

RMB50,000,000
AR#50,000,0007C

RMB50,000,000
AE50,000,0007T

RMB1,500,000
AE#1,500,0007T

(i) These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises

under the law of People’s Republic of China (“the PRC").

(i) These subsidiaries are registered as limited liability companies under

PRC law.

(i) The subsidiary is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under
the law of the Republic of Singapore.

(iv)  The subsidiary is registered as a one-person limited liability company

under the law of Macau.

DRAREHER (E)

Bt X B E R (

Direct

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
NG
BREEDL

HE
%

Indirect

3

100

)

M=

Principal activities

TERE

Market promotion

kg3

Market promotion

kgl

Investment holding

RARR

Investment holding

REER

Research and manufacturing of
aesthetic medicine
RERGERZEY

Market promotion
TSHHE

ZEMBARREPEARMBE([HE])EE
EMRINEBERE -

i

%
A

EHERARRETBEEZEMAETREER

Z M A AR B IR M B AR M AN ST
Bl

%M B A ARIRPDAREM S — ABRAR -

2024 % EHRBRERARAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %4 B &R R HIzE
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.1

90

Basis of Preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, which comprise
standards and interpretations approved by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB"”), and International
Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Standing Interpretations
Committee Interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Committee that remain in effect, and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
certain financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss which have been measured at fair value. These
consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB")
which is same as the functional currency of the Company and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which includes
an input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired processes
are considered substantive if they are critical to the ability to
continue producing outputs, including an organised workforce with
the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform the related
processes or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot
be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to
continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.
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FREUBHRBRRAARE(ARE ] - EARE
MEEREER) 25 MAEEEBNEER
BETT e

mERE
RAMBRRBEARAARBARD 7 REHE
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e e

EBR—RBERPREE HPER—EREAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %4 B &R R HIzE
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2.1 RBEE(E)

For reporting entities applying IFRS Standards:

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the "measurement period" (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability
is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
and measured under IFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see above),
and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed
at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised at that date.

FE R B BT s S X AR IR S B
HAKREREHEHERORELIAANER
B AREREE RSN A HERE - XIS
X atBEEREN D - TEERE
HRAFERNRANE R FEZEF BT R
AE - SEPREFAEERFFEHR | (TBLK
BRHES —F)ARSRKERNCFEEM
EERBERNBEIERTIEL AR -

TEERFTESHBARNIANBHER S
BRI - BURRBANREBHDE - DRSERK
ANERERBRERH I SENTE - HREE
REZAAR - DBREEFXRENRARER
HiglE AHEMTEE N TE - HREERE
BRBET R -

HEBAH D EERSEK - AR BT AT A 1
WETnkEeETtEs kB RHR(AEEE
BSEGIEE R NATE  EXmKaEsER
(AR E M2 E W (AER ) R - 5
AT O E At 2 RS FERR AR 1B B R B s i e 22
AIFE9SRET E M YR B HIRTA B U B 77 my g an
FELNTHE  BEAEECEREELMEAE
IRREFT AR TE FOAERI AR

HEBE HONT S REN A ARG
RIARTEK » BIREEFAI AR TR 2R IEH
FEEREELR - 2 FE T2 RN EHRH
(REX)AIEHE W - RN EEXE
& ARRESERRNEERINEFAEZERIE
MR ER - MAEZTER  SEENE BfE
RHEZER °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.1

2.2

92

Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group's cash-generating units (or group of cash-generating
units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than
an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or
more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

Changes in Accounting Standards and Disclosures
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to
IAS 7 and IFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in
the current year has had no material impact on the Groups’ financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Sinco Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

2.1

2.2

e RR M

BB ()

Gk

RSB SR BIRE TS W S BRI AR
RS (20 ) F1IEE -

FHETRENR B EEEBHSIES HFR
HiBRNERZENAEE SR CEEBMM (K
WeEEBMNAR) - B EMARIEHRA
HEEM S BERSE A MRS E D IR REK

EokmEnRNeELSM(IRSESLENA
A SFETRENAREGTRBRZLEMLA
eI ERE AT ETRENR - SARlE
HREBELNRENS - BOERENRSE
A B AL (IR A A BRI % i S B R A
TTRERE - AT e BEREAREE - Bt
DR EBBRIAREEAHENREE - KRR
FZEA(FReELBMARN)NSIBEERTE
LBl E B EE -

S ERNESHREE
RAFE  AEBEEXEANTHEE S
AR EgEMNAERE2024F1 A1 HAKRHF
[E BRI 0% il A 3 B PR B A S s ME R = 5 BB
IR - ARBUAR S IS HRER

BIPR B T R 22 R
F165R(EFTA)
IR AT ZERE 150

ERMAENEERE

RREI BRI

SCHEN) ELS/nE2)
BRgstERIF 1% MERENERBAR
(1&ETA)
Bt ERETRE HERRE R
BIFR B 3R £ Al

EVEACCHIRN)

RAEEERBBERMERE ERSTHEAERTA
HASBENAFEFBEFENT BRI RKRE
%/ Sz SRR BRRAHENRBEL EERY
-,



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 Bl R FRHIEE
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective IFRS Accounting 2.3 EEHGENRENNERMERE

Standards

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective

The Groups have not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued
but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification

and IFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial

Instruments?

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and IAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture!

Annual Improvements to IFRS

Accounting Standards — Volume 113

Amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements*

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards,
the Directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

IFRS 18 sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new IFRS Accounting Standard, while
carrying forward many of the requirements in IAS 1, introduces
new requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation of
information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some IAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7. Minor
amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IAS 33 Earnings
per Share are also made.

2R gsr A

B AEAR B 18 AR 2 300 7 5T I AR A8 T Bl PR
PR R E2E Al SRl

7SR A 52 A T B AR B R A0
AT R AR AT BB SR R B R

Gil¥ g e TRTANDEN
FORNERMBHRE  FAENEIA

RRFETHR(ERTA)

BB R S 2R REEEHBENEH
F10% R RS RERFZHNEE
RERIE285 (BRI A) HEFTE!

Gil¥ g e S Gil¥prEs I
SEHERI(ERTAK) AERIFE o —

F11%53
RERTERIE215R R Al AR
CHES!
BIRR B M ¥R R BBHREOZS R
185 R

L RFFE BB Z BB F R R AR -

2 202551 A1 Ak & MAERFEHRAER -
3 R20265F1 A1 Ak 2 & FERFE BRREAERS -
4 20271 A1 Ak 2 & FBRFEHAREAEMR -

BRITRT MRS RTRIRR B 75 s s e R st 2R RS -
AARIEERAERAMA BT REERTERE
M HREE G LN A RRRE TG HEE
MBEHRRELEATE -

BIFR B A 3R RIS 18R A IR 2
()24

B % B 75 s 5 YE R S 1 85R D A T R O 271
RBEBRE - WHBRBER S ERF 1575
HRHZT - ZHR] BRI REER G5 ER
RIEEBR & ERE 1572 BRERRIK 5| A
FRTE - BMEIR s R 253 E 85 R E R/
At EMBBRMETREEEE R ENERIE
15 ARBCEM B HRATARBEERNEAR D
1o s BREFHERIE RS TRECE
ERBRE R ER RERM R EERET
5% o MEBR ST EANETRBESRERRER
SEHERIEIZRERBFIEL D EERT -

2024 8 ERSBBERAR AT 93



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 Bl R FRHIEE
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.3

24
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Issued But Not Yet Effective IFRS Accounting
Standards (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

IFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early
application permitted. The application of the IFRS 18 is not expected
to have material impact on the financial position of the Group. The
Directors are in the process of making an assessment of the impact
of IFRS 18, but is not yet in a position to state whether the adoption
would have a material impact on the presentation and disclosures of
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Material Accounting Policy Information

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the
asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued) 2.4 EAE:5EBEER(E)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 —  based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 —  based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

96

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, and investment property), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of
an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit). In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of the assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or
value in use (if determinable).

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.
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2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its

intended use.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives of
items of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Buildings

Machinery

Office equipment

Motor vehicles
Leasehold improvements

Useful lives

34-40 years

10 years

3-5 years

4-5 years

3-5 years or over the remaining
lease term, whichever is shorter
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2.4

98

Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Construction in progress represents items of property, plant and
equipment under construction, which are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment property

Investment property is interest in buildings held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such
property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of investment properties to their residual value over their
estimated useful life of 46 years.

Any gain or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment

property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement
or disposal.
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2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued) 2.4 EAE:5EBEER(E)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised
separately form goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses
being their fair value at the date of the revaluation less subsequent
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses,
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected form use or disposal. Gains
and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued) 2.4 EAE:5EBEER(E)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

e the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

e theintention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
e the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

o how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

e the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

e the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally — generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred.

1 00 Sinco Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited ~Annual Report 2024
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2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group recognises
lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets

representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the

estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office premises and warehouse
Leasehold land

The Group elected to present right-of-use assets separately in

the consolidated statement of financial position.
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2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

AN
o=

P ERR M

24 EXREFERER(E)

HE(E)
FEBEERFANA ()
(b) #HERME

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts

expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the

lease is not readily determinable.

The Group elected to present the lease liabilities separately in

the consolidated statement of financial position.

Short-term leases

(c)

(©

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption

to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that

are those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as

an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued) 2.4 EAE:5EBEER(E)

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows.
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2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued) 2.4 EAE:5EBEER(E)

Financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI") or designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “other income and gains” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 Bl R FRHIEE
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued) 2.4 EAE:5EBEER(E)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering
the contractual cash flows.
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24 EXEFERER(E)

2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

106

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but

Stage 2 -

that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or

Stage 3 -

originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit
risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component,

the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 Bl R FRHIEE
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach (Continued)

0)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 Bl R FRHIEE
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach (Continued)

0)

(ii)

108

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment
grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach (Continued)
(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

~
%ZR/\
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2.4 EXEFHBEER(E)
EREEREE)
AL 72 (4)

(v)

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation

of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount

that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights. The Group estimates ECL for certain trade
receivables collectively taking into consideration historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward looking information that is

available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at

initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables is considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward looking

macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration

the following characteristics which formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit

risk characteristics.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount with the exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss

allowance account.

110
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 Bl R FRHIEE
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

24 EXREFERER(E)

2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Financial liabilities THREE

Initial recognition and measurement AR RETE

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as borrowings RUIETERR - SRBEEN AR AREN
and payables. I o

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,
other payables and accruals, bank borrowings and contingent
consideration at FVTPL.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, financial liabilities including bank
borrowings, trade and bills payables and other payables and accruals
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which IFRS 3 applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 Bl R FRHIEE
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued) 2.4 EAE:5EBEER(E)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average method. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 Bl R FRHIEE
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued) 2.4 EAE:5EBEER(E)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a
business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in
other comprehensive income.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 Bl R FRHIEE
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued) 2.4 EAE:5EBEER(E)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 Bl R FRHIEE
31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued) 2.4 EAE:5EBEER(E)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally
on delivery of the goods with the pharmaceuticals inspection report.

Service income

Revenue from service is recognised at the point in time upon
completion of service since the duration of the service provided is
normally within one day.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.

Other income from distribution services

Other income from distribution services is recognised when services
are completed at an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those services.

The Group is considered as an agent for its contracts with customers
relating to the sales of two specific types of human albumin solution
as the Group did not obtain the control of the products before
passing on to customers taking into consideration indicators such
as the Group is not primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise
and not exposed to inventory risk. When the Group satisfies the
performance obligation, the Group recognizes a fee revenue in the
amount it expects to be entitled as specified in the contracts.
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2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued) 2.4 EAE:5EBEER(E)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
participate in a defined central pension scheme managed by the
local municipal government of the areas in the PRC in which they
operate. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of the relevant part of the payroll of these employees
to the central pension scheme. The Group has no obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

The employees of the subsidiaries in Singapore are members of
the central provident fund board in Singapore operated by the
Government of Singapore. Payments to the central provident fund
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

In addition to the above, the Group also participates in a defined
contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for its employees in Hong Kong. The Company’s
contributions have been capped to up to HK$1,500 per month
since 1 June 2014 for each of its employees in Hong Kong and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Housing fund

Contributions to a defined contribution housing fund administered
by the Public Accumulation Funds Administration Centre in PRC are
charged to profit or loss as incurred.
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24 EXREFERER(E)

2.4 Material Accounting Policy Information (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their profit or loss is translated into RMB at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures,
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets
or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

Revenue recognition

To determine the timing of revenue recognition, the Group applies
judgements in determining the point in time at which customers
obtain control of the promised pharmaceuticals and the Group
satisfies the performance obligations. Depending on the nature
and terms of the agreements, the Group may recognise revenue
when pharmaceuticals are received by customers with the respective
pharmaceuticals inspection report or the services are transferred.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for ECLs on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is
disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRC corporate income tax (“PRC CIT”), Singapore corporate income
tax (“SG CIT”) and Hong Kong corporate income tax (“HK CIT")

The Group’s operating subsidiaries in PRC are subject to PRC CIT,
the operating subsidiary in Singapore is subject to SG CIT and the
operating subsidiary in Hong Kong is subject to Hong Kong CIT.
Objective estimates based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations
and other related policies are required in determining the provision
for PRC CIT, SG CIT and HK CIT to be made. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts originally
recorded, the differences will impact the income tax expense and
tax provision in the period in which the differences realise. The
carrying amount of tax payables as at 31 December 2024 was
RMB20,589,000 (2023: RMB26,444,000).
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of selling products of
a similar nature. Management reassesses these estimates at the end
of each reporting period. The carrying amount of inventories as at
31 December 2024 was RMB352,337,000 (2023: RMB108,026,000)
and the impairment provision for inventories for the year ended 31
December 2024 was nil (2023: nil).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses
can be utilised based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The
carrying amount of deferred tax assets at 31 December 2024 was
RMB2,422,000 (2023: RMB3,403,000). Further details are given in
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period.
Non-financial assets with definite lives are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset
or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is
the higher of its fair value less costs of sell and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction
of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwiill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated, which is
the higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The
value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit (or a
group of cash-generating units) and a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash flows or upward revision
of discount rate, a material impairment loss or further impairment
loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of goodwill is
RMB66,536,000 (2023: RMB66,536,000) (net of accumulated
impairment loss of nil (2023: nil)). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Fair value measurement of contingent consideration payable
Judgement and estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in
estimations relating to these factors could affect the reported fair
value of the contingent consideration payable. Further details are
given in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Revenue and Operating Segment Information
For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on the nature of the services and products sold or
provided, the Group has three reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@) the sale of imported pharmaceutical products segment;

(b) the research and manufacturing of aesthetic medicine
segment; and

(0)  the medical beauty services segment.

Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable segment
profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax.
The adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently with the
Group's profit before tax except that other income and gains, other
expenses and losses, finance costs not related to lease and charges
attributable to issue of letters of credit and corporate and other
unallocated expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, pledged deposits, bank
balances and cash and corporate and other unallocated assets as

these assets are managed on a group basis.
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4. Revenue and Operating Segment Information 4. WWHERE&EHIER(E)
(Continued)

Segment liabilities exclude bank borrowings, deferred tax liabilities, HRRITER - BEHIEEE « BRNRIENARD
tax payables and corporate and other unallocated liabilities as these EREMARSEBERAERNEE  AZEaE
liabilities are managed on a group basis. TErADEBELE -

The following tables present revenue and profit (loss) information for TREHNNHZE2024F12831H Kk2023F12 A31
the Group’s operating segments for the years ended 31 December HIEFEAEBELE DI MoaF (E8) &
2024 and 31 December 2023. o

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE2024F512A31HLFE

Sale Research and

of imported  manufacturing Medical
pharmaceutical of aesthetic beauty
Segments products medicine services Total
BxEy
EO#EREE MAREE BXR% @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®T ARBTR ARBTR

Segment revenue o E Uz
Sales to external customers HE TR 2,792,619 - 28,702 2,821,321
Segment results AEEE 127,000 (16,401) 10,894 121,493
Reconciliation: R -
Corporate and other PERAMADEFRZ

unallocated expenses (16,922)
Other income and gains Hn A R 21,363
Other expenses and losses Hinpx REE (14,822)
Finance costs (other than interest ~ BIBAA(FRE B EFI S

on lease liabilities and finance MM AEAERIG

charges attributable to issue of ~ BIFSBRKRIN)

letters of credit) (12,192)
Profit before tax BB A A 98,920
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Wi I A D B E R ()

4. Revenue and Operating Segment Information 4.

124

(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

Sale
of imported
pharmaceutical
products

ENEmHE

RMB'000

ARETT

B £2023F12A31H LFE

Research and
manufacturing Medical
of aesthetic beauty
medicine services Total
BXEy
AT K BsE
RMB'000
ARETT

Bk )
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT

Segment revenue a6
Sales to external customers HE TINDE P 2,514,137 - 25,926 2,540,063
Segment results DEEE 116,779 (6,676) 8,882 118,985
Recondiliation: HE
Corporate and other EREMRD RS

unallocated expenses (10,604)
Other income and gains Hb WA R 14,625
Other expenses and losses HinHx REE (13,770)
Finance costs (other than interest ~ BIFA AR (FRE B &F 2

on lease liabilities and finance KRV IEREER

charges attributable to issue of ~ BATSBRRAM)

letters of credit) (9,355)
Profit before tax T AT 99,831
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31 December 2024 2024712 H31H

4. Revenue and Operating Segment Information 4.

(Continued)

The following table presents information of assets and liabilities of

the Group's operating segments as at 31 December 2024 and 31

December 2023.

As at 31 December 2024

Segments

Segment assets
Reconciliation:
Corporate and other
unallocated assets
Deferred tax assets
Bank balances and cash
Pledged deposits

Total assets

Segment liabilities

Reconciliation:

Corporate and other
unallocated liabilities

Bank borrowings

Tax payables

Deferred tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Sale
of imported
pharmaceutical
products
ENERHE
RMB’000
ARET R
PHEE 1,419,767
H
PERAMARDEEE
BERIBEE
FITERERS
[REECICSA
waE
AHEE 937,708
H
PEREMADEEE
RITEHK
FEfI IR
BIEHIARE
waf

R PSRRI

WKk EE T HER(E)

TRE57A2024F12 4318 &2023F12 831H

REFEZLEDHBNEERBEEF -

7420245128318

Research and

manufacturing Medical
of aesthetic beauty
medicine services Total
Bxay
MAREE BERB #@st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARET T AR®ET T
85,628 80,409 1,585,804
820
2,422
308,320
103,057
2,000,423
6,078 30,826 974,612
85
340,907
20,589
1,351
1,337,544
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31 December 2024 2024712 H31H

4. Revenue and Operating Segment Information 4.

(Continued)
As at 31 December 2023

e RR M

Wi I A D B E R ()

72023F12H31H

Sale Research and
of imported manufacturing Medical
pharmaceutical of aesthetic beauty
products medicine services Total
HEOEmHE DS ES EEI st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT
Segment assets SEHEE 1,045,836 97,101 85,600 1,228,537
Reconciliation: HER -
Corporate and other rEREMRDEEE
unallocated assets 790
Deferred tax assets ERERBEE 3,403
Bank balances and cash BOEBRERS 437,922
Pledged deposits [REERENEE 220,026
Total assets WRE 1,890,678
Segment liabilities SHEE 958,563 8,377 25,629 992,569
Reconciliation: 4R -
Corporate and other CEREMADERE
unallocated liabilities 70
Bank borrowings RITIER 241,743
Tax payables PRI 26,444
Deferred tax liabilities ERERIEEE 1,800
Total liabilities BafE 1,262,626
1 26 Sinco Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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4. Revenue and Operating Segment Information 4. WHBEEITER ()
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE2024F12A31HLFE

Sale  Research and
of imported manufacturing Medical
pharmaceutical of aesthetic beauty
products medicine services Total

Ban
ENHEmHAE MERRE B MR #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR®T T AR®T T AR®T T

Amounts included in the FTADEME R E K
measure of segment profit or DEEEMNEE :
loss or segment assets:

Capital expenditure* 2Nz 5,392 47,354 329 53,075
Depreciation and amortisation  #7% & 17,599 3,012 3,884 24,495
Interest on lease liabilities HEABFIE 84 216 56 356
Finance charges attributable to BN EFAEEEHEER

issue of letters of credit 4,096 - - 4,096
Reversal of impairment losses & 5 BB R A

on trade receivables, net EfE R (3,922) - - (3,922)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE2023F12A31HLEE

Sale Research and
of imported  manufacturing Medical
pharmaceutical of aesthetic beauty
products medicine services Total

BXEY
EOBEREE UIESE S B X a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Amounts included in the AN B EETEL
measure of segment profit or DEIEEMNSE :
loss or segment assets:

Capital expenditure* BARR L 32,515 34,270 704 67,489
Depreciation and amortisation — #7& K#H 10,331 2,187 3,801 16,319
Provision for impairment losses & 5 FEUIER(E

on trade receivables, net R E TR 4,245 - _ 4,245
Interest on lease liabilities HEAERNE 102 295 56 453
Finance charges attributable to  Fs7{= & (BB E

issue of letters of credit 4,626 - - 4,626

*  Capital expenditure consists of additions to right-of-use assets, other o BARZBRENEFRAESE  BMEEEEN
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment Nz - BB KRR
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31 December 2024 2024712 H31H

4. Revenue and Operating Segment Information
(Continued)

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i) Disaggregated revenue information for revenue from contracts
with customers
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Segments
P

Types of goods or services ERSREER
Sale of imported pharmaceutical RE—REBED
products, at a point in time BEIHE
Medical beauty services, RE R EE
at a point in time EXR%
Total revenue from contracts with RERFAEHIH
customers Wk 4 %E

4. WEREEIBER(E)
WA -

REFFENHIKE
()  KEEFEAAK s Wz BT

HZE2024F12831B LFE
Sale of

imported Medical
pharmaceutical beauty

products services Total
EOERHEE xR #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT ARBTT

2,792,619 - 2,792,619
- 28,702 28,702
2,792,619 28,702 2,821,321
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4. Revenue and Operating Segment Information
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(i)  Disaggregated revenue information for revenue from contracts
with customers (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Segments

S

EmEURBER

Types of goods or services

pharmaceutical

4. WERKEIHERGE)

REFFAANWE(E)
() FKEELEAAIKasH) Kz EF T (E)

HZE2023F128318 LEE

Sale of
Medical
beauty
services Total
BERS #aEt
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBFIT ARBTFT

imported

products
HEOERHE
RMB’000
ARETT

Sale of imported pharmaceutical
products, at a point in time
Medical beauty services,
at a point in time

RE—FREEED
BoiEHE

R E I EE
BEXER® =

2,514,137 = 2,514,137

25,926 25,926

Total revenue from contracts with
customers

2,514,137 25,926 2,540,063

EfioF i
AMBERESIR
MAER(RAMRREEY)

Types of pharmaceutical products
Human albumin solution
Antibiotics (Axetine and Medocef)

Total revenue from contracts with customers

KEEPAKMNKEER

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARMETT
2,783,513 2,507,058
9,106 7,079
2,792,619 2,514,137

Geographical markets

All revenue from contracts with customers of the Group
during each of the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 was attributable to customers located in the PRC, the
place of domicile of the Group’s principal operating entities.
Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets are all
located in the PRC.

WEGHE

REENREE2024F K%2023F12 A318 1k

FESFMEREREFPEHNK=EERE

AP E(ANEEFZELEERTM)A
BE - REBBAILDIEREEEH ML

R o

2024 3R FIRIRBZUERARA
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4. Revenue and Operating Segment Information

(Continued)

AN
)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)  Disaggregated revenue information for revenue from contracts

with customers (Continued)
Timing of revenue recognition

BA SRR P RE

4. BERKELIHER(E)

REFFEAMWE(E)

()

All revenue from contracts with customers of the Group
during each of the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
was recognised when control of the goods and services were

transferred on a point in time basis.

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that were included in the
contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

Revenue recognised that was included in RSB ASRAED
contract liabilities at the beginning of the BRI -
reporting period:

Medical beauty services BERS

Sale of imported pharmaceutical products EOBRHE

KEEP &Rz 0l as BRI ()

B W25 R

HE2024F K2023F 12 A31BLEFEES
F . AEEMBRABRFALNKENE
ih N AR TS Il R B A A B ) B AR o

TRETRHREMVEAGHABELR
SRR SRR

2024

2023
RMB'000
ARETT

RMB’000
AR®T

612 1,941
39,844 56,804
40,456 58,745

Information about major customers

Revenue from each of the major customer, which amounted to

10% or more of the total revenue, is set out below:

Customer A

EPA

TEEFEHN
REMEWRBEI0%INAEEETERFH
Yeaa g -

2024

2023
RMB'000
AREFTE
412,547

RMB’000
AR®BTR

574,002

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of IFRS 15 to all its sale contracts such that the Group
does not disclose information about revenue that the Group
will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance

obligations.

(ii)

Performance obligations

(ir)

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is

summarised below:

Sale of imported pharmaceutical products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
pharmaceuticals and payment is generally due within 90 to 180
days (2023: 90 to 180 days) from delivery, except for certain
customers who make payments in advance prior to delivery of

the pharmaceuticals.

Medical beauty services

Revenue from medical beauty service is recognised at the point
in time upon completion of service since the duration of the

service provided is normally within one day.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 BT R FTHIEE
31 December 2024 202412 H31H

5.

6.

Other Income and Gains
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

5. Htt AR W=

BREMBARKEIHTIT

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARBFIT

Bank interest income RITHEHA 5,910 5,961

Interest income from wealth management products 9 ¥ /ARA F(EE ABxH

classified as financial assets at fair value through SRBEMNENEMRN

profit or loss (note 7) FSWA(H7ZE7) 205 6

Government grants* BBy 2,767 1,319
Net rental income from investment property KEMENHE WA FEE

(note 7) (Hiz%7) 488 390

Distribution service income D EEARISUA 10,565 6,889

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWE - BEREERE - 36

Others Hth 1,428 24

21,363 14,625

*  There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to the * B BB TR BT AEE -

government grants.

Finance Costs
An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

Interest on bank borrowings

Interest on lease liabilities (note 13)
Finance charges attributable to issue of
letters of credit

6. BIIERAS
BREBERAOSIT -

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR#BT T ARBTT

RITERAR 12,192 9,355

MEBERN S (Hat13) 356 453
R ERERIEUBER

4,096 4,626

16,644 14,434

2024 F3R  FRRBEEERARAR
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7. Profit Before Tax 7. BRFLADREF

132

The Group's profit before tax was arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold
Cost of services provided
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Depreciation of investment property
Amortisation of other intangible assets
(included in administrative expenses)
Research and development expenses
(included in administrative expenses)
Short-term lease payments
Auditors’ remuneration
Employee benefit expense
(including directors’ remuneration
as set out in note 8):
Wages and salaries
Welfare and other benefits
Pension scheme contributions
— Defined contribution fund
Housing fund
— Defined contribution fund

Total employee benefit expense

Unrealised foreign exchange losses, net
Loss (gain) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Written off of trade receivables
Interest income from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss
Net rental income from investment property

BEFERAR
B R ARAS A A
YE S I &
e
EREEENE
REMENE
HA @A
GEATTHFX)
i:553
GEATTBFX)
I E R
A GIEE
EERAFX
(BFEMESAE,
EEHM) :
TERF®
1R B E A Rl as
RIREEBIHR
- ERURES
FEELES
—ERHERES

BERHF &R

RELE S BRFE
HENE - BER&kk
R (as)

B 5 USRI

WAFEFABERN
A EMNFISKA

BREMENE S WAFR

REESOBRBAPRMEMR,(GTA)TFIEE :

Notes

FisE

11
13
12

14

2024 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T
2,513,397 2,207,433
7,983 9,350
15,401 7,703
5,838 5,433

178 180

3,078 3,003
19,000 8,291
920 915

2,300 2,300
50,233 46,573
1,11 1,368
9,146 6,313
959 543
61,449 54,797
12,600 8,641
1,138 (36)
3,479 =
(205) (6)
(488) (390)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #& B ER R HIsE
31 December 2024 202412 H31H

8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration 8 EERITETHRAETMHMUREZE

and Five Highest Paid Employees =SHES
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed BIET BRI TES ERA - HERUEHE
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the 383(1)@) * (b) * QO EOIEEA R (HEEEHZ
HKSE, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies ERDBEOE25IRE - FREENREEZITHA
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information BT :

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREBFIT
Fees e 1,200 1,200
Other emoluments: Hiii< -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5o U REDER 10,984 9,812
Pension scheme contributions RIREEEIER
— Defined contribution fund —EREERES 440 331
12,624 11,343
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BYFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during FERNERBIIEHITEENRESOT ¢

the year were as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET ARET T

Mr. Liu Wenfang BN EEE 300 300
Mr. Wang Qing EREEAE 300 300
Mr. Lau Ying Kit BIRAGEE 300 300
Mr. Bai Zhizhong b ta 300 300
1,200 1,200

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent FERNEEENE Y IERITESNEMENS -

non-executive directors during the year.
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8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration 8 EBEERIETHAEFMUREZR

and Five Highest Paid Employees (Continued) 2HEE(E)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive director and the (b) BITES - kHTEEREETH
chief executive officer AE
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
in kind Fees contributions Total
e =R Efke
RENER e HE- B3 At
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETRT AR¥ETRT ARETT
2024 2024
Executive directors WTESE
—Mr. Huang —-®mEE 6,953 - 100 7,053
— Mr. Lei Shifeng (note b) —Et L E(HEb) 917 - 89 1,006
—Mr. Huang Zhijian (note c) —EBREEM ) 952 - 88 1,040
Non-executive director FITES
—Ms. Jing Huan (note d) —WEBz L (Wizd) 352 - 78 430
Chief executive officer 1TB AR,
—Mr. Jin (note a) — &k EHta) 1,810 - 85 1,895
10,984 - 440 11,424
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
in kind Fees contributions Total
£ = : EBke
REWVIEF we ST FEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT ARETTT ARETT
2023 20234
Executive directors HWTES
~ Mr. Huang —EhE 6,978 - 121 7,099
— Mr. Lei Shifeng (note b) — Bt L E(Hrtb) 980 = 105 1,085
Chief executive officer T ABE,
—Mr. Jin (note a) — &% (Hizta) 1,854 - 105 1,959
9,812 - 331 10,143
Notes: Hrat -
(@) On 29 March 2023, Mr. Jin was appointed as the chief executive (a) M2023F3H29H ' @ LEEREAAR
officer of the Company. AITTHABE, »
(b) On 29 March 2023, Mr. Lei Shifeng was appointed as the (b) 20234 3H29H @ EHEELERES
executive director of the Company. RARHITES ©
() On 26 March 2024, Mr. Huang Zhijian was appointed as the (0 M202453H26H BEREEBEZER
executive director of the Company. AARHITES °
(d)  On 24 December 2024, Ms. Jing Huan was appointed as the non- (d) 2024412 A248  HE L T ESEAR
executive director of the Company. NEIFRITES -
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31 December 2024 2024712 H31H

8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration
and Five Highest Paid Employees (Continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive director and the
chief executive officer (Continued)
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

The executive directors’ and non-executive director’
emoluments shown above were for their services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

(c) Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees during the year ended 31
December 2024 included two directors and one chief executive
officer (2023: two director and one chief executive officer),
details of whose remuneration are set out above. Details of
the remuneration during the year of the remaining two (2023:
two) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor a
chief executive officer of the Company are as follows:

EERFRTBRARBHFMURERR

mxEE (8

(b) HMTES  FATEEREENTK
AB ()
G P R S R B R L H
2 o

EXFIRATEERIIFATEETHE IR
FEEARRARAEE E B IR 2%
e EXARBYIFRITESTMES TS
HEARRESRHEOIREME

(0 EBEERSHEES
HE2024F 128318 ILFE - AZ&SF
EEBEMBES R —RITHAR (2023
F WMBESR—BITHRER) « EFHBF
B £ » HEHME (20234 « ME) A
FARRRESHITHABNESHEER
FRHFEBOT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

Pension scheme contributions

RIREFTBIHR

2024 2023
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARETT

e EUREYER 2,548 2,615
182 210

2,730 2,825

The number of non-director and non-chief executive officer
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following band is as follows:

BN T T SBEMIFEE RIFTHAE
R REMNAZMT

2024 2023

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ &
1,500,000/ 7T 2 2
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Income Tax Expense

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the
BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands
and the BVI. The assessable profits of the Group derived from Hong
Kong are subject to a two-tiered profit tax rate regime. The first
HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits are taxed
at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are
taxed at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%).

Except for Demei Company, the provision for PRC CIT is based on
the respective PRC CIT rates applicable to the subsidiaries located
in the PRC as determined in accordance with the relevant income
tax rules and regulations of the PRC for the year. All subsidiaries
domiciled in the PRC were subject to PRC CIT at a rate of 25%
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

According to the Circular on Issues Concerning Tax Policies for
In-depth Implementation of Western Development Strategies ([
PR N B s P8 B K e 35 BB B B T B SR P RE #9380 ), Demel
Company being a subsidiary located in Sichuan Province and
engaged in the encouraged business is entitled to a preferential
corporate income tax rate of 15% for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 and until 31 December 2030.

Taxation in Singapore is calculated at the tax rate of 17% for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The major components of income tax expense are as follows:

FriSHipE
BEHASHESREBHERRESHRARER -
REBEDBSPHESEHESRABERESHE
RIFTISHL ° A ER B B EH IR TR /B IZ R
WA FIE T REH o FBRFR ) FIAY E 2,000,000
75 70(20234F : 2,000,000/ 7t ) #28.25% (2023
F 1 8.25% ) U REH - HeRPERT R Al
16.5%(20234F : 16.5% ) KT REFH -

BRiERAEsN  RESEMSHREBEIREEA
B A FT{S Bt R Bl Ko A 48 BT 788 e 8 AR A R B R
BRARIEENTRECEMSHMETRE -2
20244 2023512 A31 B IEFE - R B
RATEN B AR EEFESEMSHBEE25%
BURA o

IR AR R R A\ B 1 P 50 K 5 B B85 s 7 R R MR
FEBHBMN)  BEQRAMADEIIZE &M
BARIRRESBEESE  MAREE2024F K&
2023F 12 A31BIEFEREZE2030512A31H
BHEZZIS%NCEMSHERRE -

HZE20245F %2023FE12 A3 B ILEE - #iK
FRIBIR17T%FERETHE o

FEREE I SERBAHNT -

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBTIT
Current — Hong Kong B — &
QOverprovision in prior years BEFERERE - (103)
Current — PRC BER — B
Charge for the year FARZ 32,256 46,013
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETT 22,331 10,690
Current — Singapore BVER — 03
Charge for the year FRHAX 1,756 1,781
Deferred tax charge (credit) (note 15) BERIERS (L) (H7aL15) 532 (852)
Income tax expense for the year FRPEHHRY% 56,875 57,529
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9. Income Tax Expense (Continued) 9. FriEHiBA (&)
A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to profit before RERANAEERE T AR R E AR BALE
tax at the applicable tax rates for companies within the Group to the @A E R S B R R E A TSR
income tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows: B S BRINR -
2024 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARKETFIT
Profit before tax B AR A A 98,920 99,881
Tax at the respective statutory tax rates REBEEMERAERNHRIE
— PRC subsidiaries at 25% — BB A BIR25% T E 15,473 22,569
— PRC subsidiaries at 15% — P EKTEARIR15%TE 1,951 1,536
— the Singapore subsidiary at 17% —FT IR R AR 7% E 1,757 2,180
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose (Note a) NeI R (A7 5ta) 11,336 13,031
Tax effect on deductible temporary differences RERARE R EZER
not recognised MG E (320) (345)
Income not subject for tax purpose BAERBIA (498) (952)
Tax losses not recognised KRR IBEE 4,845 8,923
Underprovision in prior years (Note b) BAFERETZE (WD) 22,331 10,587
56,875 57,529

Notes (i

(@) Expenses not deductible for tax purpose for the years ended 31 (@) HZE2024F12A31HK2023F12A31HIEFE
December 2024 and 31 December 2023 mainly consisted of AR T ERETHRAX - RATER
administrative expenses, change in fair value on financial liabilities ABENEREBBAATEESEIRRMELS
at fair value through profit or loss, and foreign exchange differences WERZEARKRRGERERNER - Z5H
incurred by offshore companies and fees for not obtaining formal SIEEAAEMBL AL ©
invoices. These expenses are not expected to be deductible for tax
purpose.

(b)  During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognized an (b) HBZE2024F12A31BIFE - EE TSR
additional tax expense of RMB22,331,000 (2023: RMB10,690,000) REETHBENE  ARBEREEEFE
related to prior years, following a tax audit required by the local tax HERAMEESNBITE 2 AR #622,331,0007T (2023
authority. This adjustment has been reflected in the current year's & : AR%10,690,0007T) © ZFHAEERAFE
consolidated financial statements. BIAR & B R P R ©
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10. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Owners of
the Company
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit
attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024 of RMB42,045,000 (2023: RMB42,352,000), and
number of ordinary shares of 2,032,890,585 (2023: 2,032,890,585)
in issue during the year.

No adjustment is made in arriving of diluted earnings per share as
there was no potential ordinary shares outstanding in the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based
on:

Earnings &7
Profit attributable to owners of the Company RNRAEIEB AEERT

10.

R PSRRI

RRBRERABEETREF

ERERBFREREE2024%12 8318 L&
FEARQAER AT AR 42,045,000
70 (20234 : AR#42,352,00070) RFAE
17T LB M 2B 2,032,890,585 f% ( 2023 4F :
2,032,890,5850% )5+ & o

AR E E20245 % 2023F12 A31 HIEFEI &
BTEINEEL R - BEHEEREERTE

W AR T

AHEEBRER MR EERN

2024

2023
RMB'000
ARBTT

RMB’000
ARBT R

42,045 42,352

Number of shares

RAEE

2024

Shares Btn
Number of ordinary shares in issue during the year

used in the basic and diluted earnings

2R

per share calculations

ARt ESRER RS
BNNFEANEEITE B

2,032,890,585 2,032,890,585
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2024 202412 H31H

1. % BMERRE

11. Property, Plant and Equipment

Leasehold
improvements
and office Motor ~ Construction in
Buildings Machinery equipment vehicles progress Total
BEEER
2 5 HAZRE hE EEIR At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ANRETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Cost: B
At 1 January 2023 R0B3E1A1A 197313 5,557 11,193 17,387 84,584 316,034
Transfer g2 = = 2,610 = (2,610) =
Additions TE = 103 963 2,556 25328 29,550
Disposals e (443) - (1,00 (228) = (1,763)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A318 196,870 6,260 13,674 19,715 107,302 343821
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R2023F12A318 R2024E1 A 1R 196,870 6,260 13,674 19,715 107,302 343821
Transfer &z 17,508 29,784 21,384 - (68,676) -
Additions HE 126 685 2131 2,503 29714 35159
Disposals e - - (873) (60) (29) (1,229
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 214,504 36,729 36,316 22,158 68,044 371,751
Accumulated depreciation: itiE:
At 1 January 2023 w031 718 30117 1,803 9,967 16,038 - 57925
Provided for the year (note 7) FREEZ) 5239 1,085 643 736 - 7,703
Disposals HE (200) = (491) (199) = (890)
At 31 December 2023 R2023£12A318 35,15 2,888 10,119 16,575 - 64,738
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 20238124318 R2024E1 B 1R 35,156 2,888 10,119 16,575 - 64,738
Provided for the year (note 7) EREE ) 5,888 2,466 5976 1,071 - 15,401
Disposals tE - = (34) (57) = 1)
At 31 December 2024 R2024812A318 41,004 5,354 16,061 17,589 - 80,048
Net carrying amount; RERE:
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A318 161,714 3312 3,555 3,140 107,302 219,083
At 31 December 2024 20245127318 173,460 31375 20,255 4,569 68,044 297,703

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's certain buildings with a net
carrying amount of RMB72,852,000 (2023: RMB68,489,000) were
pledged to one bank (2023: a bank) to secure the Group’s bank

borrowings (note 23 (a)).

MR2024%F12 8318 » AEEERAFEASARE
72,852,0007T (20234 : A R #68,489,0007T)
W& TEFEEA T —MIETT7(20234F : —RE
17) * fEAREERITERAER(HE23()) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #& B ER R HIsE
31 December 2024 202412 H31H

11. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 1. V¥ BERREE)
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s construction in progress M2024%12 318 - NEERER & & ERHE
for the purpose of office for daily operation amounted to REMEREZTIE A ARY 15,303,000t (2023
RMB15,303,000 (2023: RMB58,548,000) and manufacturing plant @F : AR#58,548,0007T) WA K F1EEE = 2
for research and manufacturing of aesthetic medicine amounted to ML ENEERENEEIRAEARE
RMB52,741,000 (2023: RMB48,754,000). 52,741,0007t(20234F : AK¥48,754,0007T) ©
12. Investment Property 12. REYE
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBTT
Carrying amount at 1 January M AB1AMEREE 6,139 6,319
Depreciation provided for the year (note 7) FREFHRITE (H75L7) (178) (180)
Carrying amount at 31 December M2 A31BRERAEE 5,961 6,139
Notes: Hist -
(@) Asat 31 December 2024, the fair value of the investment property was (@)  20245F12A318 - REMEN R FEGETTL A
estimated to be approximately RMB6,610,000 (2023: RMB6,730,000). AR #6,610,0007T (20234 : AR #6,730,000
The valuation was performed by Asia-Pacific Consulting and Appraisal TT) © iEBBY EEE B RMEEM AT E®
Limited, an independent professionally qualified valuer (2023: HAERARI(2023F - BUBEXEARKMHERME
Asia-Pacific Consulting and Appraisal Limited, an independent KEHEBABRAR)HET o IMNHMEEMMEEE
professionally qualified valuer). Selection criteria of the external valuer RIpEMSAG - B8 BIUUREGHERBEE
include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether PAE o ZIHETIIRIRE R R WA SRR B
professional standards are maintained. The valuation was estimated R T R ENTISES A E A (08
using discounted cash flow projections based on reliable estimates of A)ERMRReRETRRAEITMHE - REME
future rental income or market rents for similar properties in the same MATENEERFTES TEANTAIHRGA
location and condition, where appropriate. The fair value measurement HE(E=H) -

hierarchy of the investment property requires certain significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3).

(b)  The Group's investment property is situated in the PRC and held under (b) AEBEMIREWELIHF BN AR AT AFES -
medium lease terms.

(© Asat 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the investment (0 F2024412A31HK20235F12A31H - &K&W
property was leased to a third party under operating lease. FREEHERHE T —RE=F °
(d) As at 31 December 2024, the Group's investment property with a net (d) 2024128318 ' AEBEEMFEAARE
carrying amount of RMB5,961,000 (2023: RMB6,139,000) was pledged 5,961,0007(20234F : AR%6,139,0007T) K%
to obtain bank facilities of RMB340,000,000 (2023: RMB240,000,000) BYELERAERR TASENRITHEAR
granted to the Group. #340,000,0007C (20234 : AR #240,000,000
JT) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2024 202412 H31H

13. Leases 13. #HE

The Group as a lessee

The Group has entered into lease contracts for office premises and
a warehouse used in its operations. The Group entered into certain
lease contracts for office premises for lease terms between 1 and
5 years. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the
leased land with land use right periods of 50 years. Payments were
made yearly upfront in respect of the leases of certain leased office
premises with lease periods of five years. For other leases, payments
were made monthly, quarterly and semi-annually. Leases of office
premises have lease terms between 1 and 5 years. The lease of a
warehouse has lease terms within 5 years. Generally, the Group is
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside
the Group.

(@) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

Leasehold

REBEREBEA
REECREEMAMAENEREEFILEE
BH c AEERPAZMEILE THARIE
SEMBERAN - RN —RENFKIAERTAES
SO TifE MEMNEE L - BFEARER R
AFNETHRBRAEYXEERMNFR - Hit
HERIER  BEREBEFNTE - WAE
XHEEMNAR/1E5F - pEHEENHERRSE
AR o =M 5 - AEB T SRAEEIAIAL
EEEOEEEERE

(@) FHELEE
AEENFEREEERNFRANERERE
g -

Office
premises and
a warehouse

land Total

b NEL ) 3

HEL#
RMB’000
ARBTT

ERE
RMB’000
ARBT T

At
RMB’000
AEBTT

As at 1 January 2023 #2023F1 A1H 47,068 10,662 57,730
Addition* NE* 19,880 2,948 22,828
Depreciation charge (note 7) mERZ (A7) (1,346) (4,087) (5,433)
As at 31 December 2023 12023612 A31H

and 1 January 2024 N2024%1 71H 65,602 9,523 75,125
Addition* INE* = 4,430 4,430
Depreciation charge (note 7) TERZ(K:77) (1,379) (4,459) (5,838)
Exchange realignment P 5, FA 2L - (62) (62)
As at 31 December 2024 7H2024%12A831H 64,223 9,432 73,655

The Group's leasehold land included in right-of-use assets is
situated in the PRC and held under medium terms.

* Amounts include right-of-use assets resulting from new leases
entered and payment for leasehold land.

AEEFAEREEENEE TR G
B AR IR BRIRSRIT A o

*  AHeReREIUHHEELNEREER
ERBELHNR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 BT R FTHIEE

31 December 2024 2024712 H31H

13. Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

13.

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

AE(E)
REBERABEAN(E)
(b) HEEAR

HERBERFANREERZESNT

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARKETFIT

Carrying amount at 1 January M1 A1 BREREE 9,658 10,684

New leases RN 4,430 2,948
Accretion of interest recognised during FRERF S

the year (note 6) =) 356 453

Payments A (4,760) (4,423)

Exchange realignment ME N R (54) 4)

Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31 BRIREE 9,630 9,658

Analysed into: DR

Current portion mENER D 5,139 3,833

Non-current portion FEMBNEL 4,491 5,825

9,630 9,658

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 35 HEA BN B SRR I mKR M

to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2024 202412 H31H

13. Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

13.

R PSRRI

AE(E)
REBERABEAN(E)
R TRRAMEENSRNT

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases (0)
are as follows:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBFIT
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6) HEBEFE(H7e6) 356 453
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets (note 7) {FREEEIEFI (H:77) 5,838 5,433
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in ~ BERHESHF L
administrative expenses) (note 7) (R AT (H7527) 920 915
Total amount recognised in profit or loss FiEmT RN BE 7,114 6,801
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 31(c) to (d HERSTLEBENRLEESTHREME
the consolidated financial statements. 31(QFE -
The Group as a lessor REBEEREEA

The Group leases its investment property consisting of one
commercial property in the PRC under operating lease arrangements.
The terms of the lease generally require the tenant to pay security
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the
then prevailing market conditions. The net rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was RMB488,000 (2023: RMB390,000)
(note 5).

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivable
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating
leases with its tenant are as follows:

—FR
—FRERFA

Within one year
After one year but within two years

AEBERBCEHERHHERREME - Bl
RABEHN—IEEEDE - BEKR—RERE
FXNRES  WRTREERATRERA
BHSL  -FA AEERABRLSUWAFBEAR
#488,0007T(20234F : AR#390,0007T) (I 5F
5)°

R2024F 12 318 » AN B 1A R BRI AR 5 62
FE NN HE S LHENEWRMIBAEERK
s

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBTT
390 149

149 -

539 149
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 BT R FTHIEE
31 December 2024 202412 H31H

14. Other Intangible Assets 14. Hith B EE

Non-compete Development Computer
agreement expenditure License Software

ESTEYE BREBA X MR REAERG

(note a) (note b)
(Hita) (Hiztb)
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AR¥ETT ARETE ARETT

Carrying amount at 1 January 2023 720234181 B EEE 15,001 - - - 15,001
Addition NE - 13,078 2,000 33 15,111
Amortisation B

Charged for the year (note 7) FRRX(Hi727) (2,999) = = @ (3,003)
Carrying amount at #R2023F 128318 K

31 December 2023 and 2024F1R1HH

1 January 2024 BRAE 12,002 13,078 2,000 29 27,109
Addition NE - 17,057 - 859 17,916
Amortisation B

Charged for the year (note 7) FARS(H:27) (2,998) - - (80) (3,078)
Carrying amount at R2024F12A318H

31 December 2024 FHEE 9,004 30,135 2,000 808 41,947

The above other intangible assets other than development MR AT FA4F BR G PR AV FA 85 5 s S h R A » Rt B

expenditure and license which have finite useful lives, are amortised b B E R A T AR B A A 8

on a straight-line basis over the following periods:

Non-compete agreement 5.67 years EFEF = 5.674F

Computer software 7 years T E M E 74

Notes: Hist -

(@) Non-compete agreement is the right appraised from the acquisition (@) FFHmFHRAWBEEARTEELOETR - &
of Demei Company and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its’ 2Z B R HAE PRI A DIER - RES.67FH
estimated useful life of 5.67 years by reference to the contractual term as fhEt AT A EBR IR B AR A8 -
stipulated in the non-compete agreement.

(b) Development expenditure represents the Group's development cost (b)y FEAZIEANEEANAENEEEXRBENE
in pharmaceutical products technology which are used to develop MR FMORERR - KARRESRA
the Group’s new products in medical beauty services. The directors of T B R 20256 TH 5K - RBERXE
the Company considered that the new products are scheduled to be HuEAAT % mEREFEREETR

completed in the second half of 2025. The development expenditure B e R ERE TR ERR ©
will not be amortised until it is available for use. Instead it will be tested

for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that it may

be impaired.

1 44 Sinco Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 BT R FTHIEE
31 December 2024 202412 H31H

15. Deferred Tax

The movements in deferred tax assets (liabilities) during the year are

15. EIEFIE
FRETHBEE(BE NEBMT -

as follows:
Other Expected
intangible credit loss
Others asset provision Total
AHEE
Hftt HtEFEE EBERE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2023 R202351H1R8 659 (2,250) 2,342 751
Deferred tax (charged) credited to FA(BEREMBR)FTA
profit or loss during the year (note 9) BRNELERIE
(Hf79) (659) 450 1,061 852
At 31 December 2023 and M2023F12A31B K&
1 January 2024 20241 H1H = (1,800) 3,403 1,603
Deferred tax (charged) credited to FR(BBEMBREIA
profit or loss during the year (note 9) BEAELRE
(Hizt9) - 449 (981) (532)
At 31 December 2024 M2024F12A31H - (1,351) 2,422 1,071
Notes: B -
(@)  As at 31 December 2024, the Group had accumulated tax losses arising (@) TF2024%F12A31H @ AEBRTREAHR:T

(b)

in the PRC of RMB47,059,000 (2023: RMB42,717,000) that would
expire in one to five years. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of these losses as it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which they can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement
is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.

As of 31 December 2024, no deferred tax liability has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's
subsidiaries established in the PRC. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future after their assessment based on
factors which included the dividend policy, the level of working capital
required for the Group’s operations and the expansion of the Group's
operations in the PRC. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in the PRC for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB157,210,000 (2023: RMB134,270,000).

FRIEE 18 A A R#47,059,0007T (20234« AR
#42,717,0007T) - R —ZHFRENE - HE
HRZEBRERELHBEE - REAEWRA
TRFTREA FE AR T a M AT R SH 2 S THIE IS A -

(b) RIBFEDEMERE - AP EKZAINE D
¥mINEREESROREAZKRI0%MTEN
Bl o %R TEBE20084F1 A1 B#EAER - WEAMN
200712 A31 BEMARTF o (4 HEINHRE
HRTE R AR DR RIGE - AR RASK
KT R - AEBERBERBEA10% Bt -
A& B AR P B K 52 Z T B A 7] 52008
F1ATBREENBRFDIKHEEHMIE
it

HE2024F128318 © W ERANEBERRERK
SEHIB A RIZERMIEH K ARE B F mAL
MHENFRRAECEHIEEE - ARRESER
BEHER « AEBEBHENEEELESKFERAE
SEEAFENEFEAZETTHEERE © &
LW AR RASR A KA 8D KB RAAF] o
BEREENFEN B AR AN £
4aza 4y A R#157,210,0007T (20234 : AR
134,270,00070) FERIEEFL B A (E ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2024 2024712 H31H

15.

16.

17.

146

Deferred Tax (Continued)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

EAETIRE B
EETRAE

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

R PSRRI

15. IEERIE(E)

REMBIHREM S - BLEIRERIITAT

Inventories

At the end of the reporting period, inventories mainly represent
purchased pharmaceutical products held for sale in the ordinary
course of business of the Group.

Trade and Bills Receivables

Trade receivables, gross

Impairment BB
Trade receivables, net of loss allowance
Bills receivables*

LES Y

B S RN IR

B 5 ENGRIR (HIRRE R R R)

2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBFT ARMETFTT
2,422 3,403
(1,351) (1,800)
1,071 1,603
16. F&
RIBEHIR - FEEBIERAEE B 325852
FR I TS B BE T, o
17. ESEWFEREWEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARMEFTT
515,816 549,596
(6,160) (13,561)
509,656 536,035
98,592 4,470
608,248 540,505

* Bills receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for
the endorsement or discounting.

The Group granted credit terms ranging from 90 days to 180
days (2023: 90 days to 180 days) to customers after the delivery
of goods, except for certain customers who were required to
make payments in advance prior to the delivery of goods. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over the settlements of its
outstanding receivables and has a credit control department to
minimise credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. As
at 31 December 2024, trade receivables of RMB390,182,000 (2023:
RMB425,629,000) were covered by letters of credit.

Sinco Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

2 R2024F &2023F 12 A3 AMEKREE B A
BAFEFABENERMEE  REAZSRER
SR ESEKAA -

RETEFERINERMEMZIEN A&
EREFEERNTEMEIOE180H (20234 :
90Z£180H ) KIEE A - AREE =K H 5 R UK
5] /) B YR SR I 45 B 135 RS E R W B EE
THEP A EERBRERERE - ZEZEIK
RIEATEE - R2024%12A318 » E5E
U #k I8 A R #390,182,0007T (20234 : AR
425,629,0007T) B 15 AR ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #& B ER R HIsE
31 December 2024 202412 H31H

17. ESRNFER BN ERE(E)

17. Trade and Bills Receivables (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting periods, based on the date of revenue recognised and net
of loss allowance, is as follows:

RBERARER KSR BN E Z KR
(BEIBREBREE) WRESTIT

Within 3 months 3EAR

3 to 12 months 321218 A

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARMETTT
501,660 535,928
7,996 107
509,656 536,035

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

I RUGRREERBREESNT

At beginning of year REH

Written off b€z

(Reversal of)/provision for impairment loss AR (Bm), B
At end of year RER

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T ARBTIT
13,561 9,316
(3,479) =
(3,922) 4,245
6,160 13,561

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit loss rate. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and
coverage by other forms of insurance). The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses
debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers in
relation to it sale of imported pharmaceutical products because
these customers consist of a large number of small customers with
common risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual
terms. The following table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed individually
for debtors with significant balances and the remaining debtors are
assessed collectively with appropriate amounts on a collective basis
by using provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

K& RS B RBREREETRED T - A
AEEHEEERE - BEXRRERAGELUE
BEA(REPE R EMRER A RO
B)mZERF D RFAERI B B #ETE o &t
HREER AR - ERRERNERS A8
SHBRBERE - ISR RE IR K
BEAFEER -

ERAEEEERREEN &7 - AEEER
B AR R EEEN ERBANESH
BE RASZEEFHAAENEFPANX  AF
AR ERSE - ZFHERREFRIES Q1K
RXNFAAERHFIRNEN - TREIIBEHES
EWFIRFIERERRRNEN  ZEEF R
RBLEABERNEHRNER AEEETE - MeR
TEEARBEBERFERRBEEBRCRH
BEERE) AN BEERIAEE SRETRE
At o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2024 202412 H31H

17. Trade and Bills Receivables (Continued) 17. ESEWFEREREE(E)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information (for example, the macroeconomic
conditions affecting the industry and the impact that may result in
debtor ability to make payments) that is available without undue
cost or effort. Such forward-looking information is used by the
management to assess both current as well as the forecast direction

UTEHINBAASEE BB EREEAENE ZE
WHIBEREERBRER |

A EREREEBSARBRFRANBEESE
FIRENXMGE  UERERTBERNARE N
BRI S A ATIE £ B H (PIMF BTN REL
BRI S AT RE BB AT RBE N R B ) 1E A
B o BHRENRZE R IEE M S AT R R
= RHNFAAORER - ERETREF LA -
AHERA RS E B AR AR EE S -

of conditions of the reporting date. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

As at 31 December 2024 7"2024512H31H
Past due
B
91 to 180

days
91£180H

1 to 90
days
1£90H

More than
180 days

#BiB180H

Total
st

Current

BN &R

Expected credit loss rate TEEMEEEER 3.47% 12% 100% 100%
Gross carrying amount RE4RE

(RMB000) (AR®TFT) 506,699 7,950 727 440 515,816
Covered by letters of credit LAME R RBER

(RMB'000) (ARETIT) (390,182) - - - (390,182)

116,517 7,950 727 440 125,634

Expected credit losses TREMEEEE

(RMB'000) (AR¥TIT) 4,039 954 727 440 6,160

202312 A31H

As at 31 December 2023

Past due
11090 91to 180 More than
Current days days 180 days
BNER 1290H 91E180H #Bi18180H
Expected credit loss rate TEEE EEsIEX 5% 14.29% 100% 100%
Gross carrying amount BREAE
(RMB’000) (ARETTT) 541,840 7 8 7,741 549,596
Covered by letters of credit LAME FREER
(RMB’000) (AR¥FT) (425,629) - - - (425,629)
116,211 7 8 7,741 123,967
Expected credit losses TEHAEEEE
(RMB’000) (ARBTT) 5,811 1 8 7,741 13,561
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #& B ER R HIsE
31 December 2024 202412 H31H

18. Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other Assets  18. JA{131E - HtEWRIER Hit & E

Prepayments in respect of:
— purchase of inventories

— others —Hfth
Value-added tax recoverable Al el A
Other receivables in respect of:

— staff advances —BI8X

— others —Hh

Impairment PERIE]

LATRIE B (TR RUA
—-BERFE
— others —HAh

Deposits in respect of: IATIBEE MRS ¢
— issuance of letters of credit —AVEARE

PATIE B HOE i UL RROR

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBFIT
189 -

125 733
66,728 73,448

15 15

72,107 51,511

4 730

1,109 444
140,314 126,881
(77) (77)
140,237 126,804

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets
are as follows:

SEATRNSUR - HttESGRIRR A EER SR
BEREBEREBEZHNT

2024 2023

RMB'000 RMB’000

At beginning and end of year REXRFER

ARBT R ARBTT
77 77

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by
considering ECLs, which are estimated by applying a loss rate
approach with reference to the historical loss record of the Group.
The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate.

In determining ECLs for financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets, the directors of the Company
have taken into account the historical default experience and the
future prospects of the industries and/or considered various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information, as appropriate,
in estimating the probability of default of each of the financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets
occurring within their respective loss assessment time horizon, as
well as the loss upon default in each case.

AEEZEBEEL2EZREFRCHERBEE
AEENTEREEER - RERE B BRELRE
DT o BER R EE B RIEH B AR
FERIR A AEAR, ©

HEEETABNTAR - REUFA R EE
MEREENTRREEERE - AAREXCE
BELEDOBRARITERRAS - R L&A
SEATRNRUR - HttEMRIAR A EERRIR
TREEEESBNEENERHEERELE
WP R AR EITR TRENERERE - ZEIND
MERMBAGEERRR(EE)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #& B ER R HIsE

31 December 2024 2024712 H31H

19. Bank Balances and Cash and Pledged Deposits 19. RITHERREESURBEAER

Cash and cash equivalents RekBREEED
Less: pledged deposits* o BT
Bank balances and cash RITER LIRS

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBTT
411,377 657,948
(103,057) (220,026)
308,320 437,922

& The balances as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023
represented bank deposits with original maturity of less than three
months which are pledged to banks to issue letters of credit for the
purchase of pharmaceuticals.

The Group’s bank balances and cash at the end of the reporting

period can be further analysed as follows:

G 2024412 B31 8 2023412 A31 B B 4EsRE
REABEERNEAENERTFRITREEA
DR =18 AR TIER ©

Denominated in RMB IAREEE
Denominated in US$ AZETEHE
Denominated in HK$ LASTTEHE
Denominated in S$* VAT I eEHE

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARMETTT
353,668 541,812
54,609 110,102
897 2,355

2,203 3,679
411,377 657,948

* S$ stands for the Singapore dollar.

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Time deposits are made for a period of three months
and earn interest at the respective deposit rates. The bank balances
and time deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

1 50 Sinco Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited ~Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements x5

31 December 2024 2024712 H31H

20. Trade and bills payables

Trade payables E S ENRIE
Bills payables FERT IR

BA SRR P RE

20. ESERREREMNERE

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBTTT
873,889 813,668
14,079 52,917
887,968 866,585

An ageing analysis of trade and bills payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the issuance date of the pharmaceuticals’
inspection report, is as follows:

Within 3 months AR

RBEMRENEmeRBEE L AHNESE
NFBERENEEAREDITNT

B0

2024
RMB’000

2023
RMB'000
ARBTT
866,585

ARBT R
887,968

Trade and bills payables of the Group are normally settled within
120 to 180 days (2023: 120 to 180 days).

The Group's bills payables as at 31 December 2024 was secured by
the pledge of certain of the Group’s bank deposits amounting to
RMB 14,079,000 (2023: RMB52,917,000).

21.

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities consisted of short-term advances received from
customers in relation to the sale of pharmaceuticals and medical
beauty services. Changes in contract liabilities during the year are as

AEENE SHEMNZRBEREMNEERE —KRR1202
180H (20234 : 120F180H ) N&E °
R2024F12A318 ' AEEERNEERASE
E A8 A R#14,079,0007T (20234 : AR
52,917,0007T0) K9%& FR{ T R IRIRIEBIER -

BREE
ANABERERHEERREEREEES IR
MEIRR - FR - AHEEEBMT :

21.

follows:
2024 2023
Sale of Sale of
imported Medical imported Medical
pharmaceutical beauty pharmaceutical beauity
products services Total oducts services Total
ENERHE EXR% @i EOERHE EXh% fair
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARSI ARSI ARSI
At the beginning of year RET 39,844 612 40,456 73,250 2,179 75,429
Revenue recognised thatwasindudedin -~ REATF AR HAEERAERT
the contract liabilities balance at the ey
beginning of the year (39,844) (612) (40,456) (56,804) (1,941) (58,745)
Net increase due to cash received, excluding  EEUCR S ELREMFE - FaE
amounts recognised as revenue during REREDERERLE
the year 21,074 657 21,131 2339 374 237172
21,074 657 21,131 39,844 612 40,456
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22. Other Payables and Accruals 22, HA B RIERESTRIE
2024 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARKETFTT
Payables related to: BRALATIE B KRR FUA
Payroll and welfare payable JERTTE REF 9,534 7,352
Deposits received =l e sn (@) 7,478 18,363
Consulting and professional fees BAREEE 2,300 1,858
Other tax payables Hth fEEIR 2,834 7,924
Consideration payable to the Vendors ERERRE
(defined in note 25) (F& R MI3E25) 27,000 -
Other payables HhERRIE 222 18,365
49,368 53,862
Note: Mzt
(@)  The balance represented refundable deposits received from the Group's (@) HAEREAREBEARELHEERBEHEAOBAM
distributors according to distribution contracts in order to guarantee BRI A DM BEF WO RERS - Z5K
their performance under distribution contracts, which were unsecured ©RAEERRRTE -
and interest-free.
Other than the other payables mentioned above, all other payables B bl E fh FE ST RRIE AN - AR BRI PA A
of the Group are non-interest-bearing and unsecured. FIEH BT EREER -
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23. Bank Borrowings 23. RITEN

Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity RMB'000 Maturity RMB'000
LSk z
(%) HER ARETT (%) gLl ARBTT
Current: 5 -
- Secured and quaranteed -HERREER (a) () 3.50-5.00 2005 340,000 3505.00 2024 240,000
Current portion of long term REBTETRNHENS
bank borrowings - quaranteed 7 -HERF (@) i 275 2025 857 275 2004 857
340,857 240,857
Non-current: 504 :
- Guarantegd -FiER (a) i) 275 2026 50 275 2025 886
50 836
340,907 21,743
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

23. Bank Borrowings (Continued)

Analysed into: DA
Repayable:
Within one year or on demand

In the second year REZF

FER LA TR EEE -
R—FATIZEK

. RITERGE)

2024 2023
RMB'000
ARETT

RMB’000
ARBT R

340,857 240,857
50 886
340,907 241,743

Notes:
(@)  The Group's bank borrowings are secured and guaranteed as follows:

(i) As at 31 December 2024, the bank borrowings of
RMB340,000,000 (2023: RMB240,000,000) was secured
by the Group's certain buildings of RMB72,852,000 (2023:
RMB68,489,000), investment property with a net carrying
amount of RMB5,961,000 (2023: RMB6,139,000) and was jointly
guaranteed by Mr. Huang, an executive director of the Company
("Mr. Huang”), Chengdu Sinco Pharmaceutical Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Chengdu Sinco Technology”), a subsidiary of the Company
and the Company.

(i) As at 31 December 2024, the bank borrowings of RMB907,000

(2023: RMB1,743,000) was guaranteed by Mr. Huang.

(b)  As at 31 December 2024, except for the bank borrowings which was
denominated in HK$ amounting to RMB907,000 (2023: RMB1,743,000),
all bank borrowings were denominated in RMB.
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(a)

AEBIRITIE R A TR R 1R

() HM2024%F 128318 » RITERARE
340,000,00070 (20234 : A R ¥£240,000,000
TL) BAREEE FiEF ARK72,852,0007T
(20234 : AR¥68,489,0007T) * BREF
A AR¥5961,0007T(20234F : AREE
6,139,0007T ) H)IR E M ZEIEIRIR - WHAA
AWMTEREEAE(FEELED ARFNEB
NEIKEBERARBERETERETAR(K
EERIARAN ) RANA B FFEVESLR o

(i)  F2024F12A318 @ RITERARKE
907,0007L (20234 : AR¥1,743,0007T)
BRESLEEER -

R2024F 128310  Br& A ARK907,0007T
(20234 : AR¥1,743,0007T) BSRTT & FRIAS
JTLEHESN - T RITEFEINARKESHE -
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24. Goodwill 24. ﬁﬂ';ﬁ

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of goodwill
had arisen from the acquisition of Demi Company:

AHEBR  BENREEELEERBEEER
ET :

Demei
Company

BEAQT
RMB’000
ARBT R

COST AND CARRYING VALUES RA R EREE
At 1 January 2023, 7202351818 -
31 December 2023 and 2024 2023F 2024F12 4318 66,536*
E The valuation was performed by Asia-Pacific Consulting and Appraisal * ZIEERB L EESERAEME AT EERE

Limited, an independent professional qualified valuer.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the directors
of the Company determines that there is no impairment of the CGU
containing goodwill.

The basis of the recoverable amounts of the CGUs and its major
underlying assumptions are summarised below:

The recoverable amount of each of the CGUs is determined on the
basis of value in use calculation. The recoverable amount is based on
certain key assumptions. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on latest financial budgets approved by management covering
a five-year period, using an applicable pre-tax discount rate of
19.68% (2023: 19.53%). The cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 2% (2023: 2%).

Other key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to
the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budget
sales and gross margin. Such estimation is based on the unit’s
past performance and management'’s expectations for the market
development. The directors of the Company believe that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would
not cause the aggregate carrying amount of the CGU of Demei
Company to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of this CGU.

RAFHEST

REZE2024F K2023F 12 A31B EFE - AR
RESETHEESRENReELEBUTERE -

ReEFBMMATIRESBEELEREF THER
BB

FReEABMMAINE S BIRFERERTE
#ioﬁﬂﬁl@@%ﬁﬂﬁ% ST RAR R o sZFaT
SEERARIRE R E N E A F NS
ni‘ﬁiéﬂzu@ﬁﬁml AE3H % 19.68% (20234
19.53% )5t EMIRERETEA - BBAFHAE
ERENBEERER2%(20234F : 2% )#EH -

EREEFENEMERRRE E/i\ A i
MfhEt AR BT ERBEHERENEX - 5
fAEtER Mﬁuﬁ’JLﬁi\%fﬁ&EEJ@ﬂmiﬁ?ﬂ?&
BIEH - AARERRAR - AL EERATE
BNENAREPHH TS EBEINRRSESL

BUMERMEBRBZIREELEMA AR EE
B o
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25. Contingent Consideration at Fair Value Through 25. I AV EF ABENHAKE

156

Profit or Loss

As part of the series of agreements with the Vendors in the
acquisition of Demi Company in prior year, a contingent
consideration is payable, which is dependent on the profit of Demei
Company for each year of the years ended 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024. At the acquisition date, the fair value of the initial
amount recognised was estimated to be RMB16,445,000 which was
determined using the scenario analysis method and is within Level
3 fair value measurement. As at 31 December 2024, the contingent
consideration payable was remeasured as RMB27,000,000 (2023:
RMB22,078,000) at fair value and transferred to other payables
and accruals as the profit of Demei Company for each year of
the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 had been
achieved. The consideration payable is required to be settled on 28
April 2025. A significant increase/decrease in the profit of Demei
Company would result in a significant change in the fair value of
the contingent consideration payable. The contingent consideration
payable is classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss. A reconciliation of fair value measurement of the contingent
consideration payable is provided below:

R E—FERBEEARRESE HEI LA —
ZIBEN—H D IRRERFEEQFRN
BHE20224F « 2023F KX2024F 12 A31HIEFE
BEREF T - RUREE B EY - BRI IIE
BN FE-BETAARE16,445,0007T £
REBEEAIMEEE BRE=BRATEF= -
2024128318 « BN SARERAFEE
Fzt & A AR27,000,00075 (20234 : AR
22,078,0007T) + 8 5 2 H A0 FE (5008 M FE AT
FIE - REAEERRREE20224F + 2023F
F2024F 12 A3MAEFESFELER G © %
SIIEBEN2025F4A28BATAES » BELQEIN
SEAARIEE I, RO S EBBEMNSAREBHATE
BEREERET - BAIARELEAZATE
AABENESRAS - BAXARENAFERT
EHROT

RMB’000
ARBT R

As at 1 January 2023
Unrealised fair value change recognised in profit or loss

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

Unrealised fair value change recognised in profit or loss
Transferred to other payables and accruals

As at 31 December 2024

R2023F1A1H 19,078
RIBERFERNRE R AT EEZSE) 3,000
M2023%12 A31H K%2024F1A1H 22,078
RIEEFP R ARESER QAL EES 4,922
BERE S EA RS SR IE K FE T IR (27,000)

H2024%12H31H -
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26. Share Capital 26. |7
Shares &)
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREETTT
Authorised: SERE
10,000,000,000 (2023: 10,000,000,000) 10,000,000,0008%
ordinary shares of HK$0.0001 each (20234 : 10,000,000,000/%)
FAXE{E0.0001 7 LAY L iBAX 822 822
Issued and fully paid: BEETRER
2,032,890,585 (2023: 2,032,890,585) 2,032,890,585/%
ordinary shares of HK$0.0001 each (20234 : 2,032,890,585f% )
SAXME{E0.00018 LAY L iEBAX 164 164
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as AATRALEBENT -
follows:

Number of Share capital
share in issue RMB’000

B BT &N
®E AR¥T T

At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023, R202212A318
31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024 20231818 »
2023%F12A318 &

202412 A31H 2,032,890,585 164
27. Reserves 27. f#fE
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein REENREESERENAEE KR TFEHNE
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated BiEir e MmN EE R BHRET
statement of changes in equity of the consolidated financial
statements.
(a) Share premium account (a) BRMREER
The application of the share premium account is governed by FEARMDEBRXASHSARDERE -
the Cayman Islands Companies Law. Under the constitutional BEEEXHERASHERTE @ WARA
documents and the Cayman Islands Companies Law, the share AR EZER R AEMEE B B XA
premium is distributable as dividend on the condition that the PR B BAETS - BIARD & B A 9K AR
Company is able to pay its debts when they fall due in the B o
ordinary course of business at the time the proposed dividend is
to be paid.
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27. Reserves (Continued)

(b) Contributed surplus
The contributed surplus represents the aggregate nominal
amount of the paid-up capital of Sichuan Sinco Pharmaceuticals
attributable to the owners of the Company.

(c) Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
respective articles of association of subsidiaries domiciled in
PRC, each of the PRC subsidiaries is required to allocate 10%
of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance with PRC
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“PRC GAAP”), to
the statutory surplus reserve (the “SSR”) until such reserve
reaches 50% of its registered capital.

As certain PRC subsidiaries are wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises, allocation to the SSR is not required. According to
the Rules for the Implementation of Foreign-funded Enterprise
Law of the PRC and articles of association of these PRC
subsidiaries, they are required to allocate 10% of their profit
after tax in accordance with PRC GAAP to the statutory reserve
fund (the “SRF") until such reserve reaches 50% of their
respective registered capital.

The SSR and the SRF are non-distributable except in the
event of liquidation and subject to certain restrictions set out
in the relevant PRC regulations. They can be used to offset
accumulated losses or capitalised as paid-up capital.

28. Share Option Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme"”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contribute to the development of
the Group. Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme are
employees (whether full time or part time) of the Company, its
subsidiaries or any entity in which the Group holds any equity
interest (the “Invested Entity”), including directors (including
independent non-executive directors) and the senior management
of the Company, its subsidiaries and any Invested Entity. The Share
Option Scheme was approved by the Company’s shareholders on 1
February 2016 and became effective upon the listing of the shares
of the Company and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from 1 February 2016. Please refer to
the 2016 annual report of the Company for details.
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27. #E(E)

(b) ERBE
ERRBIEARAFG ARG D) B
BERGRAREE -

\

4

IS

() *“ERE
R A B A B]E KA R BB B A A&
BRAZKERME - STRMBARESD
REBEFEARSHRAUN(THEARS
STRAIDEEM10%BRREEFNEEER
HiEE(ETRaREE])  EERHEEE
B H & AA50% ©

7
75N

HRETHREMBARBIEBERE -
WHRBRRE AT BHRFHE - IREPERIH
BRRZAERAR RZEF B EA R
ABERAR > ZERRADEERES
B AREREIN10%R B ENZEE
REEe(DEERBEER])  BEEZRE
SEDHEEMERN50%BLE

RERBEARZABEREDERAEE TR
HIFTERSN - EAEBRBREEIEERFBES
ARk - MR AR R EIERE AR
L RBEHRR -

8. IR ESHE

NATEVEREIRAERT 8 ([FEAAERT &) - BEM
AAEEBRRELERNAEERDHEREIEE
RER - BREEINEBERSEEREAQT]
HWB AR AR EBRAEARENTRELE
([EEEEDNES (THmERsIRE) « 814
AR EMB AR RIMEEEBNES(BE
BUIERTES) RSREHEE - BRETEE
201642 A1 BEARRQ R ERALEL R AR A
Bfn Emig Rk - BRRIESITEUHSERT + TA
#2016 2 A1 B+ ERNERZF N - B
5 BREARR2016FFR o
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28. Share Option Scheme (Continued)
There was no share option expense recognised during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted under the
Share Option Scheme was estimated as of the date of grant, using a
binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs
to the model used:

Dividend yield (%) Nil
Expected volatility (%) 48.75
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.72

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily
be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company had no share
options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme.

29. Commitments
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the

reporting period:

28.

29.

e RR M

BRETEI(E)
HZE2024%F %2023FE12 A3 BILEE - #HEmE
RIEIEBARER Y -

IRIB IR I AT 813 A B S B B A F
EREH B R ZBAEA R - R R
PRt P AR B 60 S IR A © TREFIFTER AR
AR B ABIE -

EEE(%) =z
TEERR IR (%) 48.75
ER R FIE(%) 0.72

TEHR 18 R BRI 2R IR A AR R R IEB R
' AERBRERAE

ATEATEREEMAT R HBRESE MRS

] ©

S
g Ol

MR2024F 202312 A318 » AR a M EERE
STEITE T B ARAE 15 AR 1T o

8
AEBNRERROEAFRMT ¢

2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREETTT

Contracted, but not provided for: BETAVB ARG
— Construction of a warehouse —ERRE 96,238 14,985
— Furbishing of a property —BFT 1,861 3,976
98,099 18,961

30. Contingent Liabilities 30. REME

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities.

RBEMR - AEEREEMEARAEE -
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31. Related Party Transactions 31. BERRS
(@) During the year, the Group had the following (@) FR AEEHBEHRETHEKX
material transactions with related parties: R :
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETFT
Guaranteed by Mr. Huang HE A ER
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEARITER 340,907 241,743
Guarantee fee paid to Mr. Huang MEAEZNERE 3,420 =
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of (b) REBFEEEASHN
the Group
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTFT
Short-term employee benefits EEEE RN 10,373 11,012
Pension scheme contributions RINE IR 355 331
Total compensation paid to XN TFEEEEAEN
key management personnel RG] 10,728 11,343

32. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 32. R R ERERMEE

Flows
(@) Major non-cash transactions () TEHRERS
()  During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group () BHE2024F12A31BLEFE  £x&E
entered into certain lease contracts in which additions EiIvETHESY  RHEERKBE
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities amounting HoREREAEEEREEAER
to RMB4,430,000 (2023: RMB2,948,000) and B AR®4,430,00070(2023%F : AR
RMB4,430,000 (2023: RMB2,948,000) respectively was #2,948,0007T ) & A & # 4,430,000
recognised at the lease commencement date. J0(2023%F : AR¥2,948,0007T) °
(i) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group (i) BE2024F12A31BLEFE - A&
engaged in a forfaiting arrangement, resulting in B —IBREELHE - ERERTE
an increase of RMB40,000,000 in bank borrowings I8 N A R #40,000,000t R EEHE
and the settlement of trade payables amounting to S e 3kE AR #40,000,0007T °

RMB40,000,000.
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32. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 32. ZAREEHRERMET(H)
Flows (Continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities
Year ended 31 December 2024

(b) BMEBEEBFELENRES

HZE2024F 128318 LEE

Lease
liabilities
HEAE
RMB’000
AR¥T R

Bank
borrowings

RITIER
RMB’000
ARBT T

At 1 January 2024 R20244%1 818 9,658 241,743
Changes from financing cash flows BMEREREY (4,760) 59,164
Foreign exchange movement SN B (54) -
Other non-cash movement H b IEIR & & 4,430 40,000
Interest expense FEXH 356 -
At 31 December 2024 72024912 H31H 9,630 340,907

Year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F12A31 B 1ILFE

Other
Lease payables
liabilities  and accruals

H AR

BIE R

HERE &SRR
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTRT

Bank
borrowings

RITEFK
RMB'000
ARET T

At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 818 10,684 74,605 181,728
Changes from financing cash flows MEEESREE (4,423) (74,605) 60,015
Foreign exchange movement SN £ (4) - -
Other non-cash movement HibIFIR &% 2,948 - —
Interest expense FEXZH 453 - -
At 31 December 2023 72023412 H31H 9,658 = 241,743
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32. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 32. A EELHERWE(E)
Flows (Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases () HERSRLAR
The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated SEEESRERANEER S RLAEMN
statement of cash flows is as follows: T
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREEFIT
Within operating activities BRR & LE) 920 915
Within financing activities BREEEE 4,760 4,423
5,680 5,338
33. Financial Instruments by Category 33. @RI T AR
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial HHhleMIAERBREHROEDEAT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
31 December 2024 2024%F12H31H
Financial assets SREE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Financial assets at amortised cost REBFERATTENEREE
Trade receivables & S W GRIA 509,656
Financial assets included in prepayments, FEATERIE - HMEREIE R
other receivables and other assets EmMmBEENEREE 73,509
Pledged deposits [mEECIES A 103,057
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR RIS 308,320
994,542
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: BRAFEFABRNESREE
Bills receivables FEWEE 98,592
1,093,134
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33. Financial Instruments by Category (Continued)

31 December 2024 (Continued)
Financial liabilities

e RR M

33. 2MIBEERI(E)
2024128318 (&)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Trade and bills payables
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals

Bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

ol =N
RMB’000
ARETT
BREBERATTENSRAE

) R RV E S 887,968

S AE MR B M AT RN
SRBE 46,434
RITHER 340,907
HEaE 9,630
1,284,939

31 December 2023
Financial assets

2023F12A31H

Financial assets at amortised cost

Trade receivables

Financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets

Pledged deposits

Bank balances and cash

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Bills receivables

SHEE
RMB’000
AREFTT
RBERATTENEREE
H 5 WA 536,035
ST ATEN A - A EUEIE R
EMEEMNSRMEE 75,293
[REEwEPEE 220,026
RITHEB IR 437,922
1,269,276
BATEFABSENEMEE
FEWE I 4,470
1,273,746
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33. Financial Instruments by Category (Continued) 33. £ T EERI(E)

31 December 2023 (Continued) 2023F 128318 (&)
Financial liabilities SEas
RMB’000
ARETT
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BREBHERATTENESREAE
Trade and bills payables B RARERENRE 866,585
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 5+ A b & {~ 2008 N B 5T 208 /Y
=N 45,583
Bank borrowings RITEN 241,743
Lease liabilities HEARE 9,658
1,163,569
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: EBEATEFABENESREARE
Contingent consideration payable FERT AR E 22,078
Total #Et 1,185,647
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34. TR T AN VEHITERAFEER

34. Fair Value Measurement and Fair Value

Hierarchy of Financial Instruments

Management has assessed that the fair values of bank balances and
cash, pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables, trade and bills
payables, financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals and current interest-bearing bank borrowings approximate
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of
these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are determined
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current interest-bearing bank borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as
a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for non-current
financial liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were assessed
to be insignificant.

The fair values of contingent consideration payable have been
calculated by scenario based method by an independent
professionally qualified valuer and this method involves identifying
potential future scenarios and assigning probability to each
scenarios. Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation as at 31 December 2023:

EEECHGERITEHERE CEAER B
HRMFIRRBRERE - EHRNFBARENR
& FEATENFUR - ARtRUKEIR R EMEER
EREE  FEAEMENRARE RN SR
BENEAEG BRITEFRNAFEREREE
BE - TEARZETAREHAZE -

eRMEERBENATEREMT (WIFREL
BEREE) ZENERR SR AETRBRNTE
BT - ARMEEAFEN TR RREN
T~

IERNHAET BERITE R A EA A B UL -
EERBEH NEHAMNT AR ANFIX
ﬁﬁi%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂixfjﬁéumzﬁ”’aHj R2024F K
2023F12A318 ' XEBAXRFH@EERB SR
BENTBHRKRATEN A FEZE TG AT
2N

Fﬁiﬁﬁ1m ATERBLEES BRMMER
KRBSATESEH  ZESRERNBERRK
E= &EX%EQMM$°MT%%NBEQ
A31ABENEAT IR ASIRHE

Valuation Significant Sensitivity of fair
Technique unobservable input value to the input
EATTRE
fER % AR AHEHBABBNHRE
Contingent consideration Scenario based method Target netincome change ~ 10% decrease in net income would result in
at fair value through range a decrease in fair value by RMB164,000.
profit or loss
Discount rate Discount rate of 16% (Note a)
BATER ARG &R AR FEEDEE WNHEE ME10% SRR FER D AR¥164,0007 ©
IARIE
BRx BB 16% (fiita)
Note: Biat -

(@ A 1% increase/decrease in the discount rate, holding all other variables
constant, would decrease/increase the carrying amount of the
contingent consideration by RMB252,000 and RMB257,000 respectively
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

(@) EZE2023F12A31BIFE » E£ATEEME
ERBETENBRT BRELFH TH1%
BEHRARNEREES B EINARE
252,0007T & AR #257,0007T °
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34. Fair Value Measurement and Fair Value 34. 2RI EAFEHERATHEHEDR
Hierarchy of Financial Instruments (Continued) (%)

Fair value hierarchy NHEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy TRELAASESHTANAFEIEER
of the Group’s financial instruments:

B FlEGTENEE

Assets measured at fair value:

Fair value measurement using

AFETEER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
SRS EXARE EBEATUHER
WE BARE BABE
(—4) (B=#) (B=#4) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T AR®TR AR®TR AR®T R
Bills receivables: FEWEE -
As at 31 December 2024 12024F12A431H - 98,592 - 98,592
As at 31 December 2023 72023128318 - 4,470 - 4,470
Liabilities measured at fair value: L FEFEMEE -
Fair value measurement using
AFHEFEFER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
SERTIS EXUEE EBEATUHE
WE [IPN- ¢ BWAZE
(B—4%) (B=%) (B=8) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®T T AR®T T AR®T
Contingent consideration at fair value BATER AER
through profit or loss HARE
As at 31 December 2024: R2024F12A4318 ¢ - - - -
As at 31 December 2023: 72023F 128318 : = = 22,078 22,078
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements REA - pemEERSRBEMNS « £—HHE
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 FoREBEATEFEER - RS A E

for both financial assets and financial liabilities.
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B EREE R R RBUR

35. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments include bank borrowings,
pledged deposits and bank balances and cash whose main purpose
is to raise finance for the Group's operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, trade and bills payables and financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals which arise directly from its operations.

The main financial risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk
The interest rates and terms of repayment of bank borrowings are
disclosed in note 23.

The Group had no material exposure to the risk of changes in the
market interest rates as the Group’s debt obligations with floating
interest rates were short term.

The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk exposure arising
from all of its interest-bearing borrowings through its long-term
bank borrowings at fixed rates. In addition, the Group has not used
any interest rate swaps to hedge against interest rate risk.

AEENTIESHTABRERITENR o ERE
PARRITREBERE - EEREERAEEE
L%%é% cAEEFRZRBEMEHEERA
& MESEERELNE FERFIAREWRE
& FEATENFUR - ARtRUIR R EMEER
EREE EHRNFAREBNRBARGAR
RN TR R FTIRNERAE -

$EliﬂIEF$mI B 755 R B 4 ) R

CHNERS EERBEABESER - £F
@@ﬂ&%mﬁﬁiuﬁﬁaﬁﬂavaﬁmﬁ
BT o

FEER
HRTTHE KA R K& SR HABR AP 5 E 234 58 -

BHRAKERT BN R EBEETBERET &
AEEY BEERERERTSMNEEE R R

AEEFZBEBEENENRARITEREEES
R R ERMELENRSIREN EE R %%'
S SE 3RO S Ch ik oy RS
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35. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group's purchases of products from the overseas suppliers are
conducted in US$. Most of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities
are denominated in RMB, except for certain items of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, other receivables, interest-bearing
bank borrowings and trade payables, that are denominated in S$,
US$ and HKS.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

35.

FF 7% SR 2% P

BMBEREERRREE(E)

SNEE B fix
AREBAETREIMEEREEER - AEEKR
BreMEERBBEUAREE  EETHRS
MESEEY BZRIGIE - HibEIERIA
STESRITIE R E 5 B FUAE B NS T -
ETLRBILEHE ©

R - AEELOVEHEN SR EERE
8 B EMT -

Assets Liabilities
BE =L

2024 2023 2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT AR¥T T AREETTT
HK$ BIT 897 2,355 907 1,743
us$ ETT 367,303 457,656 342,432 355,060
S$ AN T 2,204 3,679 = =

The Group does not enter into any hedging transactions to manage
the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies. Management
monitors the Group’s foreign currency exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure when the need arises.
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35. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 35. BiREKEEEERKE (&)

Policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 5.0% change
in RMB against US$, HK$ and S$. The 5.0% is the rate used when
reporting currency risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in the foreign currency rate. The sensitivity analysis of
the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of each
reporting period has been determined based on the adjustment of
translation of the monetary assets and liabilities at the end of each
reporting period for a 5.0% change in RMB against US$, HK$ and
S$, respectively, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit before tax for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
(due to changes in the fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables, interest-bearing bank borrowings and trade payables
denominated in US$, HK$ and S$):

2024 20244

If RMB weakens against US$ MARE R ETE

If RMB strengthens against US$ WARKE N ETHE

If RMB weakens against HK$ W AR B TRE

If RMB strengthens against HK$ M AR B THE

If RMB weakens against S$ M AR KR iz (E
If RMB strengthens against S$ it A R B8 S 3T hsg T HHE

SNEE B (48 )
TRIIRARE S ETT ~ 7B 7T K bk JobE &
BEEN5.0% HBRE ° 5.0% BAEREZEEA
EEREERKRATALRE  AEEEHINGE
REIBA] AL F B RRHE - AEBRSRELRH
A INE RS ETTEHRE AT - HBREBERE
HiBEREFTENBRT mARBRSET -
77T N T N T IE R E)5.0% 5 B AR & HE
HAREKEERARREBHAEEEZ2024
FR2023F 12 A31 B IEFEBRTADNG T2 2
BT (ARUAETT - B hFIETHENR S
FMIREEEY - EHEWFUE - sHERITIERK
Z S RENFRENAFEES )

Increase/
(decrease) in Increase/
USS$/HK$/CS$/S$ (decrease) in
rate % profit after tax
Ex B/
g Xt g BR# &% A
MELH(THE)% #im,/ (GRd)
RMB’000
AR®T T
(5) (2,501)
5 2501
(5) (4)
5 4
(5) (222)
5 222

2023 20234

If RMB weakens against US$ i AR H R E

If RMB strengthens against US$ fin AR H ST HE

If RMB weakens against HK$ M AR R BTEE

If RMB strengthens against HK$ i AR A& T HHE

If RMB weakens against S$ i A RS S 3T h3g e Bz (B
If RMB strengthens against S$ i AR S 3T bk T HHE

Increase/

(decrease) in
US$/HK$/C$/S$
rate %

xx/ B/

&Rt FnE
F=EEFA(TEE)%

Increase/
(decrease) in
profit after tax

B
#m,/ (AD)
RMB'000
ARETTE

(8,003)
8,003

(125)
125

(315)
315
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35. BHEBEEEEREEGE)

35. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group manages this risk by requiring payment in advance or
letters of credit from certain customers and offering standardised
credit terms to certain customers for a credit period ranging
from 0 to 180 days. As disclosed in note 17, the Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and senior
management regularly reviews the overdue balances.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure
to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly
based on past due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as
at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts

for financial assets.

FEERE
AEEBRERETEPIRANREIREERZE
RAETEFPREEEHN FOE180HMIRE
EEREEZER - WME17HRE - A5H
FSRETE 1 AR UG B ) FE U R IR 4 R BRAR AE S > B
=RERE T NEMBINELR -

AR O R F R H
TRETBREAEBEERREERRNEES
ZREHRABRBO - RIEEAMNTBZRARSE
NEAESEMER  TRAIEFZERNBHE
B UER12A3TENFERSHSE - 27)¢
BACHEEMBIRTDE -

Lifetime ECLs
FENREBEEEE
12-month
ECLs Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
128 A R
FEEE
F—RR ERR A Gk ap7s @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT AR%Tn AR¥Tz AR¥ETRT AR®TR
31 December 2024 2024F12 8318
Trade receivables* (Note 1) 2 S RYTEx (1) - - - 515,816 515,816
Financial assets included in FTABRIE - H it
prepayments, other receivables MR IB R M B R
and other assets** (Note 2) SREE(E2) 73,586 - - - 73,586
Pledged deposits BERER
- Not yet past due — (R AL ER 103,057 - - - 103,057
Bank balances and cash BITHEARRE
— Not yet past due — AR 308,320 - - - 308,320
484,963 - - 515,816 1,000,779
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35. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 35. BiREKEEEERKE (&)
Policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EER(E)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) RSO R F R DB (E)
Lifetime ECLs
FENEREEESE
12-month
ECLs Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
128 AFEH
FEERE
FRER EFRE E=FRER LD @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETr ARETE ARETT ARETR
31 December 2023 2023F12A31H
Trade receivables* (Note 1) B ZREYGRIE (HiFE1) = = = 549,596 549,596
Financial assets included in FTABREIE - Hit
prepayments, other receivables R IR R Bt B R
and other assets** (Note 2) SRBE*(fE2) 75,370 - - = 75,370
Pledged deposits [RERTIER A
— Not yet past due — AR 220,026 - - = 220,026
Bank balances and cash BITHERRRE
— Not yet past due — (A A 437,922 = = = 437,922
733,318 - - 549,596 1,282,914
Note 1 For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach Kiat1 SESEWZEME @ ANEB T BRI
in IFRS to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. As part of WEENMB R T EFERBREEEE
the Group's credit risk management, the Group used an internal HEEREE - (FEAREEEZERBRE BN —2F
credit rating by assigning an individual loss rate for its debtors with D REBRARNISEETIR - AEEAES
significant balances. Other than trade receivables with significant HEBADBERNEER - REEREHRNE
balances, the remaining balances are grouped collectively by using SIEBGRIEIN - AT ERERFEREREE
provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). BB (TEREEERE) N B EEEEE Y

HE
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35. Financial Risk Management Objectives and BREREEEERBEE)

Policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EERb (&)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) R E SR O N F AR B ()

Note 2 The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, K2 st ATEMFRIE - HiEKRE R EMEER
other receivables and other assets is considered to be “low risk” CREEWARDHASEENETZSESRE
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating ENEERBREVPHERARBEZ LR - A|H
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since EEEEZWRIEMERR] - B ZEE@mE
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is ENEEEXERAE1FRR] -

considered to be “doubtful”.

Financial assets AR
included in HE - Hity
prepayments, FEWRIE K
Internal other receivables HitgEM
credit rating  Description and other assets SHEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk  Lifetime ECL - not el RGHFENAR FEHEHE
of default and does not have credit-impaired R BEER  BEE-
any past-due amounts BHEHE =ERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after  Lifetime ECL - not BREE ERALEEDES T%Eﬁﬂ?ﬁﬁ,ﬁﬂ%’
due dates but usually settle in credit-impaired A&EE B@  BBE-
full FERELEE =€ ma
Doubtful There have been significant Lifetime ECL - not b3 FERNEIONE  FEHESE
increases in credit risk since credit-impaired EIRFHIER) EFE-
initial recognition through &k 8A =ERE
information developed BREEERR
internally or external resources BEEM
Loss There is evidence indicating the  Lifetime ECL - credit- &8 BEBERPEEY HFEHESHE
asset is credit-impaired impaired Ri=ERE EEE-=
BRE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that ~ Amount is written off b€t BERPEBA SEEME
the debtor is in severe financial BEREREHE T
difficulty and the Group has no R3E - MAKE
realistic prospect of recovery W EFR IR Bl
AlRE
Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit BRAAKEEREKS S5 RUHRENEER
risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 17 to the B — P E(LBIE F,&?é%i‘%ﬁ%%iﬂ?&
consolidated financial statements. B -
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35. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its exposure to a shortage of funds by
considering the maturity of both its financial liabilities and financial
assets and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank
borrowings and its own funding sources.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted

payments, is as follows:

R A% S A B

BBEBEEREREEGE)
REE SRR

AEEFZEEECHABEREREENDIH A
BRHEEMSREREEEESRRAR

AEENBEREBERFT SRITEFRARER

FESRREFESFHETEER TN FE -
AT RAEEE % SEREHIRER A KIAREA
BANREE ‘JHH\

2024
On Less than 1to 5

demand 12 months years Total

RER 2L128A Z54 et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMTRT AR%®TR AR¥®TR AR¥Tx

Bank borrowings RITER - 357,900 52 357,952

Lease liabilities HEBE - 5,670 4,810 10,480

Trade and bills payables B RENFIERENEE - 887,968 - 887,968
Financial liabilities included in SHAE At JE AT R IA K2

other payables and accruals EErENSmBE 46,434 - - 46,434

46,434 1,251,538 4,862 1,302,834

2023
On Less than 1t05

demand 12 months years Total

wmeEsRk DPM2EA 1E54 et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT

Bank borrowings RITER - 245,224 934 246,158

Lease liabilities HEBE - 4,154 6,397 10,551

Trade and bills payables B Z N FRIE R ERN E5E = 866,585 = 866,585
Financial liabilities included in ST AEL AL BT FRIE K

other payables and accruals EEtREN SR A s 45,583 - - 45,583
Contingent consideration at fair & A {EFH AIBZEH

value through profit or loss HARE - - 27,000 27,000

45,583 1,115,963 34,331 1,195,877
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BMBEREERRREE(E)

35. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders or raise new capital from its investors. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing financial
risk during the year.

The Group is currently funding its capital expenditure through
internal generated funds from its operations and proceeds from the
new bank and other borrowings. The Group monitors capital using a
gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by equity plus net debt. Net
debt includes contingent consideration at fair value through profit
or loss, bank borrowings, trade and bills payables, other payables
and accruals, tax payables and lease liabilities, less bank balances
and cash and pledged deposits. Equity includes equity attributable
to the owners of the Company. The gearing ratios at the end of the
reporting periods were as follows:
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35. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 35. BiREKEEEERKE (&)
Policies (Continued)

Capital management (Continued) BEREE(E)
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARKETFTT
Bank borrowings RITIETK 340,907 241,743
Trade and bills payables B SN FIERENRE 887,968 866,585
Other payables and accruals H e /08 R ERT 518 49,368 53,862
Tax payables FEREIE 20,589 26,444
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss ~ IRA A ABHNE R E & = 22,078
Lease liabilities HEAE 9,630 9,658
Less: Bank balances and cash o RITRERKRIE S (308,320) (437,922)
Pledged deposits [RERiEE (103,057) (220,026)
Net debt BEFRE 897,085 562,422
Equity Gy 662,879 628,052
Equity and net debt EmRAEFE 1,559,964 1,190,474
Gearing ratio aE = 58% 47%
36. Dividends 36. RS
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend RIBEHKRE - A ARBEEEZET2024F12
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 of HK0.20 cents A318 IFFE R R B8 M T EAT0.205 0
(2023: final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December (20234 : H{ZE2023F 12 A318 L FEEH K EA
2023 of HK0.39 cents) per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount i%5.0.39%1l) - #8%849/44,000,0007% 7T (2023
of approximately HK$4,000,000 (2023: HK$8,000,000), has been 4 : 8,000,000870) © ALBREREEREAS
proposed by the directors of the Company and is subject to approval FHOEFAIER o RHIAR B R ENARIRE B HiEE
by the shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting. The final 1T1ESIM2,032,890,5850% B B TAR D ETE -

dividend has been calculated by reference to the 2,032,890,585
issued shares outstanding as at the date of this report.
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37. Statement of Financial Position of the Company
Information about the statement of financial position of the

37. XRBAMBRREK

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSET
Investment in a subsidiary

Total non-current asset

CURRENT ASSETS

Other receivables

Amounts due from subsidiaries
Bank balances and cash

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITY
Amount due to a subsidiary

Total current liability

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

Net assets

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves (hote)

Total equity

BRARRRBE PBROFBARAREROT

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBFIT
FREBEE
R—REMHBARMNEE 107,056 107,056
ERBEERE 107,056 107,056
REEE
Hith U FRIE - 36
JE L Ff /B8 A &) FRIE 111,823 120,889
RITER KA ® 1,345 9,516
REEELE 113,168 130,441
REBEE
JE A~ — R BfT BB A &) R 11,531 13,890
REEEHARE 11,531 13,890
REEEFE 101,637 116,551
HEERABAR 208,693 223,607
EEFE 208,693 223,607
%
B EITIRA 164 164
A D) 208,529 223,443
S 208,693 223,607
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37. Statement of Financial Position of the Company 37.

38.

39.

(Continued)
Note:

The movements in the Company’s reserves are as follows:

At 31 December 2022 and

M2022F12A318 R

1 January 2023 2023F1A1H
Dividends recognised as distribution R D KA S
Profit and total comprehensive FREF R

income for the year 2HEWEERE

At 31 December 2023 20234128318

At 31 December 2023 and 7R2023F12A31H KR

1 January 2024 2024F1A1H
Dividends recognised as distribution R R KA S
Loss and total comprehensive FAEER

expense for the year 2EMAS 45

At 31 December 2024 R2024512 8318

e RR M

AR BT R (E)

RRAFIEEEEHIAT :
Share

premium Accumulated
account losses Total
IRAD S E AR RiTEE st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT ARETT
526,133 (291,004) 235,129
- (18,112) (18,112)
- 6,426 6,426
526,133 (302,690) 223,443
526,133 (302,690) 223,443
= (7,218) (7,218)
= (7,696) (7,696)
526,133 (317,604) 208,529

Approval of the Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025.

Retirement Benefits Schemes

The Group mainly participates in the mandatory pension fund and
social insurance schemes for its employees in the PRC, Singapore
and Hong Kong.

The Group operates a MPF scheme for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of trustees.

The employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are members of the
state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated by the PRC
government. The employees of the Group’s Singapore subsidiaries
are members of the Central Provident Fund Board in Singapore
operated by the Government of Singapore. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to
the retirement benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligations of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits
schemes is to make the required contributions under the schemes.

38

39.

. HEERT IR R

RAMEHRREN2025F3 A28 EE S St E
MISHETE -

BIRERNETE
AEMEBRANTE  FIEREENEES
MR BRI S Rt B RBEHE -

AEERBEMARERERETRAZRE
AEIMEERSEAMENNES BASEEE
DFRA °

AEENTEHREARER D AT ERAZE
MR ERRINEN B E - NEBAFI
P 2 B E B 5 2% i ¥ IR U 2 & RO FT N3
FRAEEBOKE - ZEHBARARKREESR
A T B 2 PR FRRER B -
URERBRINRERES - BLaRREF5 8l
5 ARENE-SERREZEEIELRE
AR o
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Definitions

" affiliate”

BB AL

"AGM"
[RRBEFAE ]

“Articles” or “Articles of Association”
[4BA [ 4B =240 A |

“Beijing Nuokangda”
[ ReERGE]

“Board”

=

“Cayman Islands Companies Law”

[FERSRANE]

"CG Code”
[BREASTAI

“Chairman”

=S

“China” or “the PRC”
[

"Company"” or “our Company" or
“the Company”
VNI

“Demei Company”
[fExn7 ]

“Director(s)"”

==

[ noou

"Group”, “our Group”, “the Group”,

" "nou

we”, “us”, or “our”

[ARSE ] - [P Ikl FAe )

any other person, directly or indirectly, controlling or controlled by or under direct
or indirect common control with such specified person
BESREEGIETE A TS X H B Mt s B8 A T B R HE
22 1| B CE AT EL A A =

annual general meeting of the Company

AARBIRBEFAE

the articles of association of the Company (as amended from time to time),
conditionally adopted on 1 February 2016
RRAR201652 A1 B A GRMERAEABZZIZ A A (K REHERT)

Beijing Nuokangda Pharmaceutical Technology Co., Ltd. (b G FE B BRI KL
A ABBR/AR]), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC
I RHEREBERBEROBERAR - BEPEVEEFMKZ AR

the board of Directors

=g

the Companies Law (2013 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961), as amended or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
FEREZEPNFE22T (1961 F E350EN) R RDE(2013FEETM) - K AKEET
S TR B UA B AR T e 2R

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules,
as amended and supplemented from time to time, where references to code
provisions in this annual report refer to provisions in the CG Code that came
effect on 1 January 2022

AR RIBT SR T O P A Y 1 S B ST R (S NRHERT R 7e ) - MAFE S 8
PR RIRAUFER 202261 A1 B AR EE AT AIEX

the chairman of the Board

BEFETR

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this report, Hong
Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan
hEARAME - AREFRTIRERE  RFISITHRERSE

Sinco Pharmaceuticals Holdings Limited (B} 88 B4 i A R A 7)), an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 16 March 2015
ERIABEITIRAR AR B2015F38 16 HERASHESTMRINEREER

NG|

Deyang Demei Medical Beauty Hospital Limited Company* ({Bf5{EcE xR E
BEEBR /A A]), a limited liability company incorporated in the PRC
ESEEBEEABRARAR  RPBEEMKZNBEREEAR]

the director(s) of the Company
KAREE

our Company and our subsidiaries and, in respect of the period before we became
the holding company of our present subsidiaries, the businesses operated by such
subsidiaries or their predecessors (as the case may be)
RRA T RFRATHIPTE R FA R (SRR PR RRE B A R ZZR D R ATE B M
= )AEREANT B R RIS EL AT & (R IE S E ) & L BT
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Definitions &%

"HKS"
(77t

"HKSE"
[ B AR

“Hong Kong”
(&% ]

“Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar”

[EEBHFERIR]

“human albumin solution”

[AMBERESR]

“Institute of Chinese Medical Sciences”

[ o B e 8 72 |

“Listing Rules”

[ =R Al
“Main Board”
E
“MPCM"

[&8H - HELCREEIE]

“Mr. Huang”
[ERE]

“Octapharma”

[R5 FEE35

"PRC”
[hE

"“Prospectus”

[ E ]

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT BEAEER

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BRME XSG ER AR

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
HEFEBSRITTHE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

ERRRABSFERLABRAR

Octapharma’s human albumin solution 20% (containing 200 grammes of total
protein per litre) and human albumin solution 25% (containing 250 grammes of
total protein per litre). The term human albumin solution refers to both products
or either one of them as the context requires

BRBRBEEN20% AMAERIFR(BAE#EH2005%) %25% AMA
EISR(BAEHRER250%) - AMBEAISHRA TMBEMKEF —1&
(RFxXE)

the Institute of Chinese Materia Medica, China Academy of Chinese Medical
Sciences

o B A B8 R SRR i BT ST AT

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the HKSE, as amended or
supplemented from time to time
EEBRAES LR B RHERT SR

Main Board of the HKSE
BB FTER

marketing, promotion and channel management for the sale and promotion of
pharmaceutical products for pharmaceutical manufacturers
RBELENHE MEHERETHEE  HEREERE

Mr. Huang Xiangbin (&#£#2), the Chairman, Executive Director and one of our
controlling shareholders

EEWEE - E£fE - PITESRIERERR 2 —

Octapharma AG, a corporation limited by shares incorporated in the Swiss
Confederation

Octapharma AG * IRInE A I AR D B R A A

the People’s Republic of China
HEE A RHEME

the prospectus issued by the Company dated 29 February 2016
ARAIR20165F2 A298 FIEHBAE
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Definitions &%

“Reporting Period”
[#REH

“Risun”
[Risun ]

"RMB”
AR

“SEQ"

[ 785 M & {5 p |

“Share(s)"”
[ R f7 ]

“Share Option Scheme”

[BERHERT 3

“Shareholder(s)”
[ AR

“U.S. dollars” or “US$"

the financial year ended 31 December 2024
BE2024512 A31H LM BFE

Risun Investments Limited, a limited company incorporated in BVI on 16 January
2015, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Mr. Huang

Risun Investments Limited * 7201541 A 16 B £ B4R R B S AR
AR EEAEZEERONB AR

Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of China

ARKETT  hBEVEEES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended or supplemented from time to time
BEBEGFESNERS RAEED - SRS ST

ordinary share(s) in the capital of the Company with nominal value of HK$0.0001
each
AR RPRARFZIEE0.000178 LAY @K

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by our Company on 1 February
2016, the principal terms of which are summarised in “Statutory and General
Information — D. Other Information — 1 Share Option Scheme” in Appendix VII to
the Prospectus

RAFR2016F2 A1 BB R RNHEIE 8] - H = 2R B AR E
BEDEER—RER —D A &R — 1 EEAERT &l ]

holder(s) of Shares
SSRESTSDN

U.S. dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America

E XL ENBRERBEEEY

i a

In this annual report, the terms “associate”, “close associate”, “connected
person”, “connected transaction”, “controlling shareholder”, “core
connected person”, “subsidiary” and “substantial shareholder” shall
have the meanings given thereto in the Listing Rules, unless the context

otherwise requires.

The English translation of the PRC entities, enterprises, nationals, facilities,
regulations in Chinese are translations of the Chinese names. To the
extent there is any inconsistency between the Chinese names of the PRC
entities, enterprises, nationals, facilities, requlations and their English
translations, the Chinese names shall prevail.
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SINCO

Pharmaceutical
M=

www.sinco-pharm.com
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